# 

by

#### Huan Xu

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of
Auburn University
in partial fulfillment of the
requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy

Auburn, Alabama August 7, 2021

Keywords: Navier-Stokes equations, Maximal  $L^1$  regularity, Elliptic equations of divergence form, Heat kernels

Copyright 2021 by Huan Xu

Approved by

Yongsheng Han, Chair, Professor of Mathematics and Statistics Narendra Govil, Professor Emeritus of Mathematics and Statistics Wenxian Shen, Professor of Mathematics and Statistics Dmitry Glotov, Associate Professor of Mathematics and Statistics

#### **Abstract**

This dissertation is devoted to the maximal  $L^1$ -in-time regularity for a class of linear parabolic systems with variable coefficients. This theory can be applied to investigate the global-in-time well-posedness and stability issues for density-dependent viscous fluids, even if the initial fluctuation of the density is large. The results in Chapter 3 and most of the results in Chapter 4 have been addressed in the author's papers [56] and [57], respectively.

The main result in Chapter 3 concerns the maximal  $L^1$  regularity and asymptotic behavior for solutions to the inhomogeneous incompressible Navier-Stokes equations under a scaling-invariant smallness assumption on the initial velocity. We obtain a new global  $L^1$ -in-time estimate for the Lipschitz seminorm of the velocity field without any smallness assumption on the fluctuation of the initial density. In the derivation of this estimate, we study the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for a linear Stokes system with variable coefficients. The analysis tools are a use of the semigroup generated by a generalized Stokes operator to characterize some Besov norms and a new gradient estimate for a class of second-order elliptic equations of divergence form.

In Chapter 4, we generalize the concrete maximal  $L^1$  regularity result obtained in Chapter 3 and establish an abstract one for a class of Cauchy problems associated with composite operators. Then we apply this abstract theory to study maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the Lamé system with rough variable coefficients. To lower the regularity of the coefficients, we work in the  $L^p$  (in space) framework. For this, we use a classical method to establish Gaussian bounds of the fundamental matrix of a generalized parabolic Lamé system with only bounded and measurable coefficients. As applications, we use a Lagrangian approach to study the global-in-time well-posedness of systems of compressible flows.

#### Acknowledgments

I would first like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Yongsheng Han, for recommending me to study at Auburn University, and for his tremendous help before and after I came to Auburn.

I am also indebted to my former advisor in China, Yongsheng Li, for his constant help and support. I learned and benefited a lot by giving many talks in various seminars he hosted.

I would like to thank my dissertation committee members Narendra Govil, Dmitry Glotov and Wenxian Shen, for their time and support. My special thanks go to Dr. Govil for his kindness and patience, and for sharing with me many well-known as well as little-known motivational stories of Ramanujan.

I want to thank all my friends in the academic community. I thank my friend and collaborator, Xiaoping Zhai, for his caring about my life and many stimulus discussions in mathematics. I would particularly like to single out my friend and classmate, Yang Long, whose unfailing enthusiasm and enlightening conversation have inspired me continuously. I am deeply impressed by his wisdom, knowledge and humility.

I am also very grateful to Mr. and Mrs. Tom Williams for treating me like family. Their constant help and support made my life in Auburn happy and enjoyable.

Finally, I want to dedicate this dissertation to my wife, Lifang Ivy Xu, and my parents. I could not have completed this dissertation without their understanding, help and support. Ivy's support, encouragement and constant love have sustained me throughout my years of graduate study at Auburn University.

# Contents

Al	ostrac			ii				
Ασ	cknow	ledgments		iii				
1	Intro	duction		1				
	1.1	Background and motivation		1				
	1.2	Notations		5				
2	Preli	minaries		7				
	2.1	Semigroups and abstract Cauchy problem		7				
	2.2	Elliptic operators of divergence form		9				
	2.3	Homogeneous Besov spaces		11				
		2.3.1 Definition and basic properties		11				
		2.3.2 Characterizations of homogeneous Besov norms		14				
	2.4	Coordinate transformations		17				
		2.4.1 From Eulerian to Lagrangian coordinates		17				
		2.4.2 From Lagrangian to Eulerian coordinates		20				
3	Incompressible Viscous Fluids							
	3.1	Main results and strategy of the proof		23				
	3.2	Maximal $L^1$ regularity for Stokes system						
		3.2.1 Stokes operator		32				
		3.2.2 Characterizations of Besov norms via semigroup $e^{tS}$		34				

		3.2.3	Elliptic estimates						40	
		3.2.4	Proof of Theorem 3.12						47	
	3.3	Well-p	osedness of (1.2)						49	
	3.4	Long-t	me asymptotics						55	
4	Compressible Flows								59	
	4.1	Introdu	ction						59	
	4.2	Bound	of fundamental matrix						61	
	4.3	An abs	cract $L^1$ theory						70	
	4.4	Concre	te examples						79	
	4.5	An app	lication to pressureless flows						83	
	4.6	An app	lication to heat-conductive compressible	le Nav	ier–Sto	okes .			88	
Bibliography										

## Chapter 1

#### Introduction

## 1.1 Background and motivation

This dissertation is motivated by the study of the global well-posedness of the Cauchy problem for a class of hyperbolic-parabolic coupled systems modeling the motion of fluids. Probably the most famous example is the system of Navier-Stokes equations (see [43, 44]). In a fluid flow, the law of conservation of mass can be formulated mathematically using the continuity equation, given in differential form as

$$\partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0$$
, in  $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

where  $\rho$  is the density (mass per unit volume) and u is the flow velocity field. The law of conservation applied to momentum gives the momentum equation of the form

$$\rho(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u) - \mathcal{A}u + \nabla P = 0, \text{ in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{1.1}$$

where P is a scalar pressure and  $\mathcal{A}$  is a dissipative operator. The fluid flow can be either incompressible or compressible. For example, the system modeling the motion of incompressible

flows of mixing fluids with different densities reads

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + u \cdot \nabla \rho = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \rho(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u) - \Delta u + \nabla P = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \text{div } u = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ (\rho, u)|_{t=0} = (\rho_0, u_0), & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

In the above system, we assume that the viscosity coefficient of the fluid is a constant normalized as 1. In the compressible case, we will consider two different systems. The first one is a system of pressureless flows, in which the pressure term in (1.1) is absent:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \rho(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u) - \mathcal{A}u = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ (\rho, u)|_{t=0} = (\rho_0, u_0), & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

$$(1.3)$$

Note that (1.3) with  $A = \Delta$  can be viewed as a viscous regularization for the model of inviscid pressureless gases. The second one is the system of compressible Navier-Stokes equations for an ideal gas (see Section 4.6).

Throughout this dissertation, the initial density is always assumed to be bounded and bounded from below, namely,

$$m \le \rho_0(x) \le \frac{1}{m}, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$
 (1.4)

for some constant  $m \in (0, 1]$ .

Let us review some known results for the existence and uniqueness of solutions to (1.2). Global weak solutions with finite energy were first obtained by Kazhikhov [40] under the assumption that the initial density  $\rho_0$  has a positive infimum. Several improvements can be found in [29,43,53]. The main estimate for weak solutions is the energy inequality

$$\|\sqrt{\rho}u(t)\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\int_0^t \|\nabla u(\tau)\|_{L^2}^2 d\tau \le \|\sqrt{\rho_0}u_0\|_{L^2}^2.$$

This estimate is far from enough to prove the uniqueness of weak solutions in 3-D. Ladyzhenskaya and Solonnikov [41] initiated the studies for unique solvability of (1.2) in a bounded domain with homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition for u. In the last two decades, a large amount of work was devoted to the well-posedness of (1.2) under minimum regularity assumptions on the data. Firstly, Danchin [16] constructed a unique strong solution to (1.2) in the critical space  $(L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)\cap \dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3))\times \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  in the case when the initial density is close to a constant. Later, many authors tried to improve Danchin's result to allow different Lebesgue indices of the critical spaces, or to remove the smallness assumption on the initial density (see [1–4, 12, 20, 58]). Secondly, it is interesting to lower the regularity of the density to allow discontinuity. A well-posedness result with only bounded density would demonstrate that the motion of a mixture of two incompressible fluids with different densities can be modeled by (1.2). One can see [13,21,37,48] for the work towards this direction. Now one might ask whether a small initial velocity in some critical space and a discontinuous bounded initial density can generate a unique global-in-time solution to (1.2). To our knowledge, this question is not settled. Nevertheless, in his recent paper [59], Zhang established a global existence result in which  $\rho_0$  merely satisfies (1.4) and  $\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}$  is small, yet the uniqueness is not known unless the initial velocity is more regular. Finally, we remark that our results will be based on the assumption (1.4). In case one is interested in the case when vacuum state is allowed, we refer to a recent paper [23] and the references therein.

The system of the form (1.3) has been studied by several authors. When n=1 and  $\mathcal{A}=\Delta$ , Boudin [10] proved the existence of a global smooth solution to (1.3). Perepelitsa [50] considered (1.3) as a simplified model of compressible isentropic Navier-Stokes equations and he proved the global existence of a small energy weak solution with the density being a nonnegative bounded function throughout the half-space  $\mathbb{R}^3_+$ . Recently, Danchin et al. [24] formally derived the system (1.3), with  $\mathcal{A}$  being the Laplacian or the Lamé operator, as a model of some collective behavior phenomena. They also proved the existence and uniqueness of a global solution with the initial density being only bounded and close to a constant in  $L^{\infty}$ -norm.

In this dissertation, we are particularly interested in solving (1.2) and (1.3) using the Lagrangian method (see [17,20]). The advantage is that one can convert the hyperbolic-parabolic

coupled system into a parabolic system. Then the uniqueness and stability issues can be tackled in a relatively easy way compared to solving the system in Eulerian coordinates. In fact, one can prove the existence of solutions to the Lagrangian formulation by applying the contraction mapping theorem based on the maximal  $L^1$ -in-time regularity for the linear system.

In this framework, the heart of the matter is to get the estimate

$$\int_0^\infty \|\nabla u(t)\|_\infty \, dt \ll 1 \tag{1.5}$$

under a critical smallness condition on the initial velocity  $u_0$ , because this would imply the existence of a global-in-time coordinate transformation. Such an estimate is true if the initial density is close enough to a constant (see [19, 20]). To our knowledge, if the fluctuation of the density is not small, there is not much evidence in the literature that supports the validity of (1.5). For example, for (1.2) with n=3, it was proved in [13, 48] that the quantity  $\int_0^T \|\nabla u(t)\|_{\infty} dt$  has a polynomial growth in time provided that the initial velocity  $u_0$  belongs to some Sobolev space  $H^s(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with  $s>\frac12$ , and that  $u_0$  satisfies a scaling-invariant smallness condition. However, such growth could possibly be removed from the point of view of equivalent characterizations of norms. To see this, we suppose that u is the solution to the classical heat equation  $\partial_t u - \Delta u = 0$  with initial value  $u_0$ . Then the estimate (1.5) dictates the smallest norm to be used to measure the smallness of the initial data because of the equivalence of norms

$$\int_0^\infty \|\nabla u(t)\|_\infty dt \simeq \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{\infty,1}^{-1}}.$$

The above equivalent characterization is classical and can be proved, for example, by applying [9, Lemma 2.4] and Lemma 2.13. In general, the space  $\dot{B}_{\infty,1}^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is too rough in order for the nonlinear system (1.2) (or (1.3)) to be well-posed in it. Then we have to replace it with smaller spaces  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 \le p < \infty$ , so that there is still hope for (1.5) to be true.

It is worth noting that the scaling invariance of (1.2) and (1.3) also suggests the use of the  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}$ -norms for the velocity. Let us take (1.2) for example. For any  $\lambda > 0$ , it is easy to see

that (1.2) is invariant under the scaling

$$(\rho, u, P)(t, x) \leadsto (\rho_{\lambda}, u_{\lambda}, P_{\lambda})(t, x) := (\rho, \lambda u, \lambda^{2} P)(\lambda^{2} t, \lambda x).$$

So the smallness condition on  $u_0$  makes sense if it is measured by a norm which is invariant under the scaling  $u_0(\cdot) \leadsto \lambda u_0(\lambda \cdot)$ . And we do have  $\|\lambda u_0(\lambda \cdot)\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \simeq \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}}$ . Nowadays, the spaces  $\dot{B}^{n/q}_{q,1}(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are called *critical spaces* for (1.2).

Without going into details, we are led to consider the linearized system of the Lagrangian formulation of (1.2) (or, (1.3)) that reads

$$\rho(x)\partial_t u - \mathcal{A}u = f. \tag{1.6}$$

Note that the coefficient  $\rho$  is now a time-independent function. In the incompressible case, the operator  $\mathcal{A}$  in (3.7) is the so-called Stokes operator (see Chapter 3). But  $\mathcal{A}$  is just what it used to be in the compressible case. Now the main task of this dissertation is to derive the estimate (1.5) for solutions u to (1.6) without requiring the fluctuation of the coefficient  $\rho(x)$  to be small. To achieve this, we shall study the maximal  $L^1$ -in-time regularity for solutions to (1.6) in homogeneous type spaces.

In Chapter 2, we recall some necessary preliminaries. We deal with the incompressible system (1.2) in Chapter 3 and compressible pressureless system (1.3) in Chapter 4. Shortly after we completed the first draft of this dissertation, we realized that our method could also be applied to the global well-posedness of the heat-conductive compressible Navier-Stokes equations. We hence include Section 4.6.

#### 1.2 Notations

Throughout this dissertation, the letter C denotes a harmless positive constant that may change from line to line, but whose meaning is clear from the context. The notation  $a \lesssim b$  means  $a \leq Cb$  for some C, and  $a \simeq b$  means  $a \lesssim b$  and  $b \lesssim a$ . For two quantities a, b, we denote by  $a \vee b$  the bigger quantity and by  $a \wedge b$  the smaller one. For  $p \in [1, \infty]$ , the conjugate index

p' is determined by  $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$ . We denote by  $\|\cdot\|_p$  the Lebesgue  $L^p$ -norm. For a matrix A,  $A^{\mathsf{T}}$  denotes its transpose. For a vector field v = v(x),  $\nabla v$  denotes the matrix  $(\partial_{x_i} v_j)$  and  $Dv = (\nabla v)^{\mathsf{T}}$ .

Let  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  be a Banach space.  $\mathscr{L}(X)$  denotes the space of all continuous linear operators on X and  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathscr{L}(X)}$  denotes the operator norm. For  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , we may write  $\|\cdot\|_{L^q(X)}$  for the norm of the space  $L^q((0,t);X)$ , and  $\|\cdot\|_{L^q(X)}$  for the norm of  $L^q(\mathbb{R}_+;X)$ , where  $\mathbb{R}_+=(0,\infty)$ . We denote operators on Banach spaces by "mathcal" letters (e.g.,  $\mathcal{A}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}$ ,  $\mathcal{S}$ , etc.). For an operator  $\mathcal{A}$ ,  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  and  $\mathcal{R}(\mathcal{A})$  denote the domain and range of  $\mathcal{A}$ , respectively.

### Chapter 2

#### **Preliminaries**

# 2.1 Semigroups and abstract Cauchy problem

Let  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  be a real Banach space. We adopt the concept that a  $C_0$  semigroup  $\{\mathcal{T}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  on X is called a bounded  $C_0$  semigroup if  $\|\mathcal{T}(t)\|_{\mathcal{L}(X)} \leq C < \infty$  for all  $t \geq 0$ , while it is called a contraction semigroup if C = 1.

**Definition 2.1.**  $\{\mathcal{T}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is called a bounded analytic semigroup on X if it is a bounded  $C_0$  semigroup with generator A such that  $\mathcal{T}(t)x \in D(A)$  for all  $x \in X$  and t > 0, and

$$\sup_{t>0} ||t\mathcal{A}\mathcal{T}(t)x|| \le C||x||, \quad \forall x \in X.$$
(2.1)

**Remark 2.2.** In applications, one only needs to show (2.1) for x belonging to a dense subspace of X since A is closed.

**Remark 2.3.** In fact, (2.1) is also a real characterization of complex analyticity, see, for example, [32, Theorem 4.6], or [6, Theorem 3.7.19].

Let  $(H,\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle)$  be a real Hilbert space. A linear operator  $\mathcal{A}:D(\mathcal{A})\subset H\to H$  is called dissipative on H if

$$\langle \mathcal{A}x, x \rangle \le 0, \ \forall x \in D(\mathcal{A}).$$

We have the following well-known result:

**Theorem 2.4.** Let A be a self-adjoint operator on H. Then A generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{tA}\}_{t\geq 0}$  if and only if A is dissipative. Moreover,  $e^{tA}$  is self-adjoint on H for every  $t\geq 0$ .

For the complex version of Theorem 2.4, we refer to [6, Example 3.7.5] and [6, Corollary 3.3.9].

In applications, we will first apply Theorem 2.4 to construct a semigroup on  $L^2$ , and then extrapolate it to some other function spaces. However, it is usually not easy to identify the generator of the new semigroup. In this situation, we wish to identify the generator restricted on a dense subspace of its domain. Recall that a subspace Y of the domain D(A) of a linear operator  $A:D(A)\subset X\to X$  is called a core for A if Y is dense in D(A) for the graph norm  $\|x\|_{D(A)}:=\|x\|+\|Ax\|$ . In other words, Y is a core for A if and only if A is the closure of  $A|_Y$ . The next result gives a useful sufficient condition for a subspace to be a core for the generator.

**Lemma 2.5** (see [32, p. 53]). Let A be the infinitesimal generator of a  $C_0$  semigroup  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  on X. If  $Y \subset D(A)$  is a dense subspace of X and invariant under  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  (i.e.,  $\mathcal{T}(t)Y \subset Y$ ), then Y is a core for A.

Next, we recall shortly how to use semigroups to solve abstract Cauchy problems. Suppose that  $\mathcal{A}$  is the infinitesimal generator of a  $C_0$  semigroup  $e^{t\mathcal{A}}$  on a Banach space  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ . We are concerned with the well-posedness of the inhomogeneous abstract Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) - \mathcal{A}u(t) = f(t), & 0 < t \le T, \\ u(0) = x. \end{cases}$$
 (2.2)

We assume that  $x \in X$  and the inhomogeneous term f only belongs to  $L^1((0,T);X)$ . Then (2.2) always has a unique *mild solution*  $u \in C([0,T];X)$  given by the formula

$$u(t) = e^{tA}x + \int_0^t e^{(t-\tau)A} f(\tau) d\tau.$$

A continuous function u is called a *strong solution* if  $u \in W^{1,1}((0,T);X) \cap L^1((0,T);D(\mathcal{A}))$  satisfies (2.2) for a.e.  $t \in (0,T)$ . A strong solution is also a mild solution. Conversely, a mild solution with suitable regularity becomes a strong one.

**Lemma 2.6** (see [49, Theorem 2.9]). Let  $u \in C([0,T];X)$  be a mild solution to (2.2). If  $u \in W^{1,1}((0,T),X)$ , or  $u \in L^1((0,T),D(A))$ , then u is a strong solution.

### 2.2 Elliptic operators of divergence form

In this section, we recall some known results concerning elliptic equations of divergence form, heat kernels and Riesz transforms. Let  $\mathcal{E}$  be the second order elliptic operator of divergence form formally defined by

$$\mathcal{E} = -\operatorname{div}(A\nabla),\tag{2.3}$$

where A=A(x) is a real symmetric  $n\times n$  matrix satisfying

$$mI_n \le A(x) \le \frac{1}{m}I_n, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

for some constant  $m \in (0, 1]$ .

Let  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be the space of all distributions u such that  $\nabla u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , equipped with the inner product  $\int \nabla u \cdot \nabla v \, dx$ . We adopt the convention that two functions in  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  are identical if their difference is a constant. For any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)$ , as a consequence of the Lax-Milgram theorem, the elliptic equation

$$\mathcal{E}P = -\operatorname{div}f\tag{2.4}$$

has a unique weak solution  $P \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  satisfying  $\|\nabla P\|_2 \leq \frac{1}{m} \|f\|_2$ .

Let  $D(\mathcal{E})=\{u\in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)|\mathcal{E}u\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)\}$ . Then  $-\mathcal{E}:D(\mathcal{E})\subset L^2\to L^2$  is a dissipative self-adjoint operator that generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{-t\mathcal{E}}\}_{t\geq 0}$ . The

maximal accretive square root of  $\mathcal{E}$  is given by the formula

$$\mathcal{E}^{1/2}u = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^\infty e^{-t^2 \mathcal{E}} \mathcal{E} u \, dt, \ u \in D(\mathcal{E}).$$

The above integral converges normally in  $L^2$  since  $\|e^{-t^2\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{E}u\|_2 \leq \|\mathcal{E}u\|_2 \wedge t^{-2}\|u\|_2$ . The domain  $D(\mathcal{E}^{1/2})$  of  $\mathcal{E}^{1/2}$  coincides with  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  and it holds that

$$m^{1/2} \|\nabla u\|_2 \le \|\mathcal{E}^{1/2} u\|_2 \le m^{-1/2} \|\nabla u\|_2, \ \forall u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

Indeed,  $\mathcal{E}^{1/2}$  extends to a continuous operator from  $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  with a continuous inverse, denoted by  $\mathcal{E}^{-1/2}$  for notational simplicity. Let  $\mathcal{R} = \nabla \mathcal{E}^{-1/2}$  be the Riesz transform associated with  $\mathcal{E}$ . Then  $\mathcal{R}$  is bounded from  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{R}^*$  the adjoint of  $\mathcal{R}$ . Now for any  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$ , one can write the gradient of the solution to (3.19) as  $\nabla P = \mathcal{R}\mathcal{R}^*f$ . We refer the reader to the monograph [8] for more details in this paragraph<sup>1</sup>.

The  $L^p$  theory of the square root problem for  $\mathcal E$  is based on the famous Aronson-Nash estimates for the kernel of  $e^{-t\mathcal E}$ .

**Lemma 2.7** (see, e.g., [7]). The semigroup  $e^{-t\mathcal{E}}$  acting on  $L^2$  has a kernel  $K_t(x,y)$  satisfying the Gaussian property. Precisely, there exist constants  $\mu \in (0,1]$  and C>0 depending only on m and n such that for all t>0 and  $x,y\in\mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le Ct^{-n/2} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{Ct}\right\},\,$$

and if in addition  $2|h| \leq \sqrt{t} + |x - y|$ ,

$$|K_t(x+h,y) - K_t(x,y)| + |K_t(x,y+h) - K_t(x,y)|$$
  
 $\leq Ct^{-n/2} \left(\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{t} + |x-y|}\right)^{\mu} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{Ct}\right\}.$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The results stated here are much less general than those in [8], where the authors dealt with complex elliptic operators.

Thanks to this property,  $e^{-t\mathcal{E}}$  extrapolates to a bounded analytic semigroup on  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  for every  $p \in (1, \infty)$  (see [47] and the references therein). We denote this semigroup by  $e^{-t\mathcal{E}_p}$  and its generator by  $-\mathcal{E}_p$ . Then the square root  $\mathcal{E}_p^{1/2}$  of  $\mathcal{E}_p$  on  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is also well-defined. The following result can be found in [8, pp. 131-132].

**Lemma 2.8.**  $\mathcal{E}^{1/2}$  extends to a continuous operator from  $\dot{W}^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $1 , which has a continuous inverse for <math>1 for some <math>\varepsilon > 0$ . Moreover, the extension of  $\mathcal{E}^{1/2}$  on  $W^{1,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  coincides with  $\mathcal{E}^{1/2}_p$  for 1 .

From now on, we do not distinguish between an operator and its continuous extension, and drop the p's for all operators associated with  $\mathcal{E}_p$ . The above lemma implies that the Riesz transform  $\mathcal{R}$  is bounded from  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$  for  $1 , and its adjoint <math>\mathcal{R}^*$  is bounded from  $L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$  to  $L^{p'}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Moreover, all the bounds (i.e., operator norms) only depend on m, n and p.

### 2.3 Homogeneous Besov spaces

We collect some homogeneous Besov spaces relevant preliminaries. While there is a vast amount of literature on this topic, we will mainly refer to the book [9] because it focuses on applications of Fourier analysis to PDEs.

#### 2.3.1 Definition and basic properties

Let  $\chi, \varphi$  be two smooth radial functions valued in the interval [0,1], the support of  $\chi$  be the closed ball  $\overline{B_{4/3}}$ , and the support of  $\varphi$  be the washer  $\overline{B_{8/3}} \setminus B_{3/4}$ . Moreover,  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \varphi(2^{-j}\xi) = 1$  for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ , and  $\chi(\xi) + \sum_{j \geq 0} \varphi(2^{-j}\xi) = 1$  for  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . Denote  $h = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\varphi$  and  $\tilde{h} = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\chi$ , where  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}$  is the inverse of the Fourier transform  $\mathcal{F}$ . Then we define the homogeneous dyadic blocks  $\dot{\Delta}_j$  and the low-frequency cutoff operators  $\dot{S}_j$ , respectively, by

$$\dot{\Delta}_j u = 2^{3j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(2^j y) u(x - y) dy$$
, and  $\dot{S}_j u = 2^{3j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \tilde{h}(2^j y) u(x - y) dy$ .

The frequency localization of the blocks  $\dot{\Delta}_j$  and  $\dot{S}_j$  leads to some fine properties. First, one has orthogonality due to the interaction of frequencies supported in disjoint regions. More

precisely, for two tempered distributions  $u, v \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$\dot{\Delta}_k \dot{\Delta}_j u = 0 \text{ if } |k - j| \ge 2,$$

$$\dot{\Delta}_j (\dot{S}_{k-1} u \dot{\Delta}_k v) = 0 \text{ if } |k - j| \ge 5,$$

$$\dot{\Delta}_j (\dot{\Delta}_k u \dot{\tilde{\Delta}}_k v) = 0 \text{ if } k \le j - 4, \text{ with } \tilde{\Delta}_k v := \sum_{|k' - k| \le 1} \dot{\Delta}_{k'} v.$$

Second, we have the Poincare type inequalities (also called Bernstein's inequalities):

**Lemma 2.9** (see [9, Lemmas 2.1-2.2]). Let r and R be two constants satisfying  $0 < r < R < \infty$ . There exists a positive constant C = C(r, R) such that for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , any  $\lambda > 0$ , any smooth homogeneous function  $\sigma$  of degree  $d \in \mathbb{N}$ , any  $1 \le p \le q \le \infty$ , and any function  $u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\sup \widehat{u} \subset \lambda B_R \Longrightarrow \|D^k u\|_q := \sum_{|\alpha|=k} \|\partial^\alpha u\|_q \le C^{k+1} \lambda^{k+n(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \|u\|_p,$$

$$\sup \widehat{u} \subset \lambda (B_R \setminus B_r) \Longrightarrow C^{-k-1} \lambda^k \|u\|_p \le \|D^k u\|_p \le C^{k+1} \lambda^k \|u\|_p,$$

$$\sup \widehat{u} \subset \lambda (B_R \setminus B_r) \Longrightarrow \|\sigma(D) u\|_q \le C_{\sigma,d} \lambda^{m+n(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} \|u\|_p,$$

where  $\hat{u} = \mathcal{F}u$  and  $\sigma(D)u$  is defined as  $\mathcal{F}^{-1}(\sigma \hat{u})$ .

In most literature on the theory of function spaces, the homogeneous Besov spaces are defined in the ambient space of tempered distributions modulo polynomials (see, e.g., [55]). However, we wish to avoid this type of spaces when solving nonlinear PDEs. In this dissertation, we adopt the definitions of homogeneous spaces in [9, Section 2.3]. Let  $\mathscr{S}'_h(\mathbb{R}^n)$  denote the space of all tempered distributions  $u \in \mathscr{S}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$  that satisfy

$$u = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \dot{\Delta}_j u \text{ in } \mathscr{S}'.$$

Note that  $\mathscr{S}_h'$  is a large enough proper subspace of  $\mathscr{S}'$ . For example, if  $b \in L^p$  with  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , then  $b \in \mathscr{S}_h'$ ; and if  $b \in L^\infty$ , then  $\nabla b \in \mathscr{S}_h'$ .

Let us now recall the definition of homogeneous Besov spaces.

**Definition 2.10.** Let  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $1 \leq p, r \leq \infty$ . The homogeneous Besov space  $\dot{B}^s_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  consists of all the distributions u in  $\mathscr{S}'_h(\mathbb{R}^n)$  such that

$$||u||_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^s} := ||(2^{js}||\dot{\Delta}_j u||_p)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}||_{I^r} < \infty.$$

**Remark 2.11.** As an immediate consequence of the definition, we have that  $u \in \dot{B}^s_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if and only if there exists a nonnegative sequence  $\{c_{j,r}\}_{j\in\mathbb{Z}}$  such that  $\|c_{j,r}\|_{l^r} \lesssim 1$  and  $\|\dot{\Delta}_j u\|_p \lesssim c_{j,r} 2^{-js} \|u\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,r}}$  for every  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Let us collect some useful properties and inequalities for homogeneous Besov spaces.

**Lemma 2.12** (see [9, Chapter 2]). (i) For  $1 \leq p_1 \leq p_2 \leq \infty$ ,  $1 \leq r_1 \leq r_2 \leq \infty$  and  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\dot{B}^s_{p_1,r_1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is continuously embedded in  $\dot{B}^{s-n(1/p_1-1/p_2)}_{p_2,r_2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .  $\dot{B}^0_{\infty,1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  is continuously embedded in  $C_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the space of continuous functions that tend to zero at infinity.

(ii) Suppose that  $(s_1, s_2, p, p_1, p_2, r) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \times [1, \infty]^4$ ,  $\theta \in (0, 1)$  and  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{\theta}{p_1} + \frac{1-\theta}{p_2}$ . Then for any  $u \in \mathscr{S}'_h(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we have

$$||u||_{\dot{B}^{\theta s_1 + (1-\theta)s_2}_{p,r}} \le ||u||^{\theta}_{\dot{B}^{s_1}_{p_1,r}} ||u||^{1-\theta}_{\dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}}.$$

- (iii) If  $(p,r) \in [1,\infty)^2$ , then the space  $\mathscr{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$  of functions in  $\mathscr{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  whose Fourier transforms are supported away from 0 is dense in  $\dot{B}^s_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ .
  - (iv)  $\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$  is a Banach space if (s,p,r) satisfies

$$s < \frac{n}{p}, \text{ or } s = \frac{n}{p} \text{ and } r = 1.$$
 (2.5)

(v) Suppose that  $(s, p, r) \in (0, \infty) \times [1, \infty]^2$  satisfies (2.5). Assume that f is a smooth function on  $\mathbb{R}$  which vanishes at 0. For any real-valued function  $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \cap \dot{B}^s_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the composite function  $f \circ u$  belongs to the same space, and there exists a constant C depending on f' and  $\|u\|_{\infty}$  such that

$$||f \circ u||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}} \le C||u||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}}.$$

Next, we recall Bony's paraproduct decomposition which can be used to define a product of two Besov functions. For two Besov functions u and v, we can formally write

$$uv = \dot{T}_u v + \dot{T}_v u + \dot{R}(u, v),$$

where

$$\dot{T}_u v := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \dot{S}_{j-1} u \dot{\Delta}_j v \text{ and } \dot{R}(u, v) := \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \dot{\Delta}_j u \widetilde{\dot{\Delta}}_j v.$$

Sometimes it is sufficient to just estimate  $\dot{T}'_v u := \dot{T}_v u + \dot{R}(u,v)$ . We refer the reader to [9, section 2.6] for the convergence of the above series and the continuity of the paraproduct operators on homogeneous Besov spaces. In this dissertation, we will frequently use the following product laws:

$$\begin{split} \|uv\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1}} \lesssim \|u\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1}} \|v\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1}}, \ \ \text{if} \ 1 \leq p < \infty, \\ \|uv\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \lesssim \|u\|_{\dot{B}^{n/q}_{q,1}} \|v\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}}, \ \ \text{if} \ \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \leq \frac{1}{n} < \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}, \end{split}$$

and

$$||uv||_{\dot{B}^{n/p-2}_{p,1}} \lesssim ||u||_{\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1}} ||v||_{\dot{B}^{n/p-2}_{p,1}}, \text{ if } 1 \leq p < n \text{ and } n \geq 3.$$

#### 2.3.2 Characterizations of homogeneous Besov norms

Now we recall several equivalent characterizations of homogeneous Besov norms. The next lemma is well-known and can be implied by [9, Theorem 2.34].

**Lemma 2.13.** Suppose that  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $(p,q) \in [1,\infty]^2$ . If k > s/2 and  $k \ge 0$ , we have

$$||f||_{\dot{B}^{s,\Delta}_{p,q}} := ||t^{-s/2}||(t\Delta)^k e^{t\Delta} f||_p ||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+;\frac{dt}{t})} \simeq ||f||_{\dot{B}^s_{p,q}}, \ \forall f \in \mathscr{S}'_h.$$

A similar result holds if we replace  $\Delta$  by the Lamé operator. Here the Lamé operator  $\mathcal L$  is defined by

$$\mathcal{L} := \mu \Delta + (\lambda + \mu) \nabla \operatorname{div} \tag{2.6}$$

with

$$\mu > 0$$
, and  $\nu := \lambda + 2\mu > 0$ . (2.7)

Let us introduce the Hodge operator  $Q = -\nabla(-\Delta)^{-1}$  div and let  $\mathcal{P} = I - Q$ . The Lamé operator and the Laplacian can be expressed by each other, namely,

$$\mathcal{L} = (\mu \mathcal{P} + \nu \mathcal{Q})\Delta = \Delta(\mu \mathcal{P} + \nu \mathcal{Q}) \tag{2.8}$$

and

$$\Delta = \left(\frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{P} + \frac{1}{\nu}\mathcal{Q}\right)\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}\left(\frac{1}{\mu}\mathcal{P} + \frac{1}{\nu}\mathcal{Q}\right). \tag{2.9}$$

So, for every  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\|\mathcal{L}^k u\|_p \simeq \|\Delta^k u\|_p, \quad u \in W^{2k,p}(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n). \tag{2.10}$$

**Lemma 2.14.** Suppose that  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . If k > s/2 and  $k \ge 0$ , we have

$$||u||_{\dot{B}^{s,\mathcal{L}}_{p,q}} := ||t^{-s/2}||(t\mathcal{L})^k e^{t\mathcal{L}} u||_p ||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+;\frac{dt}{t})} \simeq ||u||_{\dot{B}^s_{p,q}}, \ \forall u \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n).$$

*Proof.* The lemma is a consequence of Lemma 2.13 along with the identities

$$e^{t\mathcal{L}} = e^{\mu t\Delta} \mathcal{P} + e^{\nu t\Delta} \mathcal{O}$$

and

$$e^{t\Delta} = \mathcal{P}e^{\mu^{-1}t\mathcal{L}} + \mathcal{Q}e^{\nu^{-1}t\mathcal{L}}.$$

Next, we give two more equivalent characterizations of homogeneous Besov norms, one via the semigroup generated by the elliptic operator  $\mathcal{E}$  defined by (2.3), the other via ball means of differences. Let us define

$$||f||_{\dot{B}^{s,-\varepsilon}_{p,q}} := ||t^{-s/2}||(t\mathcal{E})^k e^{-t\mathcal{E}} f||_p ||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+;\frac{dt}{t})}$$

with  $k > \frac{s}{2}$ , and

$$||f||_{\dot{\Lambda}^{s}_{p,q}} := \left\| \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \int_{B(x,r)} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|^{p}}{r^{sp}} \, dy \, dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \frac{dr}{r})},$$

where  $f_{B(x,r)}$  denotes the integral mean over the ball B(x,r) centered at x with radius r.

**Lemma 2.15** (see [11,36]). Let  $\mu$  be the Hölder index in Lemma 2.7. Suppose that  $s \in (0, \mu)$ ,  $p \in [1, \infty)$  and  $q \in [1, \infty]$ . If k > s/2, we have

$$||f||_{\dot{B}_{n,q}^{s,-\varepsilon}} \simeq ||f||_{\dot{\Lambda}_{n,q}^s}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

*Proof.* In [36], only the characterization of inhomogeneous norms was given. But the proof there can be easily adjusted to give the equivalence between homogeneous norms.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 2.16.** Suppose that  $s \in (0,1)$ ,  $p \in [1,\infty)$  and  $q \in [1,\infty]$ . It holds that

$$||f||_{\dot{\Lambda}_{p,q}^s} \simeq ||f||_{\dot{B}_{p,q}^s}, \quad \forall f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

*Proof.* Note that the Hölder index in Lemma 2.7 becomes  $\mu = 1$  if  $\mathcal{E}$  is replaced by  $-\Delta$ . By Lemma 2.15, we have  $\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\Delta}_{p,q}} \simeq \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s,\Delta}_{p,q}}$  for any  $s \in (0,1)$ . This together with Lemma 2.13 implies Lemma 2.16.

#### 2.4 Coordinate transformations

### 2.4.1 From Eulerian to Lagrangian coordinates

We start with the well-posedness issues of the ODE

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d}{dt}X(t,y) = u(t,X(t,y)), & t > 0\\ X(0,y) = y \end{cases}$$
 (2.11)

and the conservative continuity equation

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \rho|_{t=0} = \rho_0, & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^n \end{cases}$$
 (2.12)

within the Cauchy-Lipschitz framework. Let us temporarily assume that u is  $C^1$  vector field, namely,

$$u \in L^1([0,T]; C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n)).$$

The following result is well-known.

**Theorem 2.17.** For any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , (2.11) has a unique solution  $X(\cdot, y) = X_u(\cdot, y) \in W^{1,1}([0, T])$ . For any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,  $X(t, \cdot)$  is a  $C^1$  diffeomorphism over  $\mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying

$$\|\nabla X(t)\|_{\infty} \vee \|\nabla X^{-1}(t)\|_{\infty} \leq \exp\left(\|\nabla u\|_{L^{1}_{t}(L^{\infty})}\right),\,$$

where  $X^{-1}(t,\cdot)$  is the inverse of  $X(t,\cdot)$ . Let  $J(t,y)=J_X(t,y)$  be the determinant of DX(t,y). Then  $J\in W^{1,1}([0,T];C_b)$  and satisfies

$$\frac{d}{dt}J(t,y)=(\operatorname{div} u)(t,X(t,y))J(t,y),\ \ J(0,y)=1.$$

Consequently,

$$\exp\left(-\|\operatorname{div} u\|_{L^1_t(L^\infty)}\right) \le J(t,y) \le \exp\left(\|\operatorname{div} u\|_{L^1_t(L^\infty)}\right).$$

In particular, if div u = 0, then  $J_X(t, y)$  is identical to 1.

Now we turn to the well-posedness of the continuity equation (2.12).

**Definition 2.18.** Let  $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ . A bounded function  $\rho$  is called a weak solution to (2.12) if for any test function  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}([0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ ,

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho(\partial_t \varphi + u \cdot \nabla_x \varphi) \, dx \, dt + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \rho_0 \varphi(0, x) \, dx = 0,$$

and  $\rho(t) \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \rho_0$  in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as  $t \to 0^+$ .

**Theorem 2.19** (see, e.g., [5, Proposition 2.1]). For any  $\rho_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , (2.12) has a unique weak solution that is given by the formula

$$\rho(t,x) = \frac{\rho_0(X^{-1}(t,x))}{J_X(t,X^{-1}(t,x))} = J_{X^{-1}}(t,x)\rho_0(X^{-1}(t,x)).$$

In particular, if div u = 0, we have  $\rho(t, x) = \rho_0(X^{-1}(t, x))$ .

Next, we assume more regularity on u:

$$u \in C([0,T]; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap L^1([0,T]; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n))$$
 (2.13)

for some  $p \in [1, \infty)$ . Then the corresponding trajectory  $X_u$  is also more regular. To see this, we need the following result which guarantees that Besov regularity of a function is preserved under changes of variables. To state the assumption of the lemma, let us recall that a function f is called a multiplier for  $\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if f defines a continuous linear operator on  $\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  by pointwise multiplication. If f is a multiplier for  $\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , we write  $f \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^s_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^n))$  and

define the multiplier norm by

$$||f||_{\mathscr{M}(\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^{n}))} := \sup_{\|\phi\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}} = 1} ||f\phi||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,q}}.$$

**Lemma 2.20** (see [22, Lemma 2.1.1]). Let X be a  $C^1$  diffeomorphism over  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$  and  $s \in (-n/p', n/p)$ . Then the linear map  $f \mapsto f \circ X$  is continuous on  $\dot{B}_{p,q}^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$  if one of the following conditions holds

(i) 
$$s \in (0, 1)$$
,

(ii) 
$$s \in (-1,0)$$
 and  $J_{X^{-1}} \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^{-s}_{p',q'}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ .

**Remark 2.21.** The above lemma extends to s=0 by interpolation, and to higher order regularities if we make stronger assumptions on X (again, see [22]).

By the above lemma and product laws in Besov spaces, one can prove the following

**Lemma 2.22.** Let u satisfy (2.13) and  $X = X_u$  solve (2.11). Define  $A = A_u = (DX_u)^{-1}$ ,  $J = J_X = \det DX$ , and  $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{A}_u = \operatorname{adj} DX$  (the adjugate of DX, i.e.,  $\mathscr{A} = JA$ ). Then

$$DX - I_n, J - I_n, A - I_n, \mathscr{A} - I_n \in C([0, T]; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p}(\mathbb{R}^n)).$$

Now for any scalar function  $\phi = \phi(x)$  and any vector field v = v(x), it is easy to see that

$$(\nabla \phi) \circ X = A^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla (\phi \circ X), \tag{2.14}$$

and

$$(\operatorname{div} v) \circ X = \operatorname{Tr}[AD(v \circ X)], \tag{2.15}$$

where  $\operatorname{Tr} A$  denotes the trace of A. On the other hand, using an integration by part argument as in the appendix of [20], we also have

$$(\operatorname{div} v) \circ X = J^{-1}\operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}(v \circ X)). \tag{2.16}$$

This along with (2.15) gives the following identity

$$Tr[\mathscr{A}D(v \circ X)] = \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}(v \circ X)). \tag{2.17}$$

Applying (2.14) and (2.15), we see that

$$(\nabla \operatorname{div} v) \circ X = A^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \operatorname{Tr}(AD(v \circ X)). \tag{2.18}$$

By writing  $\Delta = \operatorname{div} \nabla$ , we get from (2.14) and (2.16) that

$$(\Delta v) \circ X = J^{-1} \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A} A^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla (v \circ X)). \tag{2.19}$$

Note that all the above equations hold even if u is not divergence free. But if div u = 0, we have  $J \equiv 1$ , and thus,  $A = \mathscr{A}$ .

#### 2.4.2 From Lagrangian to Eulerian coordinates

Throughout, we denote variables in Lagrangian coordinates by bold letters (e.g.,  $\rho$ , u, P, etc.). Given a velocity field v in Lagrangian coordinates, we define

$$X_{\mathbf{v}}(t,y) = y + \int_0^t \mathbf{v}(\tau,y) d\tau.$$

A smallness condition will be needed to recover the Eulerian velocity field v.

**Lemma 2.23** (see also [20]). Suppose that  $\mathbf{v} \in L^1([0,T]; C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^n; \mathbb{R}^n))$  satisfies

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_{L_T^1(L^\infty)} \le \frac{1}{2}.\tag{2.20}$$

Then  $X_{\mathbf{v}}(t,\cdot)$  is a  $C^1$ -diffeomorphism over  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for every  $t \in [0,T]$ . Denote by  $X_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}(t,\cdot)$  the inverse of  $X_{\mathbf{v}}(t,\cdot)$ . It holds that

$$||DX_{\mathbf{v}} - I_n||_{L_T^{\infty}(L^{\infty})} \le ||D\mathbf{v}||_{L_T^1(L^{\infty})},$$
 (2.21)

$$||DX_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1} - I_n||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(L^{\infty})} \le 2||D\mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{1}(L^{\infty})}.$$
(2.22)

*Proof.* The first inequality (2.21) is easily seen. Let  $Y_{\mathbf{v}}(t,x)$  be the solution of the integral equation  $Y_{\mathbf{v}}(t,x) = x - \int_0^t \mathbf{v}(\tau,Y_{\mathbf{v}}(t,x)) \, d\tau$ . Note that this equation is solvable under the assumption (2.20). Then it is not difficult to see that  $Y_{\mathbf{v}}(t,\cdot)$  and  $X_{\mathbf{v}}(t,\cdot)$  are inverses to each other. One can readily get  $\|DY_{\mathbf{v}}\|_{L^\infty_T(L^\infty)} \leq 2$ , which further implies (2.22).

Next, we assume additionally that v satisfies

$$\mathbf{v} \in C([0,T]; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)) \cap L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p+1}(\mathbb{R}^n))$$
(2.23)

and

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1})} \le c_0, \tag{2.24}$$

so that (2.20) is fulfilled. The number  $c_0$  may be chosen even smaller later. Define  $A_{\mathbf{v}} = (DX_{\mathbf{v}})^{-1}$ ,  $J_{X_{\mathbf{v}}} = \det DX_{\mathbf{v}}$ , and  $\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}} = \operatorname{adj} DX_{\mathbf{v}}$ . Then we have the following:

**Lemma 2.24** (see [20]). There exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$||DX_{\mathbf{v}} - I_{n}||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} + ||DX_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1} - I_{n}||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \le C||D\mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})},$$

$$||\partial_{t}X_{\mathbf{v}}^{-1}||_{L_{T}^{2}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \le C||\mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{2}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}.$$

We conclude this section with some estimates that will be used to prove the existence and stability of solutions to the Lagrangian formulation of (1.2) or (1.3).

**Lemma 2.25** (see [17,20]). Let  $\mathbf{v}$ ,  $\mathbf{v}_1$  and  $\mathbf{v}_2$  be vector fields satisfying (2.23) and (2.24). Let  $\delta \mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}_1 - \mathbf{v}_2$ . Then we have

$$||A_{\mathbf{v}} - I_n||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} + ||\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}} - I_n||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{v}||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}, \tag{2.25}$$

$$||J_{\mathbf{v}}^{\pm 1} - 1||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}, \tag{2.26}$$

$$||A_{\mathbf{v}_1} - A_{\mathbf{v}_2}||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} + ||\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} - \mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{v}_2}||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \lesssim ||\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}, \tag{2.27}$$

$$||J_{\mathbf{v}_{1}}^{\pm 1} - J_{\mathbf{v}_{2}}^{\pm 1}||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} \lesssim ||\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}, \tag{2.28}$$

$$\|\partial_t \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}(t)\|_{\dot{B}_{n}^{n/p}} \lesssim \|\nabla \mathbf{v}(t)\|_{\dot{B}_{n}^{n/p}},$$
 (2.29)

$$\|\partial_t \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}(t)\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \lesssim \|\mathbf{v}(t)\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1}}, \quad if \ p < 2n,$$
 (2.30)

$$\|\partial_t (\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_2})\|_{L^1_t(\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1})} \lesssim \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_t(\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1})},$$
 (2.31)

$$\|\partial_t (\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_2})\|_{L^2_t(\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1})} \lesssim \|\delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^2_t(\dot{B}^{n/p}_{p,1})}, \quad \text{if } p < 2n,. \tag{2.32}$$

### Chapter 3

## Incompressible Viscous Fluids

In this chapter, we mainly investigate the global existence and stability for solutions to (1.2) in three dimension.

#### 3.1 Main results and strategy of the proof

Our first main theorem concerns the global existence and maximal  $L^1$ -in-time regularity estimates for solutions to (1.2) provided the initial velocity is small in the Besov space  $\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . But we do not require the initial density to stay close to an equilibrium. First, let us be clear about what it means by a solution to (1.2). Let  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  be the space that consists of all divergence free vector fields whose components belong to  $\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $T \in (0, \infty]$ . Suppose that  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P} \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . We say that  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  is a *strong solution* to (1.2) if

$$\begin{cases} \rho - 1 \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \partial_t \rho \in L^2_{loc}([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \\ u \in C([0,T); \mathcal{P} \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \\ (\partial_t u, \Delta u, \nabla P) \in \left(L^1_{loc}([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))\right)^3, \end{cases}$$

and  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  satisfies (1.2) for a.e.  $t \in (0, T)$ .

**Theorem 3.2.** Assume that the initial density  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4),  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and the initial velocity  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P} \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then there exists some T > 0 such that (1.2) has a unique

local-in-time solution  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  with  $\rho$  verifying

$$m \le \rho(t, x) \le \frac{1}{m}, \ \forall t \ge 0, \ a.e. \ x \in \mathbb{R}^3.$$

Moreover, there exists a positive constant  $\varepsilon_0$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$  such that if  $u_0$  satisfies

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \le \varepsilon_0, \tag{3.1}$$

then the above solution exists globally in time and verifies

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\Delta u, \partial_t u, \nabla P||_{L^1(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C_0 ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}, \tag{3.2}$$

and

$$\|\rho - 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \le C_1 \|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}},\tag{3.3}$$

where  $C_0$  is a constant depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_2^{3/2}}$ , and  $C_1$  is an absolute constant.

**Remark 3.3.** The estimate of the  $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})$  norm in (3.2) is a maximal regularity type estimate. To our knowledge, this is the first such result concerning maximal  $L^1$  regularity for density-dependent viscous fluids without any smallness assumption on the fluctuation of the initial density.

**Remark 3.4.** The regularity assumption on the initial density can be weakened to allow a slight discontinuity. But to simplify the exposition and avoid unpleasant technicalities, we do not pursue the optimal regularity assumption on  $\rho_0$ . Nevertheless, we do not know if our method can be improved to give maximal  $L^1$  regularity estimates for weak solutions to (1.2) with merely measurable (or, piecewise constant) initial densities.

**Remark 3.5.** The estimate  $||u||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \leq C||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}$  for weak solutions to (1.2) has been recently obtained by Zhang in [59], in which he also obtained some global  $L^2$ -in-time estimates.

The initial density in [59] is merely bounded and bounded from zero. But the uniqueness of weak solutions in critical spaces is not known, unless the initial velocity field has more regularity so that one can prove a local  $L^1$ -in-time estimate for the Lipschitz seminorm of the velocity field (see also [13,48]). However, the energy methods used in [13,48,59] are unlikely to give (3.2), even if the data is smooth.

As an application of (3.2), we prove a second result concerning the long time asymptotics for the globally-defined velocity constructed in Theorem 3.2.

**Theorem 3.6.** Let  $(\rho_0, u_0)$  be the initial data in Theorem 3.2 that generates a global solution  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  to (1.2). Then it holds that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|u(t)\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} = 0. \tag{3.4}$$

The proof of Theorem 3.6 relies on Theorem 3.2, so let us only elaborate the strategy for the proof of Theorem 3.2.

**Step 1. Reformulating** (1.2) **in Lagrangian coordinates.** The Lagrangian coordinate is a natural coordinate system at fluid motion, in which the observer follows an individual fluid parcel as it moves through space and time. It can be used to convert a free boundary problem into an equivalent problem in a fixed domain (see, e.g., [54]); or to convert a coupled hyperbolic-parabolic system into a merely parabolic system (see, e.g., [17,20,21]).

Let us introduce new unknowns

$$(\boldsymbol{\rho},\mathbf{u},\mathbf{P})(t,y) = (\rho,u,P) \big(t,X(t,y)\big).$$

In view of the continuity equation in (1.2), we have  $\rho \equiv \rho_0$ . Using eqs. (2.14) to (2.17) and (2.19) and the chain rule, one can formally convert the system (1.2) into its Lagrangian

formulation that reads

$$\begin{cases}
\rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \mathbf{u}) + \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \mathbf{P} = 0, \\
\operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{u}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) = 0, \\
\mathbf{u}|_{t=0} = u_0.
\end{cases}$$
(3.5)

In this new system, we associate  $\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}$  with the new velocity  $\mathbf{u}$  so that the system is closed (i.e., determined). Precisely, we denote

$$\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} = \operatorname{adj} DX_{\mathbf{u}}, \text{ with } X_{\mathbf{u}}(t, y) = y + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbf{u}(\tau, y) d\tau.$$
 (3.6)

**Remark 3.7.** One can write  $A_{\bf u}:=(DX_{\bf u}(t,y))^{-1}$  in place of  $\mathscr{A}_{\bf u}$  in the "momentum" equation of (3.5). But as in the work of Solonnikov [54], one should use  $\mathscr{A}_{\bf u}$  in the second equation. The reason is that, when linearizing (3.5) to seek existence, we will need the fact that (2.17) is an identity, whether u is divergence free or not. Of course, once the existence issue is settled, we can use either  $\mathscr{A}_{\bf u}$  or  $A_{\bf u}$  in (3.5). More precisely, the linearized system of (3.5) reads

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \Delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \mathbf{P} = \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathsf{T}} - I) \nabla \mathbf{v}) + (I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}^{\mathsf{T}}) \nabla \mathbf{Q}, \\ \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{div}((I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}) \mathbf{v}) = Tr((I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}) D \mathbf{v}), \\ \mathbf{u}|_{t=0} = u_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

To obtain *a priori* estimates for this system, we need to write div u in two different ways. To conclude, we will solve (3.7) without assuming  $\det DX_{\mathbf{v}} \equiv 1$ .

**Definition 3.8.** Let  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P} \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . We say that  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  is a *strong* solution to (3.5) if for some  $T \in (0, \infty]$ ,

$$\begin{cases}
\mathbf{u} \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})), \\
\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} - I \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^{3})), \\
(\partial_{t}\mathbf{u}, \Delta\mathbf{u}, \nabla\mathbf{P}) \in \left(L_{loc}^{1}([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}))\right)^{3},
\end{cases}$$

and  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  satisfies (3.5) for a.e.  $t \in (0, T)$ .

The justification of equivalence between Eulerian and Lagrangian can be found in [17,20], or one can show it using the preliminaries collected in Section 2.4. Let us now state a well-posedness result for (3.5).

**Theorem 3.9.** Assume that the initial density  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4),  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and the initial velocity  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P} \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then there exists some T > 0 such that (3.5) has a unique local solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  with  $\mathbf{u}$  verifying

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{u}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \le c_0 \tag{3.8}$$

for some positive constant  $c_0$ .

Moreover, there exists another constant  $\varepsilon_0$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$  so that if  $u_0$  satisfies

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \leq \varepsilon_0,$$

the local solution becomes globally in time and verifies

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+};\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + \|\Delta\mathbf{u}, \partial_{t}\mathbf{u}, \nabla\mathbf{P}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+};\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C_{0}\|u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}$$

for some constant  $C_0$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}}$ .

Step 2. Maximal regularity for Stokes system. The heart of the present paper is the well-posedness issue for the linearized system (3.7). To this end, we will mainly focus on the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the following linear Stokes-like system

$$\begin{cases}
\rho(x)\partial_t u - \Delta u + \nabla P = f, & (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^3, \\
\operatorname{div} u = \operatorname{div} R = g, & (t, x) \in \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^3, \\
u(0, x) = u_0(x), & x \in \mathbb{R}^3.
\end{cases}$$
(3.9)

Here the coefficient  $\rho$  is a time-independent function that satisfies (1.4) and no other assumption is needed temporarily. The system is supplemented with the compatibility condition  $\operatorname{div} u_0(x) = \operatorname{div} R(0,x)$ . For simplicity, we will take  $R(0,\cdot) = 0$ , since this is the case in applications.

We are going to construct solutions to (3.9) using the theory of semigroups and abstract Cauchy problem. In doing so, let us introduce a new variable

$$v := u - \mathcal{Q}R = u + \nabla(-\Delta)^{-1}g,$$

where  $\mathcal{Q}=-\nabla(-\Delta)^{-1}$  div is the Hodge operator. Then the system (3.9) can be equivalently reformulated as

$$\begin{cases} \rho \partial_t v - \Delta v + \nabla (P - g) = f - \rho \mathcal{Q} \partial_t R, \\ \operatorname{div} v = 0, \\ v(0, x) = u_0(x). \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

We shall obtain maximal  $L^1$  regularity estimates for the above system. Compared with the classical Stokes system, this is a challenging problem because the velocity and the pressure are strongly coupled in the presence of the density. Let us now explain how to achieve our goal. Denote  $b = \rho^{-1}$  and let  $\mathcal{E}_b = -\operatorname{div}(b\nabla)$ . Applying  $\operatorname{div} b$  to the first equation of (3.10) and using the second equation, we see that

$$\mathcal{E}_b(P-g) = -\operatorname{div}[b(\Delta v + f - \rho \mathcal{Q}\partial_t R)].$$

Next, we introduce the Hodge operator

$$Q_b := -\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1} \operatorname{div} b \tag{3.11}$$

associated with  $\mathcal{E}_b$ , and let

$$\mathcal{P}_b = I - \mathcal{Q}_b. \tag{3.12}$$

Then we can write

$$\nabla(P - g) = \mathcal{Q}_b(\Delta v + f - \rho \mathcal{Q}\partial_t R). \tag{3.13}$$

Plugging (3.13) in (3.10), we hence introduce a generalized Stokes operator

$$S := b\mathcal{P}_b \Delta, \tag{3.14}$$

so (3.10) can be further reformulated as an abstract Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t v - \mathcal{S}v = \tilde{f} := b\mathcal{P}_b(f - \rho \mathcal{Q}\partial_t R), \\ v(0, x) = u_0(x). \end{cases}$$
(3.15)

We will show that the Stokes operator  ${\cal S}$  generates a semigroup  $e^{t{\cal S}}$  on

$$\mathcal{P}L^2 := \{ u \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3) | \operatorname{div} u = 0 \}.$$

So by Duhamel's principle, we can formally write the solution v to (3.15) as

$$v(t) = e^{tS}u_0 + \int_0^t e^{(t-\tau)S}\tilde{f}(\tau) d\tau.$$
(3.16)

To obtain maximal regularity estimates for v, we will characterize some Besov norms for divergence free vector fields via the semigroup  $e^{tS}$ . In fact, we are able to prove the following:

**Theorem 3.10.** Assume that b satisfies (1.4). For any  $s \in (0, 2)$ , any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , and any

$$u_0 \in \mathcal{P}H^2 := \{ u \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{R}^3) | \operatorname{div} u = 0 \},$$

we have

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{2,q}} \simeq ||t^{-s/2}||t\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}u_0||_2||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \simeq ||t^{-s/2}||t\Delta e^{t\mathcal{S}}u_0||_2||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}.$$

**Remark 3.11.** Note that we do not need any regularity for the coefficient b at this point.

Applying Theorem 3.10 (with q=1) to (3.16) gives us an *a priori* maximal regularity estimate for v:

$$||v||_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{s})} + ||\partial_{t}v, \mathcal{S}v||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{s})} \lesssim ||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{s}} + ||\tilde{f}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{s})}.$$
(3.17)

This gives good estimates for  $(u, \nabla P)$  except for  $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})}$ . If we apply (3.17) to bound  $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})}$  directly, we need to use  $\|\mathcal{Q}R\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})}$ , which would cause trouble when proving local existence of large solutions to (3.5). To overcome this difficulty, we view  $\nabla P$  in the first equation of (3.9) as a source term, and write

$$\partial_t u - b\Delta u = b(f - \nabla P). \tag{3.18}$$

Then the maximal  $L^1$  regularity estimate for u can be obtained by equivalent characterizations of Besov norms via the semigroup  $e^{tb\Delta}$ .

**Step 3. Elliptic estimates.** It remains to bound the inhomogeneous term  $\tilde{f}$  in (3.15). For this, we need to study the continuity of the operator  $b\mathcal{P}_b$  on Besov spaces. In other words, we need to study the gradient estimates for solutions to the divergence form elliptic equation

$$-\mathcal{E}_b P = \operatorname{div} f. \tag{3.19}$$

But this is again a difficult problem for it is well-known that  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1}$  div is not of Calderón-Zygmund type. In general,  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1}$  div is not bounded on  $L^p$  for p not close enough to 2, even if the coefficient b is smooth (see [39]). In fact, in order to prove continuity of  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1}$  div on homogeneous function spaces, one should treat it as a zeroth-order operator. This suggests that

b should be in some function spaces that have the same scaling as  $L^{\infty}$ . So we once again need b to be in some "critical" spaces.

Our strategy is to use an iteration scheme to gain elliptic regularity. In the initial iteration, we prove an inequality of the form

$$\|\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1} \operatorname{div} f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_0,r}^{s_0}} \le C \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^s}$$

in which a loss of regularity is allowed, but the scalings of both Besov spaces are the same, meaning that  $s_0 - \frac{3}{p_0} = s - \frac{3}{p}$  with  $s_0 < s$ . The proof relies on Lemma 2.15, Lemma 2.16 and the boundedness of the Riesz transform  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1/2}$  on  $L^p$ , 1 (see Section 2.2). In this step, we only require <math>b to satisfy (1.4). But if b has more regularity (in critical spaces), the loss of regularity can be recovered via an iteration scheme. We are able to eventually prove that  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1}$  div is bounded on some homogeneous Besov spaces including  $\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Such a result is nontrivial for  $\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  has the same scaling as  $L^3(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Indeed, our method also applies to  $L^p$  elliptic gradient estimates for p slightly larger than the space dimensions.

Carrying out the details of the strategy, we can prove the following maximal  $L^1$  regularity theorem for the Stokes system (3.9).

**Theorem 3.12.** Let  $T \in (0, \infty]$ . Assume that  $\rho = \rho(x)$  satisfies (1.4),  $\rho - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Suppose that f, g, R satisfy

$$R \in C_b([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \ (f, \nabla g, \partial_t R) \in \left(L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))\right)^3,$$

R(0)=0, and div R=g. Then the system (3.9) has a unique strong solution  $(u,\nabla P)$  in the class

$$u \in C_b([0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \ (\Delta u, \partial_t u, \nabla P) \in \left(L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))\right)^3.$$

Moreover, there exists a constant C depending on m and  $\|\rho-1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$  such that

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\partial_t u, \Delta u, \nabla P||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} + C||f, \partial_t R, \nabla g||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$
(3.20)

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 3.2 is devoted to the proof of maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the Stokes system (3.9). To this end, we give equivalent characterizations of homogeneous Besov norms via the semigroup generated by the generalized Stokes operator, and prove elliptic gradient estimates. Then, in Section 3.3, we apply the results established in Section 3.2 to prove Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.9. The proof of Theorem 3.6 will be given in Section 3.4.

# 3.2 Maximal $L^1$ regularity for Stokes system

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 3.12, which is the heart of this chapter.

## 3.2.1 Stokes operator

We present some useful properties for the Stokes operator. Let  $\rho = \rho(x)$  satisfy (1.4) and denote  $b = \rho^{-1}$ . In the sequel, we use the notations  $L^2 = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ ,  $\mathcal{P}L^2 = \{u \in L^2 | \operatorname{div} u = 0\}$ ,  $\|\cdot\|$  the  $L^2$  norm induced by the standard  $L^2$  inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , and  $\|\cdot\|_{\rho}$  the weighted norm induced by the inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\rho} = \int_{\mathbb{D}^3} u(x) \cdot v(x) \rho(x) \, dx.$$

Let  $Q_b$ ,  $\mathcal{P}_b$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  be defined by (3.11), (3.12) and (3.14), respectively. It is well know that  $Q_b$  is bounded on  $L^2$  and  $\|Q_b f\|_b \leq \|f\|_b$  for every  $f \in L^2$ . If  $b \equiv 1$ , we denote  $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_1$  and  $Q = Q_1$ . Formally, we have  $\text{div } \mathcal{P} = 0$ . It is for this reason we use  $\mathcal{P}$  in front of a space of vectors to denote its subspace of divergence-free vectors.

### **Lemma 3.13.** With the above notations, we have

(i)  $b\mathcal{P}_b:L^2\to\mathcal{P}L^2$  is bounded and it holds that  $\mathcal{Q}(b\mathcal{P}_b)=b\mathcal{P}_b\mathcal{Q}\equiv 0$ , and  $\mathcal{P}(b\mathcal{P}_b)=b\mathcal{P}_b\mathcal{P}\equiv b\mathcal{P}_b$ .

(ii)  $bP_b: \mathcal{P}L^2 \to \mathcal{P}L^2$  is invertible with a continuous inverse  $\mathcal{P}\rho$ . Thus, it holds that

$$||b\mathcal{P}_b u|| \simeq ||u||, \ \forall u \in \mathcal{P}L^2. \tag{3.21}$$

(iii)  $b\mathcal{P}_b: L^2 \to L^2$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ , while  $b\mathcal{P}_b: \mathcal{P}L^2 \to \mathcal{P}L^2$  is self-adjoint on both  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  and  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ .

(iv) 
$$S: \mathcal{P}H^2 \subset \mathcal{P}L^2 \to \mathcal{P}L^2$$
 is a self-adjoint operator on  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ .

The proof is straightforward and thus left to the reader.

**Lemma 3.14.** The Stokes operator  $S: \mathcal{P}H^2 \subset \mathcal{P}L^2 \to \mathcal{P}L^2$  generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{tS}\}_{t\geq 0}$  on  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ , and  $e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$  for every  $t\geq 0$ .

*Proof.* For  $u \in \mathcal{P}H^2$ , we have

$$\langle \mathcal{S}u, u \rangle_{\rho} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \mathcal{P}_b \Delta u(x) \cdot u(x) \, dx = -\|\nabla u\|^2 \le 0.$$

Since  $\mathcal{S}$  is self-adjoint on  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ , so by Theorem 2.4,  $\mathcal{S}$  generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{t\mathcal{S}}\}_{t\geq 0}$  on  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ . Moreover,  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}$  is self-adjoint on  $(\mathcal{P}L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ . Then we have for all  $u, v \in L^2$  that

$$\langle e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b u, v \rangle = \langle e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b u, b\mathcal{P}_b v \rangle_{\rho} = \langle b\mathcal{P}_b u, e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b v \rangle_{\rho} = \langle u, e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b v \rangle.$$

This means that  $e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ .

**Proposition 3.15.** For any  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ , it holds that  $\lim_{t\to\infty} ||e^{t\mathcal{S}}u_0|| = 0$ .

*Proof.* In view of Lemma 3.14 and (3.21), we apply Gagliardo–Nirenberg inequality to get

$$||e^{tS}u_0||_p \le C||e^{tS}u_0||^{1-\theta}||Se^{tS}u_0||^{\theta} \le Ct^{-\theta}||u_0||, \ \forall u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$$

where  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2\theta}{3}$ ,  $p \in (2, \infty]$ , and  $\theta \in (0, 1)$ . Now for any  $u_0 \in L^2$ , since  $b\mathcal{P}_b u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ , we get  $\|e^{t\mathcal{S}}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0\|_p \leq Ct^{-\theta}\|u_0\|$ . By duality, we obtain  $\|e^{t\mathcal{S}}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0\| \leq Ct^{-\theta}\|u_0\|_{p'}$  with  $\frac{1}{p'} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{2\theta}{3}$ .

So for any  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2 \cap L^{p'}$ , we have

$$||e^{tS}u_0|| = ||e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b(\rho u_0)|| \le Ct^{-\theta}||u_0||_{p'},$$

which implies  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|e^{tS}u_0\| = 0$ . By a density argument, the result still holds for  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ . This completes the proof.

# 3.2.2 Characterizations of Besov norms via semigroup $e^{tS}$

In order to obtain maximal regularity estimates for the Stokes system, we use the semigroup  $e^{tS}$  to give equivalent characterizations of certain Besov norms for divergence-free vector fields. First, let us prove an easy but useful lemma.

**Lemma 3.16.** Let  $w(t,\tau)$  be a nonnegative weight function satisfying

$$\sup_{\tau>0} \int_0^\infty w(t,\tau) \, \frac{dt}{t} + \sup_{t>0} \int_0^\infty w(t,\tau) \, \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \le C.$$

Then for any  $q \in [1, \infty]$ , we have

$$\left\| \int_0^\infty w(t,\tau) f(\tau) \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \le C \|f\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}.$$

*Proof.* The cases q=1 and  $q=\infty$  are trivial. Assume that  $f\geq 0$ . For  $q\in (1,\infty)$ , we apply Hölder's inequality to see that

$$\int_0^\infty w(t,\tau)f(\tau)\frac{d\tau}{\tau} \le \left(\int_0^\infty w(t,\tau)\frac{d\tau}{\tau}\right)^{1/q'} \left(\int_0^\infty w(t,\tau)f^q(\tau)\frac{d\tau}{\tau}\right)^{1/q}.$$

By the assumption of the lemma, we obtain

$$\left(\int_0^\infty w(t,\tau)f(\tau)\frac{d\tau}{\tau}\right)^q \le C\int_0^\infty w(t,\tau)f^q(\tau)\frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

Integrating both sides over  $(0, \infty)$  with respect to  $\frac{dt}{t}$ , the result follows from the assumption again and the Fubini's theorem.

As in many other works (see, e.g., [11,36]) concerning characterizations of function spaces via semigroups, a fundamental ingredient is to obtain a sort of reproducing formulas associated with the semigroups. The following reproducing formula depends on the very special (and simple) structure of the operator S.

**Lemma 3.17.** For any  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ , it holds that

$$u_0 = -\int_0^\infty \Delta e^{\tau S} b \mathcal{P}_b u_0 \, d\tau := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} -\int_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon} \Delta e^{\tau S} b \mathcal{P}_b u_0 \, d\tau, \tag{3.22}$$

where the limit converges in  $L^2$ .

*Proof.* Since  $e^{tS}$  is an analytic semigroup, the function  $u(t) = e^{tS}u_0$  is an classical solution to the equation u'(t) = Su(t). Integrating this equation in time from s to t, we get

$$u(t) - u(s) = \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{S}u(\tau) d\tau.$$

Obviously,  $u(s) \to u_0$  in  $L^2$  as  $s \to 0^+$ . This together with Proposition 3.15 implies that

$$u_0 = -\int_0^\infty \mathcal{S}e^{\tau\mathcal{S}}u_0 d\tau.$$

Replacing  $u_0$  by  $b\mathcal{P}_b u_0$  and recalling the expression for  $\mathcal{S}$ , we have

$$b\mathcal{P}_b u_0 = -\int_0^\infty b\mathcal{P}_b \Delta e^{\tau S} b\mathcal{P}_b u_0 \, d\tau.$$

Then the desired formula follows from the fact that  $bP_b$  is invertible on  $PL^2$ .

Let us first consider characterizations of Besov norms with negative regularity.

**Theorem 3.18.** Suppose that  $s \in (0,2)$  and  $q \in [1,\infty]$ . For any  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ , we have

$$||t^{s/2}||e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0|||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \simeq ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^{-s}}.$$

*Proof.* Let us first assume that  $u_0 \in \dot{B}_{2,q}^{-s}$ . We need the reproducing formula (by taking  $b \equiv 1$  in (3.22))

$$u_0 = -\int_0^\infty \Delta e^{\tau \Delta} u_0 \, d\tau, \quad u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2.$$

Next, applying  $e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b$  to both sides of the above equation gives rise to

$$e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0 = -\int_0^\infty e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b \Delta e^{\tau\Delta}u_0 d\tau.$$

We may estimate the  $L^2$  norm of the integrand in two different ways: we get from Lemma 3.14 that

$$||e^{t\mathcal{S}}b\mathcal{P}_b\Delta e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| = ||\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| \le \frac{C}{t}||e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| \le \frac{C}{t}||e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\Delta}u_0||,$$

alternatively,

$$||e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b\Delta e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| \le C||\Delta e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| \le \frac{C}{\tau}||e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\Delta}u_0||.$$

Hence, we get

$$||e^{tS}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0|| \le C \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{t} \wedge \frac{1}{\tau}\right) ||e^{\tau\Delta}u_0|| d\tau.$$

Multiplying both sides by  $t^{s/2}$ , we write

$$t^{s/2} \|e^{t\mathcal{S}} b \mathcal{P}_b u_0\| \le C \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^{s/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right) \|\tau^{s/2} e^{\tau \Delta} u_0\| \frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

Now if  $s \in (0, 2)$ , it is easy to verify that

$$\sup_{t>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^{s/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right) \frac{d\tau}{\tau} + \sup_{\tau>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^{s/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right) \frac{dt}{t} \le C.$$

It follows form Lemma 3.16 and Lemma 2.13 that

$$||t^{s/2}||e^{t\mathcal{S}}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0|||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \le C ||t^{s/2}||e^{t\Delta}u_0|||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \le C ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^{-s}}.$$

For the reverse inequality, we apply  $e^{t\Delta}$  to both sides of (3.22) to get

$$e^{t\Delta}u_0 = -\int_0^\infty e^{t\Delta} \Delta e^{\tau S} b \mathcal{P}_b u_0 \, d\tau.$$

Again, in view of Lemma 3.14, a similar argument as before gives rise to

$$||e^{t\Delta}u_0|| \le C \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{t} \wedge \frac{1}{\tau}\right) ||e^{\tau S}b\mathcal{P}_b u_0|| d\tau.$$

The rest of the steps are exactly the same as before. So the proof of the theorem is completed.

Now Theorem 3.10 is an immediate consequence of Theorem 3.18.

Proof of Theorem 3.10. Since  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}H^2$ , the result immediately follows from Theorem 3.18 if we replace  $u_0$  by  $\Delta u_0 \in \mathcal{P}L^2$ .

With Theorem 3.10 in hand, we can extrapolate  $e^{tS}$  to a semigroup on Besov spaces without assuming any regularity on the coefficient b. To this end, let us first study some regularity estimates of  $e^{tS}$  on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ .

**Proposition 3.19.** Suppose that  $s \in (0, 2)$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty]$  and  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . There exists a positive constant C such that for any  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}H^2$ ,

$$\|(t\mathcal{S})^k e^{t\mathcal{S}} u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^s} \le C \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^s}, \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$
 (3.23)

and

$$\left\| \| (t\mathcal{S})^{k+1} e^{t\mathcal{S}} u_0 \|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, \frac{dt}{t})} \le C \| u_0 \|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}}. \tag{3.24}$$

*Proof.* The first inequality follows immediately from Theorem 3.10 and the fact that  $e^{tS}$  is a bounded analytic semigroup on  $\mathcal{P}L^2$ .

For the second inequality, we only need to prove for k=0 and  $q<\infty$ . Applying Theorem 3.10, Lemma 3.14 and Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\tau \mathcal{S}e^{\tau \mathcal{S}} u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^{s}}^{q} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \simeq \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-s/2} \|t\tau \mathcal{S}^{2}e^{(t+\tau)\mathcal{S}} u_{0}\|\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} 
= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\tau}^{\infty} (t-\tau)^{(1-s/2)q-1} \tau^{q-1} \|\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{t\mathcal{S}} u_{0}\|^{q} dt d\tau 
= \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{t\mathcal{S}} u_{0}\|^{q} dt \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{(1-s/2)q-1} \tau^{q-1} d\tau 
\leq C \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(t^{-s/2} \|t\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}} u_{0}\|\right)^{q} \frac{dt}{t} \leq C \|u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,q}^{s}}^{q}.$$

This completes the proof.

In the rest of this subsection, we assume that s and q satisfy

$$(s,q) \in (0,3/2) \times [1,\infty), \text{ or } s \in (0,3/2] \text{ and } q = 1.$$
 (3.25)

Then  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$  is a Banach space and  $\mathcal{P}H^2$  is dense in  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ . For each  $t\geq 0$ , the inequality (3.23) (with k=0) guarantees that  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}$  extends to a bounded operator on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$  with bounds uniform in t. We denote this extension by  $\mathcal{T}(t)=\mathcal{T}_{s,q}(t)$ . Then  $\{\mathcal{T}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is a bounded semigroup on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ . Also, it is easy to verify the strong continuity for  $\mathcal{T}(t)$ .

**Proposition 3.20.** Suppose that (s,q) satisfies (3.25). Then  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  is a bounded  $C_0$  semigroup on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,q}^s$ .

*Proof.* For  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}H^2$ , the function  $t \mapsto \mathcal{T}(t)u_0 = e^{t\mathcal{S}}u_0$  belongs to  $C([0,\infty); \mathcal{P}H^2)$ , thus  $C([0,\infty); \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q})$ . By a density argument, we get the strong continuity of  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ .  $\square$ 

Let us denote by  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_{s,q}$  the generator of  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ . In general, it is not easy to identify the domain of the generator of a semigroup. However, it would be easier to find a core for the generator.

**Lemma 3.21.** Suppose that (s,q) satisfies (3.25). Define  $\mathscr{C} = \{u \in \mathcal{P}H^2 | \mathcal{S}u \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}\}$ . Then  $\mathscr{C}$  is a core for  $\mathcal{G}$ , and it holds that  $\mathcal{G}|_{\mathscr{C}} = \mathcal{S}|_{\mathscr{C}}$ . In other words,  $\mathcal{G}$  is the closure of  $\mathcal{S}: \mathscr{C} \subset \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q} \to \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ .

*Proof.* Note that the domain  $D(S^2)$  of  $S^2$  is contained in  $\mathscr{C}$ . Since  $D(S^2)$  is dense in  $D(S) = \mathcal{P}H^2$  and  $\mathcal{P}H^2$  is dense in  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ , so  $\mathscr{C}$  is also dense in  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ . For every  $u_0 \in \mathscr{C}$ , since  $\mathcal{T}(t)u_0 = e^{tS}u_0$  is a classical solution to the equation u'(t) = Su(t), we have

$$\mathcal{T}(t)u_0 - u_0 = \int_0^t e^{\tau \mathcal{S}} \mathcal{S}u_0 d\tau = \int_0^t \mathcal{T}(\tau) \mathcal{S}u_0 d\tau.$$

So, we have

$$\frac{1}{t}(\mathcal{T}(t)u_0 - u_0) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \mathcal{T}(\tau) \mathcal{S}u_0 \, d\tau.$$

By strong continuity of  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ , the limit as  $t\to 0^+$  on the right exists and equals to  $\mathcal{S}u_0$ . We thus infer that  $\mathscr{C}\subset D(\mathcal{G})$  and  $\mathcal{G}|_{\mathscr{C}}=\mathcal{S}|_{\mathscr{C}}$ . Obviously,  $\mathscr{C}$  is invariant under  $\mathcal{T}(t)$ . Thus, by Lemma 2.5,  $\mathscr{C}$  is a core for  $\mathcal{G}$ . This completes the proof.

**Proposition 3.22.** Suppose that (s,q) satisfies (3.25). Then  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  is a bounded analytic semi-group on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,q}^s$ .

*Proof.* We know from the above lemma that  $\mathscr{C}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}$ , and that  $\mathcal{GT}(t)u_0 = \mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}u_0$  for  $u_0 \in \mathscr{C}$ . It then follows from (3.23) that  $\|t\mathcal{GT}(t)u_0\|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}} \leq C\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}}$ . This completes the proof.

**Remark 3.23.** Now (3.24) actually holds for data in  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,q}^{s}$ , that is,

$$\left\| \|(t\mathcal{G})e^{t\mathcal{G}}u_0\|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \le C\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,q}}, \ \forall u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,q}.$$

In particular, choosing q = 1 gives

$$\|\mathcal{G}e^{t\mathcal{G}}u_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+;\dot{B}^s_{2,1})} \le C\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^s_{2,1}}, \ \forall u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1}.$$
(3.26)

We conclude this subsection with a maximal  ${\cal L}^1$  regularity result for the following abstract Cauchy problem

$$u'(t) - \mathcal{G}u(t) = f(t), \ u(0) = u_0.$$
 (3.27)

**Theorem 3.24.** Suppose that  $s \in (0,3/2]$  and  $T \in (0,\infty]$ . Let  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T);\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1})$ . Then (3.27) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C_b([0,T);\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1})$ . Moreover, there exists a positive constant C = C(m,s) such that

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})} + ||u', \mathcal{G}u||_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})} \le C||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1}} + C||f||_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})}.$$

*Proof.* The homogeneous part  $e^{t\mathcal{G}}u_0$  is a classical solution, and satisfies the estimates by Proposition 3.22 and (3.26). Denote the inhomogeneous part by  $\mathcal{I}f(t)=\int_0^t e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}}f(\tau)\,d\tau$ . Since  $e^{t\mathcal{G}}$  is uniformly bounded, we have  $\|\mathcal{I}f\|_{L^\infty_T(\dot{B}^s_{2,1})}\leq C\|f\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^s_{2,1})}$ . Using again (3.26) and Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{G}\mathcal{I}f\|_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})} &\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{G}e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}}f(\tau)\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1}} \, d\tau \, dt \\ &= \int_{0}^{T} \, d\tau \int_{\tau}^{T} \|\mathcal{G}e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}}f(\tau)\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1}} \, dt \leq C \|f\|_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{s}_{2,1})}. \end{split}$$

So by Lemma 2.6, u is a strong solution to (3.27). The estimate for u' follows directly from the previous estimates and the equation (3.27). So the proof is completed.

## 3.2.3 Elliptic estimates

So far we have not assumed any regularity on the coefficient b. In what follows, we shall prove that  $b\mathcal{P}_b$  is bounded on some Besov spaces if b has suitable "critical" regularity. We allow a slight discontinuity for b and point out that it is of independent interest to study elliptic estimates with discontinuous coefficients. The continuity of  $b\mathcal{P}_b$  will also help us identify the domain of  $\mathcal{G}$ .

In the sequel,  $P \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is the weak solution to (3.19) with b satisfying (1.4), and  $\mu$  is the Hölder index in Lemma 2.7. The main result in this subsection is the following:

**Theorem 3.25.** Given any  $(p,r) \in [2, \frac{3}{1-\mu}) \times [1, \infty]$ , any  $s \in (0, \frac{3}{p} + \mu - 1)$ . If b satisfies  $\nabla b \in \dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q-1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  with  $\frac{3}{q} > s \vee (1-\mu)$ , there exists a constant C depending on m and  $\|b\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}}$  such that

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}} \le C\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}}$$

for all vectors f whose components belong to  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{B}^s_{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ .

The proof of Theorem 3.25 takes two steps. In the first step, we do not assume any regularity on the elliptic coefficients and allow a loss of regularity for  $\nabla P$ .

**Lemma 3.26.** Given any  $(p,r) \in [2,\frac{3}{1-\mu}) \times [1,\infty]$ , any  $s \in (0,\frac{3}{p}+\mu-1)$ . For any  $-s_0 \in (1-\mu,\frac{3}{p}-s]$ , let  $p_0$  be defined by  $s_0-\frac{3}{p_0}=s-\frac{3}{p}$ . Then there exists a constant C>0 such that

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}_{p_0,r}^{s_0}} \le C\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^s}, \ \forall f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{B}_{p,r}^s(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

*Proof.* Note that the assumptions on (p, r, s) guarantee the existence of  $(p_0, s_0)$ . By Lemma 2.12 (i), we may assume that  $s_0 > -1$  and  $p_0 < \infty$ . First, by Lemma 2.15 and Lemma 2.16, we have

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_0}_{p_0,r}} &\simeq \|\mathcal{E}^{-1/2}\mathcal{R}^* f\|_{\dot{B}^{s_0+1}_{p_0,r}} \\ &\simeq \left\| t^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{s_0}{2}} \| (t\mathcal{E})^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-t\mathcal{E}} \mathcal{E}^{-1/2} \mathcal{R}^* f\|_{p_0} \right\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \\ &= \left\| t^{-\frac{s_0}{2}} \| e^{-t\mathcal{E}} \mathcal{R}^* f\|_{p_0} \right\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}. \end{split}$$

Next, applying  $e^{-t\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{R}^*$  to the reproducing formula

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \int_0^\infty (-\tau \Delta)^k e^{\tau \Delta} f(x) \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \text{ with } k > \frac{s}{2},$$

we write

$$e^{-t\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{R}^*f(x) = \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \int_0^\infty e^{-t\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{R}^*e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\Delta}(-\tau\Delta)^k e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\Delta}f(x) \frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

The  $L^p-L^q$  estimates for heat semigroups and the boundedness of  $\mathcal{R}^*$  from  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{R}^3)$  to  $L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)$   $(2 \le p < \infty)$  then imply that

$$||e^{-t\mathcal{E}}\mathcal{R}^*f||_{p_0} \le C \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{1}{t} \wedge \frac{1}{\tau}\right)^{\frac{3}{2}(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{p_0})} ||(\tau\Delta)^k e^{\tau\Delta}f||_p \frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

Thus,

$$t^{-\frac{s_0}{2}} \|e^{-t\mathcal{E}} \mathcal{R}^* f\|_{p_0} \le C \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\tau}{t}\right)^{s_0/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right)^{\frac{s-s_0}{2}} \tau^{-s/2} \|(\tau \Delta)^k e^{\tau \Delta} f\|_p \frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

Note that s and  $-s_0$  are positive numbers. One can readily check that

$$\sup_{\tau>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\tau}{t}\right)^{s_0/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t}\wedge 1\right)^{\frac{s-s_0}{2}} \frac{dt}{t} + \sup_{t>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{\tau}{t}\right)^{s_0/2} \left(\frac{\tau}{t}\wedge 1\right)^{\frac{s-s_0}{2}} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} \le C.$$

Finally, we apply Lemma 3.16 and Lemma 2.13 to conclude the proof.

In the second step, if the coefficient b has suitable regularity, the loss of regularity of  $\nabla P$  can be recovered using an iteration technique in the spirit of De Giorgi-Nash-Moser. To this end, we need the following commutator estimates that can help us gain regularity.

**Lemma 3.27.** Suppose that  $r \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $1 \le p_2 < p_1 \le \infty$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $(s_1, s_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $s_1 - \frac{3}{p_1} = s_2 - \frac{3}{p_2}$ , and

$$\frac{1}{p_2} \le \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q}, \ \frac{1}{p_2} < \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{3}, \ \frac{3}{q \lor p_2} > s_2, \ \frac{3}{q \lor p_1'} > -s_1.$$

If  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $\nabla a \in \dot{B}^{3/q-1}_{q,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , then there exists a constant C such that

$$\left\| \left( 2^{js_2} \| [\dot{\Delta}_j, a] f \|_{p_2} \right)_j \right\|_{l_i^r} \le C \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_1,r}^{s_1}},$$

where  $[\dot{\Delta}_j, a]f$  denotes the commutator  $\dot{\Delta}_j(af) - a\dot{\Delta}_j f$ .

*Proof.* This type of estimate is nowadays classical (see, e.g., [9, Section 2.10]). We give proof here for the sake of completeness.

By Bony's paraproduct, we split the commutator  $[\dot{\Delta}_j, a]f$  into four terms:

$$[\dot{\Delta}_j, \dot{T}_a]f + \dot{\Delta}_j(\dot{T}_f a) + \dot{\Delta}_j(\dot{R}(a, f)) - \dot{T}'_{\dot{\Delta}_j f} a. \tag{3.28}$$

Many terms in the summation can be canceled out because of the frequency localization of the dyadic blocks. Specifically, the first term can be expressed as

$$[\dot{\Delta}_j, \dot{T}_a]f = \sum_{|j'-j| \le 4} 2^{nj} \int h(2^j y) (\dot{S}_{j'-1} a(x-y) - \dot{S}_{j'-1} a(x)) \dot{\Delta}_{j'} f(x-y) \, dy$$

Choosing p such that  $\frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p_1}$ , we use Hölder's inequality to see

$$\begin{aligned} \|[\dot{\Delta}_{j}, \dot{T}_{a}]f\|_{p_{2}} &\lesssim \sum_{|j'-j| \leq 4} 2^{nj} \int |h(2^{j}y)| \|\dot{S}_{j'-1}a(\cdot - y) - \dot{S}_{j'-1}a(\cdot)\|_{p} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j'}f\|_{p_{1}} \, dy \\ &\lesssim 2^{-j} \sum_{|j'-j| \leq 4} \|\nabla \dot{S}_{j'-1}a\|_{p} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j'}f\|_{p_{1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Noticing that  $p \ge q$  and  $1 - \frac{3}{p} > 0$ , we use Lemma 2.9 to get

$$\|\nabla \dot{S}_{j'-1}a\|_{p} \lesssim \sum_{k \leq j'-2} 2^{3k(1/q-1/p)} \|\dot{\Delta}_{k} \nabla a\|_{q}$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{k \leq j'-2} 2^{k(1-3/p)} \|\nabla a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q-1}} \lesssim 2^{j'(1-3/p)} \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}}.$$

Consequently,

$$\|[\dot{\Delta}_{j}, \dot{T}_{a}]f\|_{p_{2}} \lesssim c_{j,r} 2^{-js_{2}} \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{a,\infty}^{3/q}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_{1},r}^{s_{1}}}.$$
(3.29)

For the second term in (3.28), if  $q \ge p_2$ , we redefine p by  $\frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$ . Again, applying Hölder's inequality and Lemma 2.9, we get

$$\|\dot{\Delta}_{j}(\dot{T}_{f}a)\|_{p_{2}} \lesssim \sum_{|j'-j| \le 4} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j'}a\|_{q} \|\dot{S}_{j'-1}f\|_{p} \lesssim c_{j,r}2^{-js_{2}} \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_{1},r}^{s_{1}}}, \tag{3.30}$$

where in the second inequality we need the fact that  $p \ge p_1$  and  $\frac{3}{q} > s_2$ . In the case  $q \le p_2$ , thanks to Lemma 2.12 (i), the same result stays true whenever  $\frac{3}{p_2} > s_2$ .

For the third term in (3.28), we first assume  $\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q} \le 1$  and redefine p by  $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q}$ . Using Lemma 2.9 and Hölder's inequality, and noticing that  $p \le p_2$  and  $\frac{3}{q} + s_1 > 0$ , we obtain

$$\|\dot{\Delta}_{j}(\dot{R}(a,f))\|_{p_{2}} \lesssim 2^{3j(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{p_{2}})} \sum_{j'>j-3} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j'}a\|_{q} \|\widetilde{\dot{\Delta}}_{j'}f\|_{p_{1}} \lesssim c_{j,r}2^{-js_{2}} \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_{1},r}^{s_{1}}}.$$
(3.31)

If  $\frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q} \ge 1$ , the result still holds provided that  $\frac{3}{p_1'} + s_1 > 0$ .

For the last term in (3.28), redefining p by  $\frac{1}{p_2} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{p}$  if  $q \ge p_2$ , we see that

$$\|\dot{T}'_{\dot{\Delta}_{j}f}a\|_{p_{2}} \lesssim \sum_{j' \geq j-2} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j'}a\|_{q} \|\dot{\Delta}_{j}f\|_{p} \lesssim c_{j,r}2^{-js_{2}} \|a\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}} \|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p_{1},r}^{s_{1}}}, \tag{3.32}$$

where in the second inequality we need the condition  $q < \infty$ . If  $p_2 \ge q$ , the same result holds under the assumption that  $p_2 < \infty$ .

Putting 
$$(3.29)$$
- $(3.32)$  together finishes the proof.

**Remark 3.28.** The technical assumption  $a \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is needed in order for the product af to be well-defined via paraproducts.

With the above commutator estimates at our disposal, we are now able to prove the following elliptic regularity which will be used for iteration.

**Lemma 3.29.** Suppose that  $r \in [1, \infty]$ ,  $2 \le p_2 < p_1 \le \infty$ ,  $q \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $(s_1, s_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ ,  $s_1 - \frac{3}{p_1} = s_2 - \frac{3}{p_2}$ , and

$$\frac{1}{p_2} \le \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{q}, \ \frac{1}{p_2} < \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{3}, \ \frac{3}{q \lor p_2} > s_2, \ \frac{3}{q \lor p_1'} > -s_1.$$

Let b satisfy  $\nabla b \in \dot{B}^{3/q-1}_{q,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . If in addition,  $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $\nabla P \in \dot{B}^{s_1}_{p_1,r}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}} \le C\|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}} + C\|b\|_{\dot{B}^{3/q}_{q,\infty}} \|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_1}_{p_1,r}}.$$

*Proof.* Testing  $v=\dot{\Delta}_j(|\dot{\Delta}_jP|^{p_2-2}\dot{\Delta}_jP)\in H^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3)$  in the equation

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} b \nabla P \cdot \nabla v \, dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} f \cdot \nabla v \, dx,$$

we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} b|\dot{\Delta}_j \nabla P|^2 |\dot{\Delta}_j P|^{p_2-2} dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\dot{\Delta}_j f - [\dot{\Delta}_j, b] \nabla P) \cdot \dot{\Delta}_j \nabla P |\dot{\Delta}_j P|^{p_2-2} dx.$$

Applying [15, Lemma A.5], Lemma 2.9 and Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\|\dot{\Delta}_{j}\nabla P\|_{p_{2}} \lesssim \|\dot{\Delta}_{j}f\|_{p_{2}} + \|[\dot{\Delta}_{j},b]\nabla P\|_{p_{2}}.$$

Multiplying both sides by  $2^{js_2}$  and taking  $l^r$  norm with respect to j, we obtain

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s_2}_{p_2,r}} + \left\| \left( 2^{js_2} \| [\dot{\Delta}_j, b] \nabla P\|_{p_2} \right)_j \right\|_{l_j^r}.$$

The desired result then follows from Lemma 3.27.

We are now in a position to complete the proof of Theorem 3.25.

Proof of Theorem 3.25. We start with choosing  $s_0$  and  $p_0$ . Since  $\left(-\frac{3}{q}\right) \vee \left(s-\frac{3}{p}\right) < \mu-1$ , we can choose an  $s_0$  between both sides of this inequality. Define  $p_0$  by  $s_0-\frac{3}{p_0}=s-\frac{3}{p}$ , then  $p_0\in(p,\infty)$ . By Lemma 3.26, we have  $\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_0}_{p_0,r}}\leq C\|f\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,r}}$ . Next, we shall choose  $(p_1,s_1)\in[p,p_0)\times(s_0,s]$  that satisfies the assumptions in Lemma 3.29. It is not difficult to see that those assumptions can be reduced to  $s_1-\frac{3}{p_1}=s-\frac{3}{p}$  and

$$\frac{1}{p_1} \leq \frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{1}{q}, \ \frac{1}{p_1} < \frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{1}{3}.$$

If  $(p_1, s_1) = (p, s)$  satisfies the above assumptions, we are done by using Lemma 3.29. Otherwise, we define  $p_1$  by  $\frac{1}{p_1} = \frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{1}{2(q \vee 3)}$ , and get

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_1}_{p_1,r}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s_1}_{p_1,r}} + \|b\|_{\dot{B}^{3/q}_{q,\infty}} \|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^{s_0}_{p_0,r}} \lesssim \|f\|_{\dot{B}^{s}_{p,r}}.$$

The  $(p_k, s_k)$  is defined by  $\frac{1}{p_k} = \frac{1}{p_0} + \frac{k}{2(q \vee 3)}$  and  $s_k - \frac{3}{p_k} = s - \frac{3}{p}$ . So the iteration scheme will end in a finite number of steps. This completes the proof.

**Remark 3.30.** If we know a priori that the norm  $\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}^s_{p,r}}$  is finite, then the iteration process is not needed. We apply Lemma 3.29 only once to get

$$\|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^{s}} \le C\|f\|_{\dot{B}_{p,r}^{s}} + C\|b\|_{\dot{B}_{q,\infty}^{3/q}} \|\nabla P\|_{\dot{B}_{p_{1},r}^{s_{1}}}$$

with some  $s_1 \in (0, s)$ . To complete the proof, we use Lemma 2.12 (ii) and Young's inequality. In this way, we can also remove the technical assumption that  $q < \frac{3}{1-\mu}$ .

Given Theorem 3.25, we are now able to identify  $\mathcal{G}$  and its domain  $D(\mathcal{G})$ . In order to avoid some unpleasant technicalities, we will simply assume that  $b-1 \in \dot{B}_{q,1}^{3/q}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then by Lemma 2.12 (v),  $\rho-1=(1-b)/b$  satisfies the same assumption.

**Lemma 3.31.** Let  $0 < s < \frac{1}{2} + \mu$  and  $1 \le q < \frac{3}{s \lor (1-\mu)}$ . Assume that  $b-1 \in \dot{B}_{q,1}^{3/q}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then  $\mathcal{G} = \mathcal{G}_{s,1}$  coincides with the operator  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$  defined by

$$\tilde{\mathcal{G}} = b\mathcal{P}_b\Delta : \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1} \cap \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^{s+2}_{2,1} \subset \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1} \to \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$$

*Proof.* First, we get from Theorem 3.25 that  $\nabla \mathcal{E}_b^{-1}$  div extends to a continuous operator on  $\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$ . In view of product laws in Besov spaces and Lemma 3.13 (ii),  $b\mathcal{P}_b$  is also continuous on  $\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$ , and the restriction of  $b\mathcal{P}_b$  on  $\mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$  is invertible with a continuous inverse  $\mathcal{P}\rho$ . Based on this, it is not difficult to see that  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$  is a closed operator. Note that the space  $\mathscr{C}$  (defined in Lemma 3.21) coincides with the inhomogeneous space  $\mathcal{P}B^{s+2}_{2,1}$ , so it is dense in  $D(\tilde{\mathcal{G}})$ . This shows that  $\tilde{\mathcal{G}}$  is the closure of  $\mathcal{S}: \mathscr{C} \subset \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1} \to \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^s_{2,1}$ . So we have  $\mathcal{G} = \tilde{\mathcal{G}}$  as a consequence of Lemma 3.21.

With a slight abuse of notation, we shall not distinguish between S and G.

#### 3.2.4 Proof of Theorem 3.12

We give a proof of Theorem 3.12 in this subsection. To further simplify the exposition, we assume that  $b-1 \in \dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . First, let us go back to the maximal regularity for the abstract Cauchy problem

$$u'(t) - b\mathcal{P}_b \Delta u(t) = b\mathcal{P}_b f(t), \quad u(0) = u_0. \tag{3.33}$$

As a consequence of Theorem 3.24, Theorem 3.25 and Lemma 3.31, we have:

**Corollary 3.32.** Let  $T \in (0, \infty]$ . Assume that b satisfies (1.4) and  $b-1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Let  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Then (3.33) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C_b([0,T); \mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Moreover, there exists a constant C depending on m and  $\|b-1\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}}$  such that

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||u', \Delta u||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} + C||f||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$

Let us now give the proof of the well-posedness part of Theorem 3.12.

Proof of the well-posedness part of Theorem 3.12. Note that  $b = \rho^{-1}$  satisfies the same assumptions as  $\rho$ . By Corollary 3.32, we see that the following Cauchy problem

$$\partial_t v(t) - b\mathcal{P}_b \Delta v(t) = b\mathcal{P}_b(f - \rho \mathcal{Q}\partial_t R), \ v(0) = u_0$$

has a unique strong solution  $v \in C_b([0,T); \mathcal{P}\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3))$  satisfying

$$||v||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\partial_t v, \Delta v||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} + ||f, \partial_t R||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$
(3.34)

Define  $u = v + QR = v - \nabla(-\Delta)^{-1}g$  and  $\nabla P = Q(f - \rho\partial_t v - \rho Q\partial_t R) + \nabla g$ . One can readily check that  $(u, \nabla P)$  is a strong solution to (3.9).

By (3.34) and the construction of  $\nabla P$ , we also have

$$\|\nabla P\|_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim \|u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} + \|f, \partial_{t} R, \nabla g\|_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}. \tag{3.35}$$

But if we apply (3.34) to bound u directly, we have to include the term  $\|QR\|_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}$  on the right side of (3.20). This would cause serious trouble for us to prove local existence of large solutions to (3.5). Thanks to (3.35), we can view  $\nabla P$  in the first equation of (3.9) as a source term. So we choose to prove the maximal regularity for the solution u to the parabolic system (3.18). Having had success in establishing maximal  $L^1$  regularity for (3.33) based on Theorem 3.10, we are going to obtain maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the parabolic Cauchy problem

$$\partial_t u - b\Delta u = f, \ u(0) = u_0 \tag{3.36}$$

by characterizations of Besov norms via the semigroup  $e^{tb\Delta}$ . To simplify the exposition, we only prove what is needed for the proof of (3.20).

**Lemma 3.33.** Suppose that b satisfies (1.4), and b and  $b^{-1}$  belong to the multiplier space  $\mathcal{M}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Let  $u_0 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Then (3.36) has a unique strong solution u satisfying

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\partial_t u, \Delta u||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} + ||f||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$

*Proof.* Since the proof is analogous to that of Theorem 3.24, we only outline the key steps.

First,  $b\Delta: H^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  generates a bounded analytic semigroup  $e^{tb\Delta}$  whose kernel has a Gaussian upper bound (see [31, 46]). So we have  $\lim_{t\to\infty}\|e^{tb\Delta}f\|=0$  for every  $f\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Based on this, we can mimic the proof of Theorem 3.10 to get the equivalence of norms:

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} \simeq ||t^{-1/4}||tb\Delta e^{tb\Delta}u_0|||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}, \quad \forall u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

This would imply that

$$\sup_{t>0} \|e^{tb\Delta}u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} + \sup_{t>0} \|tb\Delta e^{tb\Delta}u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} + \|\|tb\Delta e^{tb\Delta}u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \le C\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}},$$

for all  $u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . So  $e^{tb\Delta}|_{H^2(\mathbb{R}^3)}$  extends to a bounded analytic semigroup  $\mathcal{T}(t)$  on  $\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Denote by  $\mathcal{G}$  the generator of  $\mathcal{T}(t)$ . Then  $\mathscr{C} := \{u_0 \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^3) | b\Delta u_0 \in \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)\}$  is a core for  $\mathcal{G}$ , and  $\mathcal{G}|_{\mathscr{C}} = b\Delta|_{\mathscr{C}}$ . So far, all statements hold if b merely satisfies (1.4).

Next, we assume that both b and  $b^{-1}$  are multipliers of  $\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then  $\mathcal{G}$  coincides with the operator

$$b\Delta: \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \dot{B}_{2,1}^{5/2}(\mathbb{R}^3) \subset \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3) \to \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3).$$

Now that all preparation work is done, we mimic the proof of Theorem 3.24 to finish the proof of the present lemma. The details are left to the reader.  $\Box$ 

We conclude this section by completing the proof of Theorem 3.12

*Proof of Theorem 3.12.* It remains to show (3.20). Applying Lemma 3.33 to (3.18), we have

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}_{T}(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} + ||\partial_{t}u, \Delta u||_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim ||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} + ||f||_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} + ||\nabla P||_{L^{1}_{T}(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}.$$

This together with (3.35) gives (3.20). Thus, the proof of Theorem 3.12 is completed.

# 3.3 Well-posedness of (1.2)

In this section, we prove the well-posedness of (3.5), then the well-posedness of (1.2) will follow. Let E(T) denote the space of all pairs  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  satisfying

$$\mathbf{u} \in C([0,T]; \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \ (\partial_t \mathbf{u}, \Delta \mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}) \in \left(L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))\right)^3,$$

endowed with the norm

$$\|(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})\|_{E(T)} = \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + \|\Delta \mathbf{u}, \partial_t \mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}\|_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$

Given Theorem 3.12, we can prove the well-posedness of (3.5) in E(T) by using the contraction mapping theorem.

**Theorem 3.34.** Assume that the initial density  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4) and  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and the initial velocity  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P} \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then there exists some T > 0, such that the system (3.5) has a unique strong solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}) \in E(T)$ .

*Proof.* We shall construct a contraction mapping on E(T) by solving the linearized system (3.7). Let us denote the inhomogeneous terms in (3.7) by

$$\begin{cases} f(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}) = \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}^T - I) \nabla \mathbf{v}) + (I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}^T) \nabla \mathbf{Q}, \\ R(\mathbf{v}) = (I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}) \mathbf{v}, \\ g(\mathbf{v}) = \operatorname{Tr}((I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}) D \mathbf{v}), \end{cases}$$

where  $(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}) \in E(T)$ . However, since no smallness is assumed on the initial data, one has to perform the contraction mapping theorem around a neighborhood of some reference, which here is chosen as the solution  $(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$  to the homogeneous linear system

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u}_L - \Delta \mathbf{u}_L + \nabla \mathbf{P}_L = 0, \\ \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}_L = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}_L(0, \cdot) = u_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.37)

In view of Theorem 3.12, we immediately have

$$\|(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)\|_{E(T)} \le C \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}.$$
 (3.38)

Hence, we see that

$$M(t) := \|\Delta \mathbf{u}_L, \partial_t \mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L\|_{L^1_t(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \to 0$$

as t tends to 0. We will solve (3.7) in a closed ball in E(T) centered at  $(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$  with radius r, that is,

$$B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L) = \{ (\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}) \in E(T) : \| (\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \nabla \bar{\mathbf{P}}) \|_{E(T)} \le r \},$$

where  $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \bar{\mathbf{P}}) = (\mathbf{u} - \mathbf{u}_L, \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{P}_L)$ . The numbers r and T will be chosen suitably small later.

Let us estimate the inhomogeneous terms first. For any  $(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}) \in B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$ , we denote  $(\bar{\mathbf{v}}, \bar{\mathbf{Q}}) = (\mathbf{v} - \mathbf{u}_L, \mathbf{Q} - \mathbf{P}_L)$ . Obviously, we have

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \leq \|\nabla \bar{\mathbf{v}}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} + \|\nabla \mathbf{u}_{L}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \leq r + M(T).$$

So Lemma 2.24 and Lemma 2.25 are effective if we require

$$r + M(T) < c_0$$
.

Then applying (2.25) and product laws in Besov spaces, we see that

$$||f(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}), \nabla g(\mathbf{v})||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{v}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} ||\Delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}||_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$
 (3.39)

While applying (2.25) and (2.30), we get

$$\|\partial_{t}R(\mathbf{v})\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{t}\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \|\mathbf{v}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}} + \|I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}} \|\partial_{t}\mathbf{v}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} dt$$
$$\lesssim \|\mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})}^{2} + \|\nabla\mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \|\partial_{t}\mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}. \tag{3.40}$$

So, by Theorem 3.12, the system (3.7) has a unique solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}) \in E(T)$ . Subtracting (3.37) from (3.7), and then applying again Theorem 3.12 to the resulting system for  $(\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \nabla \bar{\mathbf{P}})$ ,

we obtain

$$\|(\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \nabla \bar{\mathbf{P}})\|_{E(T)} \lesssim \|f(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}), \partial_t R(\mathbf{v}), \nabla g(\mathbf{v})\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}.$$

Plugging (3.39) and (3.40) in the above estimate, and using Lemma 2.12 (ii) and (3.38), we arrive at

$$\|(\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \nabla \bar{\mathbf{P}})\|_{E(T)} \lesssim \|\mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{2}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})}^{2} + \|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \|\Delta \mathbf{v}, \partial_{t} \mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}$$
$$\leq C_{0} \|u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} M(T) + C_{0} (r + M(T))^{2},$$

where  $C_0$  depends on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$ . Now choosing T and r small enough so that

$$r \le \frac{1}{8C_0} \wedge \frac{c_0}{2} \text{ and } M(T) \le r \wedge \frac{r}{2C_0 \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}},$$
 (3.41)

we have  $\|(\bar{\mathbf{u}}, \nabla \bar{\mathbf{P}})\|_{E(T)} \leq r$ . So the solution mapping  $\mathcal{N}$  that assigns  $(\mathbf{v}, \nabla \mathbf{Q})$  to  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  is a self-mapping on  $B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$ .

It remains to show that  $\mathcal{N}$  is contractive. Let  $(\mathbf{v}_i, \nabla \mathbf{Q}_i) \in B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$  and  $(\mathbf{u}_i, \nabla \mathbf{P}_i) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{v}_i, \nabla \mathbf{Q}_i)$ , i = 1, 2. In what follows, for two quantities  $q_1$  and  $q_2$ ,  $\delta q$  always denotes their difference  $q_1 - q_2$ . Then the system for  $(\delta \mathbf{u}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{P})$  reads

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \delta \mathbf{u} - \Delta \delta \mathbf{u} + \nabla \delta \mathbf{P} = \delta f, \\ \operatorname{div} \delta \mathbf{u} = \operatorname{div} \delta R = \delta g, \\ \delta \mathbf{u}|_{t=0} = 0, \end{cases}$$
(3.42)

where  $f_i = f(\mathbf{v}_i, \nabla \mathbf{Q}_i)$ ,  $g_i = g(\mathbf{v}_i)$ , and  $R_i = R(\mathbf{v}_i)$  with  $\mathscr{A}_i = \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_i}$ . We write  $\delta f = (\delta f)_1 + (\delta f)_2$ , where

$$\begin{split} &(\delta f)_1 = \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1}^T - I)\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}) + (I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1}^T)\nabla \delta \mathbf{Q}, \\ &(\delta f)_2 = -\left(\delta \mathscr{A}\right)^T \nabla \mathbf{Q}_2 + \operatorname{div}\left[(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1}^T - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_2} \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_2}^T)\nabla \mathbf{v}_2\right]. \end{split}$$

Along the lines of deriving (3.39), we have

$$\|(\delta f)_1\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_1\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \|\Delta \delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{Q}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}.$$

Applying (2.25), (2.27) and product laws in Besov spaces, we obtain

$$\|(\delta f)_2\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \|\Delta \mathbf{v}_2, \nabla \mathbf{Q}_2\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})}.$$

Summing up the estimates, we have

$$\|\delta f\|_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim (M(T) + r) \|(\delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{Q})\|_{E(T)}.$$
 (3.43)

Note that  $\partial_t \delta R = -\partial_t \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} \delta \mathbf{v} + (I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1}) \partial_t \delta \mathbf{v} - \partial_t (\delta \mathscr{A}) \mathbf{v}_2 - \delta \mathscr{A} \partial_t \mathbf{v}_2$ . Again, applying (2.25), (2.27), (2.29) and (2.32) gives

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_t \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1} \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim & \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_1\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \|\delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^\infty_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}, \\ \|(I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1}) \partial_t \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim & \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_1\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \|\partial_t \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}, \\ \|\partial_t (\delta \mathscr{A}) \mathbf{v}_2\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim & \|\delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^2_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{p,1})} \|\mathbf{v}_2\|_{L^2_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})}, \\ \|\delta \mathscr{A} \partial_t \mathbf{v}_2\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim & \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \|\partial_t \mathbf{v}_2\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}. \end{split}$$

Putting things together, and using (3.38) and interpolation inequality in Besov spaces, we arrive at

$$\|\partial_t \delta R\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim (\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} M^{1/2}(T) + M(T) + r) \|(\delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{Q})\|_{E(T)}. \tag{3.44}$$

For the estimate of  $\delta g$ , we write  $\delta g = \text{Tr}((I - \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_1})D\delta\mathbf{v}) - \text{Tr}(\delta\mathscr{A}D\mathbf{v}_2)$ . We have

$$\|\delta g\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \lesssim \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_{1}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} + \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_{2}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})}$$
$$\lesssim (M(T) + r) \|(\delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{Q})\|_{E(T)}.$$
(3.45)

Now summing up (3.43)–(3.45) and applying Theorem 3.12 to (3.42), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|(\delta \mathbf{u}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{P})\|_{E(T)} \lesssim &\|\delta f, \partial_t \delta R, \nabla \delta g\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \\ \leq &C_1(\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} M^{1/2}(T) + M(T) + r) \|(\delta \mathbf{v}, \nabla \delta \mathbf{Q})\|_{E(T)} \end{split}$$

with  $C_1$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$ . Taking (3.41) into consideration, we choose r and T so small that

$$r \le \frac{c_0}{2} \wedge \frac{1}{8C_0} \wedge \frac{1}{8C_1} \text{ and } M(T) \le r \wedge \frac{r}{2C_0 \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}} \wedge \left(4C_1 \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}\right)^{-2}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{N}$  is a contraction mapping on  $B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$ . So it admits a unique fixed point  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  in  $B_r(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$ , which is a solution to (3.5) in E(T). The proof of uniqueness in E(T) is similar to the stability estimates. So the proof of the theorem is completed.

**Theorem 3.35.** Under the assumptions in Theorem 3.34, there exists a constant  $\varepsilon_0$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$  such that if

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \leq \varepsilon_0,$$

then the local solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  exists globally in time and verifies

$$\|(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})\|_{E(\infty)} := \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + \|\Delta \mathbf{u}, \partial_t \mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}.$$

*Proof.* The proof is almost the same as that of Theorem 3.34. Let us just mention a few modifications. First, we should replace E(T) by  $E(\infty)$  that consists of all pairs  $(\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P})$  satisfying

$$\mathbf{u} \in C_b([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)), \ (\partial_t \mathbf{u}, \Delta \mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}) \in \left(L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3))\right)^3.$$

Second, we replace the reference solution  $(\mathbf{u}_L, \nabla \mathbf{P}_L)$  by (0,0), and choose r as a small number depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1}}$  and  $\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} \lesssim r$ . The details are left to the reader.

For completeness, let us now give the proof of Theorem 3.2 and Theorem 3.9.

*Proof of Theorem 3.9.* Theorem 3.34 and Theorem 3.35 constitute a proof of Theorem 3.9.  $\Box$  *Proof of Theorem 3.2.* First, by Theorem 3.9, we can solve (3.5) for a solution ( $\mathbf{u}, \nabla \mathbf{P}$ ). Define

$$\rho(t,x) = \rho_0(X_{\mathbf{u}}^{-1}(t,x))$$
 and  $(u,P)(t,x) = (\mathbf{u},\mathbf{P})(t,X_{\mathbf{u}}^{-1}(t,x)).$ 

By Lemma 2.24 and Lemma 2.20,  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  has the regularity stated in Definition 3.1 and hence is a strong solution to (1.2).

Let  $(\rho_i, u_i, \nabla P_i)$ , i = 1, 2, be two strong solutions to (1.2) with the same initial value. By Lemma 2.22 and Lemma 2.20, the corresponding unknowns  $(\mathbf{u}_i, \nabla \mathbf{P}_i)$  in Lagrangian coordinates are solutions to (3.5) with the same initial value. So it follows from the uniqueness part of Theorem 3.9 that  $(\rho_1, u_1, P_1) = (\rho_2, u_2, P_2)$ .

## 3.4 Long-time asymptotics

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 3.6. Besides the maximal regularity estimate (3.2), the proof also relies on a recent result in [59].

**Lemma 3.36.** Assume that  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4) and  $\rho_0 - 1 \in \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , and  $u_0 \in \mathcal{P}\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . There exists a constant  $\varepsilon_1$  depending on m and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2}}$  such that if  $u_0$  satisfies

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \le \varepsilon_1,$$

then (1.2) has a global solution  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  that verifies (3.2), (3.3) and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\sqrt{t}(\partial_{t}u + u \cdot \nabla u)||_{L^{2}(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C_{2}||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}, \tag{3.46}$$

where  $C_2$  is a constant depending only on m.

*Proof.* Let  $\varepsilon_1$  be so small that the Theorem 3.2 in the present paper and the Theorem 1.2 in [59] hold. We start with mollifying the data by defining

$$\rho_{0,N} = 1 + \sum_{|j| \le N} \dot{\Delta}_j(\rho_0 - 1)$$
 and  $u_{0,N} = \sum_{|j| \le N} \dot{\Delta}_j u_0$ .

As in [59], the above data generates a global solution  $(\rho_N, u_N, \nabla P_N)$  to (1.2) that satisfies the estimates in [59, Theorem 1.2]. On the other hand, in view of Theorem 3.2,  $(\rho_N, u_N, \nabla P_N)$  also satisfies (3.2) and (3.3). The uniform estimates allow us to pass to a limit to obtain a global strong solution  $(\rho, u, \nabla P)$  to (1.2), which is unique due to Theorem 3.2. Finally, we use the estimates in [59, Theorem 1.2] to get

$$\begin{split} & \|\sqrt{t}(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u)\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} \\ \lesssim & \|\sqrt{t}\partial_t u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})} + \|\sqrt{t}u\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \|u\|_{L^2(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}^{3/2}_{2,1})} \lesssim \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof of the lemma.

We are now in a position to give the proof of Theorem 3.6. Our proof is motivated by [33,34] concerning asymptotics and stability for global solutions to the classical Navier-Stokes equations.

Proof of Theorem 3.6. Fix any  $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_1$ . We first split the initial velocity into two parts  $u_0 = u_{0,h} + u_{0,l}$ , where  $u_{0,h} = \sum_{j \geq -N} \dot{\Delta}_j u_0$  is the high frequency part that belongs to the inhomogeneous Besov space  $B_{2,1}^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , while  $u_{0,l}$  satisfies that

$$||u_{0,l}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}} \leq \varepsilon.$$

By Lemma 3.36,  $(\rho_0, u_{0,l})$  generates a global solution  $(\rho_l, u_l, \nabla P_l)$  to (1.2) that satisfies

$$||u_l||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} + ||\nabla u_l||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{2,1}^{3/2})} + ||\sqrt{t}(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u)||_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \lesssim ||u_{0,l}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}, \quad (3.47)$$

and

$$\|\rho_l - 1\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_2^{1/2})} \lesssim \|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_2^{3/2}}.$$
 (3.48)

Let  $(\rho_h, u_h, P_h) = (\rho - \rho_l, u - u_l, P - P_l)$ . Then  $(\rho_h, u_h, P_h)$  satisfies the system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\rho_{h} + u \cdot \nabla \rho_{h} + u_{h} \cdot \nabla \rho_{l} = 0, \\ \rho(\partial_{t}u_{h} + u \cdot \nabla u_{h}) - \Delta u_{h} + \nabla P_{h} = -\rho u_{h} \cdot \nabla u_{l} - \rho_{h}(\partial_{t}u_{l} + u_{l} \cdot \nabla u_{l}), \\ \operatorname{div} u_{h} = 0, \\ (\rho_{h}, u_{h})|_{t=0} = (0, u_{0,h}). \end{cases}$$
(3.49)

We shall use the energy method to derive an  $L_t^4(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})$  estimate for  $u_h$ . Taking the  $L^2$  inner product of the second equation in (3.49) with  $u_h$ , and using Hölder's inequality and Sobolev inequality, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \| \sqrt{\rho} u_h \|_2^2 + \| \nabla u_h \|_2^2 = -\int \rho(u_h \cdot \nabla u_l) \cdot u_h \, dx - \int \rho_h(\partial_t u_l + u_l \cdot \nabla u_l) \cdot u_h \, dx 
\lesssim \| \nabla u_l \|_{\infty} \| \sqrt{\rho} u_h \|_2^2 + \| \rho_h \|_2 \| \partial_t u_l + u_l \cdot \nabla u_l \|_3 \| \nabla u_h \|_2.$$

To bound  $\|\rho_h\|_2$ , we get from the transport equation in (3.49) that

$$\|\rho_h(t)\|_2 \leq \int_0^t \|u_h \cdot \nabla \rho_l\|_2 d\tau \lesssim \int_0^t \|\nabla u_h\|_2 \|\nabla \rho_l\|_3 d\tau \lesssim \sqrt{t} \|\nabla u_h\|_{L^2_t(L^2)} \|\nabla \rho_l\|_{L^\infty_t(\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1})}.$$

Putting things together and using (3.48), we have

$$\frac{d}{dt} \|\sqrt{\rho} u_h\|_2^2 + \|\nabla u_h\|_2^2 \lesssim \|\nabla u_l\|_{\infty} \|\sqrt{\rho} u_h\|_2^2 + \|\nabla u_h\|_{L_t^2(L^2)} \|\sqrt{t} (\partial_t u_l + u_l \cdot \nabla u_l)\|_3 \|\nabla u_h\|_2.$$

Integrating both sides of the above inequality over the time interval [0, t], then using (3.47), we have

$$\|\sqrt{\rho}u_h\|_2^2(t) + \|\nabla u_h\|_{L_t^2(L^2)}^2 \lesssim \|\sqrt{\rho_0}u_{0,h}\|_2^2 + \int_0^t \|\nabla u_l\|_{\infty} \|\sqrt{\rho}u_h\|_2^2 d\tau + \varepsilon \|\nabla u_h\|_{L_t^2(L^2)}^2.$$

So, if  $\varepsilon$  is small enough, we arrive at

$$\|\sqrt{\rho}u_h\|_2^2(t) + \|\nabla u_h\|_{L_t^2(L^2)}^2 \lesssim \|\sqrt{\rho_0}u_{0,h}\|_2^2 + \int_0^t \|\nabla u_l\|_{\infty} \|\sqrt{\rho}u_h\|_2^2 d\tau.$$

Applying Gronwall's inequality and using (3.47) give us that

$$||u_h||_{L_t^{\infty}(L^2)} + ||\nabla u_h||_{L_t^2(L^2)} \le C||u_{0,h}||_2 \exp\{C||u_{0,l}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}\}.$$

We interpolate to have

$$||u_h||_{L_t^4(\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2})} \le C||u_{0,h}||_2 \exp\{C||u_{0,l}||_{\dot{B}_{2,1}^{1/2}}\}.$$

This implies that there exists a positive number  $t_{\varepsilon}$  such that  $\|u_h(t_{\varepsilon})\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} \leq \varepsilon$ , and so  $\|u(t_{\varepsilon})\|_{\dot{B}^{1/2}_{2,1}} \lesssim \varepsilon$ . Now we apply Lemma 3.36 to conclude that

$$\|u\|_{L^{\infty}((t_{\varepsilon},\infty);\dot{B}_{2}^{1/2})} \lesssim \|u(t_{\varepsilon})\|_{\dot{B}_{2}^{1/2}} \lesssim \varepsilon,$$

which implies (3.4) since  $\varepsilon$  is arbitrarily small. This completes the proof of Theorem 3.6.  $\square$ 

## Chapter 4

## Compressible Flows

#### 4.1 Introduction

The main purpose of this chapter is to investigate the maximal  $L^1$  regularity of (1.6) under the least regularity assumption on the density  $\rho$ . In Chapter 3, we were only able to work in the  $L^2$  (in space) framework due to the presence of pressure. In this chapter, the operator  ${\cal A}$ in (1.6) will be a local operator, and we will work in the general  $L^p$  (in space) framework. A practical benefit of doing so is that one can lower the regularity of the density (see [20]). For the analysis in Chapter 3 to adapt to the  $L^p$  framework, we need to make the extra effort to obtain pointwise bounds for the kernel of the semigroup generated by  $\rho^{-1}A$ . Let us consider two concrete examples. For  $A = \Delta$  (the Laplacian), McIntosh and Nahmod [46] proved that the kernel of the  $L^2$  semigroup  $e^{t\rho^{-1}\Delta}$  generated by  $\rho^{-1}\Delta$  satisfies Gaussian bounds (see also [31]). This guarantees that the semigroup  $e^{t\rho^{-1}\Delta}$  extrapolates to a bounded analytic semigroup on  $L^p$ ,  $1 . Note that the kernel of <math>e^{t 
ho^{-1} \Delta}$  is essentially a scalar kernel. If  ${\cal A}$  is the Lamé operator  $\mathcal{L}$  defined by (2.6), however, (1.6) is a truly coupled system whose fundamental matrix does not necessarily satisfy Gaussian bounds. Nevertheless, we can prove the bounds for the fundamental matrix and its derivatives using a rather classical method if the dimensions of the Euclidean space < 3. The tricks are due to Davies, one is to use Sobolev inequalities to bound  $L^{\infty}$ -norm (see [27]), the other is a perturbation technique to obtain exponential decay (see [26]). In the spirit of [31, 46], once we obtain Gaussian upper bounds of the fundamental matrix (denoted by  $K_t(x,y)$ ), we can easily get the  $C^{1,\gamma}$  estimates for the kernel  $K_t(x,y)\rho^{-1}(y)$ .

Before we study the maximal regularity for (1.6), we will establish a maximal  $L^1$ -in-time regularity result for the abstract Cauchy problem

$$\begin{cases} u'(t) - \mathcal{S}u(t) = f(t), \\ u(0) = x \end{cases}$$

$$(4.1)$$

in homogeneous type spaces. Let us assume that  $\mathcal{S}$  is an unbounded linear operator on a Banach space  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  that generates a bounded analytic semigroup  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}$ . Given (4.1) with x=0,  $\mathcal{S}$  is said to have maximal  $L^r$ -in-time regularity in X for  $r\in[1,\infty]$ , if for every  $f\in L^r((0,\infty);X)$ , (4.1) has a unique solution verifying

$$\|\mathcal{S}u\|_{L^{r}((0,\infty);X)} \le C\|f\|_{L^{r}((0,\infty);X)}.\tag{4.2}$$

The maximal  $L^r$  regularity issue for  $r \in (1, \infty)$  has been extensively studied in the literature. We refer to [25,28,30,35,51], amongst which [25] also covered the  $L^1$  theory, but the global-intime estimate (4.2) holds only if 0 belongs to the resolvent set  $\rho(\mathcal{S})$  of  $\mathcal{S}$  (i.e.,  $\mathcal{S}^{-1} \in \mathscr{L}(X)$ ). It goes without saying that such a condition is very demanding in many concrete examples. Recently, Ri and Farwig [52] established maximal  $L^1$  regularity for  $\mathcal{S}$  in inhomogeneous type spaces without assuming  $0 \in \rho(\mathcal{S})$ . Later, a similar result in the homogeneous space setting was proved by Danchin et al. [18]. The authors in [18] also nicely explained the importance of maximal  $L^1$  regularity for parabolic systems in homogeneous spaces. Our work is more relevant to the one in [18]. But [18] did not cover maximal regularity in homogeneous spaces with negative regularity. For us, working in spaces with negative regularity can weaken the regularity of the density. Here we follow Chapter 3 closely. It turns out that the strategy of the proof of the concrete result in Chapter 3 works equally well for the abstract problem.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.2, we prove the  $C^{1,\gamma}$  regularity for  $K_t(x,y)b(y)$ , where  $K_t(x,y)$  is the matrix-valued heat kernel of  $-b\mathcal{L}$  and  $\mathcal{L}$  is the Lamé operator. We remark that the coefficient b is only bounded and bounded from below by a positive constant. In Section 4.3, we derive the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the abstract Cauchy problem (4.1) when  $\mathcal{S}$  is a composition of bounded and unbounded operators. Then, in Section 4.4, we

apply the abstract theory to study the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for (1.6), where  $\mathcal{A}$  is the Laplacian or the Lamé operator. Section 4.5 is devoted to the global-in-time well-posedness of the pressureless system (1.3). The method in Section 4.5 is also suitable for solving compressible Navier-Stokes equations, and the corresponding result will be reported in Section 4.6.

#### 4.2 Bounds of fundamental matrix

Let  $\rho$  be a measurable function defined in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  satisfying

$$m \le \rho(x) \le \frac{1}{m}$$
, a.e.  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  (4.3)

for some  $m \in (0,1]$ . Denote  $b = \rho^{-1}$ . The main results of this section, in the spirit of those in [31,46], are the Gaussian bounds of the matrix-valued heat kernel of  $-b\mathcal{L}$ .

For notational convenience, we denote  $L^2=L^2(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$ ,  $H^2=H^2(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$ . Let  $\|\cdot\|$  be the  $L^2$  norm induced by the standard  $L^2$  inner product  $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$ , and  $\|\cdot\|_{\rho}$  the weighted norm induced by the inner product

$$\langle u, v \rangle_{\rho} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} u(x) \cdot v(x) \rho(x) \, dx.$$

Roughly, our method is a classical PDE method, and we will study various weighted estimates for the solutions to the parabolic Lamé system

$$\rho(x)\partial_t u - \mathcal{L}u = 0, \text{ in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n. \tag{4.4}$$

Before studying the variable coefficient problem, let us point out a basic fact about the Lamé operator  $\mathcal{L}$ . The assumption (2.7) guarantees the ellipticity of  $-\mathcal{L}$ , and we have

$$\|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}u\|^2 = \langle -\mathcal{L}u, u \rangle = \mu \|\nabla u\|^2 + (\mu + \lambda)\| \operatorname{div} u\|^2 \ge (\mu \wedge \nu) \|\nabla u\|^2 \tag{4.5}$$

for all vectors  $u \in H^2$ .

**Lemma 4.1.** The operator  $b\mathcal{L}: H^2 \subset L^2 \to L^2$  generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{tb\mathcal{L}}\}_{t\geq 0}$  on  $(L^2,\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{\rho})$ , and  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}b$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2,\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle)$  for every  $t\geq 0$ .

*Proof.* First, it is readily to verify that  $b\mathcal{L}$  is a self-adjoint operator on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ . In view of (4.5), we have  $\langle b\mathcal{L}u, u \rangle_{\rho} \leq 0$  for all  $u \in H^2$ . So by Theorem 2.4,  $b\mathcal{L}$  generates an analytic semigroup of contraction  $\{e^{tb\mathcal{L}}\}_{t\geq 0}$  on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ . Since  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\rho})$ , we have for all  $u, v \in L^2$  that

$$\langle e^{tb\mathcal{L}}bu, v \rangle = \langle e^{tb\mathcal{L}}bu, bv \rangle_{\rho} = \langle bu, e^{tb\mathcal{L}}bv \rangle_{\rho} = \langle u, e^{tb\mathcal{L}}bv \rangle.$$

This means that  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}b$  is self-adjoint on  $(L^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$ .

**Lemma 4.2.** Let  $n \in \{2,3\}$ . For every t > 0, the bounded operator  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  on  $L^2$  admits a Schwartz kernel, denoted by  $K_t(x,y)$ , which is bounded and satisfies the pointwise bound

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}}$$

for some constant  $C = C(m, \mu, \lambda)$ .

*Proof.* Since  $n \in \{2, 3\}$ , we get from the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality and (2.10) that

$$||u||_{\infty} \le C||u||^{1-n/4}||\mathcal{L}u||^{n/4} \ u \in H^2.$$
(4.6)

This along with the analyticity of  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  implies that

$$||e^{tb\mathcal{L}}u_0||_{\infty} \le Ct^{-n/4}||u_0||, \ u_0 \in L^2.$$

Then  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  is also bounded from  $L^1$  to  $L^2$  due to the self-adjointness of  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}b$ , and from  $L^1$  to  $L^{\infty}$  due to the semigroup property. So the Schwartz kernel  $K_t(x,y)$  of  $e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  is indeed bounded and satisfies the desired bound. This completes the proof.

Next, we adopt the well-known Davies perturbation method (see [26]) to show Gaussian bounds for the kernel  $S_t(x,y) := K_t(x,y)b(y)$ .

The main theorem in this section is the following:

**Theorem 4.3.** Let  $n \in \{2,3\}$ . For any  $\gamma \in (0,1)$  and t > 0, each entry of  $S_t(x,y)$  is a  $C^{1,\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  function. More precisely, there exist constants  $C_1 = C_1(m,\mu,\lambda)$  and  $C_2 = C_2(m,\mu,\lambda,\gamma)$  such that for all t > 0 and  $x,y,h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|S_t(x,y)| + \sqrt{t}|\nabla_x S_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C_1}{t^{n/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{C_1 t}\right\},$$

$$|\nabla_x S_t(x+h,y) - \nabla_x S_t(x,y)| \le \left(\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{t}}\right)^{\gamma} \frac{C_2}{t^{(n+1)/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{C_2 t}\right\},$$
 (4.7)

and

$$|\nabla_x S_t(x, y + h) - \nabla_x S_t(x, y)| \le \left(\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{t}}\right)^{\gamma} \frac{C_2}{t^{(n+1)/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x - y|^2}{C_2 t}\right\}$$
 (4.8)

provided  $2|h| \leq \sqrt{t}$ .

**Remark 4.4.** In view of Lemma 4.1, we have  $S_t(x,y) = S_t^{\mathsf{T}}(y,x)$ . So the y-derivative also satisfies each of the bounds.

Let  $\mathscr{W}$  denote the set of all bounded real-valued smooth functions  $\psi$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  such that  $\|\nabla\psi\|_{\infty}\leq 1$  and  $\|\nabla^2\psi\|_{\infty}\leq 1$ . Let  $d(x,y):=\sup\{\psi(x)-\psi(y)|\psi\in\mathscr{W}\}.$ 

**Lemma 4.5** (see [27, Lemma 4]). There exists a positive constant C = C(n) such that

$$C^{-1}|x - y| \le d(x, y) \le C|x - y|$$

for all  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ .

Given  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $\psi \in \mathcal{W}$ , define  $\psi_{\alpha}(x) = \psi(\alpha x)$  and  $\phi(x) = e^{\psi_{\alpha}(x)}$ . The analysis is based on the key observation that

$$\langle -\phi^{-1}\mathcal{L}\phi v, u \rangle = \mu \int (\alpha(\nabla \psi)_{\alpha} \otimes v + \nabla v) : (-\alpha(\nabla \psi)_{\alpha} \otimes u + \nabla u) \, dx$$
$$+ (\mu + \lambda) \int (\alpha(\nabla \psi)_{\alpha} \cdot v + \operatorname{div} v) (-\alpha(\nabla \psi)_{\alpha} \cdot u + \operatorname{div} u) \, dx \tag{4.9}$$

for any smooth vector fields u and v. In particular, if u = v, we have

$$\langle -\phi^{-1}\mathcal{L}\phi v, v \rangle \ge \|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}v\|^2 - C\alpha^2 \|v\|^2.$$
 (4.10)

In what follows, we divide the proof of Theorem 4.3 into three lemmas.

**Lemma 4.6.** Let  $n \in \{2,3\}$ . There exists a constant  $C = C(m, \mu, \lambda)$  such that for all t > 0 and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{Ct}\right\}.$$

*Proof.* Denote  $v = \phi^{-1}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}(\phi u_0)$ , where  $u_0 \in L^2$ . Then v is a solution to the system

$$\begin{cases} \rho \partial_t v - \phi^{-1} \mathcal{L} \phi v = 0, \\ v(0) = u_0. \end{cases}$$
(4.11)

We start with the energy estimates for v. Taking inner product of (4.11) with v, then using (4.10), we get

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|v\|_{\rho}^{2} + \|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}v\|^{2} \le C\alpha^{2} \|v\|_{\rho}^{2}.$$

Applying Gronwall's inequality, we obtain

$$||v(t)||^2 + \int_0^t ||(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}v||^2 d\tau \le C||u_0||^2 e^{C\alpha^2 t}.$$
(4.12)

Differentiating (4.11) with respect to t, we get by a similar argument that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 + \|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}\partial_t v\|^2 \le C\alpha^2 \|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2.$$

So the function  $t\mapsto \|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 e^{-C\alpha^2 t}$  is decreasing. Consequently, we have

$$\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 e^{-C\alpha^2 t} \le \frac{2}{t} \int_{t/2}^t \|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 e^{-C\alpha^2 \tau} d\tau. \tag{4.13}$$

Next, multiplying (4.11) by  $v_t$  and integrating in x, then using (4.9) and the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we get

$$\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2} v\|^2 \le C \left(\alpha^2 \|v\| \|\partial_t v\| + |\alpha| \|\nabla v\| \|\partial_t v\|\right).$$

The term  $\|\partial_t v\|$  on the right side can be absorbed by  $\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2$  on the left side. This together with (4.12) and (4.5) gives

$$\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 + \frac{d}{dt}\|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}v\|^2 \le C\left(\alpha^4 e^{C\alpha^2 t}\|u_0\|^2 + \alpha^2\|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2}v\|^2\right).$$

So,

$$\|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 e^{-C\alpha^2 t} + \frac{d}{dt} (\|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2} v\|^2 e^{-C\alpha^2 t}) \le C\alpha^4 \|u_0\|^2. \tag{4.14}$$

Combining (4.12) and (4.14), we have

$$\int_{t/2}^{t} \|\partial_t v\|_{\rho}^2 e^{-C\alpha^2\tau} d\tau + \|(-\mathcal{L})^{1/2} v(t)\|^2 \le C \left(\frac{1}{t} + \alpha^4 t\right) \|u_0\|^2 e^{C\alpha^2 t},$$

which together with (4.13) further implies

$$\|\partial_t v(t)\| \le C\left(\alpha^2 + \frac{1}{t}\right) \|u_0\| e^{C\alpha^2 t} \le \frac{C}{t} \|u_0\| e^{C\alpha^2 t}.$$
 (4.15)

The above estimate should imply the corresponding  $L^2$  estimate of  $\mathcal{L}v$ . To see this, we get by a direct computation that

$$-\mathcal{L}v = -\rho\partial_t v + \mu(\alpha^2|\nabla\psi|^2_{\alpha}v + 2\alpha(\nabla\psi)_{\alpha}\cdot\nabla v + \alpha^2(\Delta\psi)_{\alpha}v)$$

$$+ (\mu + \lambda)(\alpha\operatorname{div}v(\nabla\psi)_{\alpha} + \alpha\nabla v(\nabla\psi)_{\alpha} + \alpha^2(v\cdot(\nabla\psi)_{\alpha})(\nabla\psi)_{\alpha} + \alpha^2(\nabla^2\psi)_{\alpha}v).$$
(4.16)

Then it is easy to see that

$$\|\mathcal{L}v\| \le C(\|\partial_t v\| + \alpha^2 \|v\| + |\alpha| \|\nabla v\|).$$

The first order derivative can be handled by using the interpolation inequality

$$\|\nabla v\| \le C\|v\|^{1/2} \|\mathcal{L}v\|^{1/2}.$$

So,

$$\|\mathcal{L}v\| \le C(\|\partial_t v\| + \alpha^2 \|v\|).$$

Substituting for ||v|| and  $||\partial_t v||$  by (4.12) and (4.15), respectively, we have

$$\|\mathcal{L}v(t)\| \le \frac{C}{t} \|u_0\| e^{C\alpha^2 t}.$$

Now using the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (4.6), we obtain

$$||v(t)||_{\infty} \le \frac{C}{t^{n/4}} ||u_0|| e^{C\alpha^2 t}. \tag{4.17}$$

This means that the operator  $\phi^{-1}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}\phi$  is bounded from  $L^2$  to  $L^{\infty}$ . A duality argument gives the bound from  $L^1$  to  $L^2$ , that is,

$$||v(t)|| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/4}} ||u_0||_1 e^{C\alpha^2 t}.$$
(4.18)

While this along with the semigroup property of  $\phi^{-1}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}\phi$  gives

$$||v(t)||_{\infty} \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} ||u_0||_1 e^{C\alpha^2 t}. \tag{4.19}$$

Noticing that the kernel of  $\phi^{-1}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}\phi$  is  $K_t(x,y)e^{\psi(\alpha y)-\psi(\alpha x)}$ , we get

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\{C\alpha^2 t + \psi(\alpha x) - \psi(\alpha y)\}.$$

Replacing  $\psi$  by  $-\psi$ , we have

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\{C\alpha^2 t - |\psi(\alpha x) - \psi(\alpha y)|\}.$$

It follows by optimizing with respect to  $\psi \in \mathcal{W}$  and applying Lemma 4.5 that

$$|K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{n/2}} \exp\{C\alpha^2 t - C^{-1}|\alpha||x-y|\}.$$

Finally, minimizing the bound by choosing  $\alpha = \frac{|x-y|}{2C^2t}$  completes the proof.

**Lemma 4.7.** Let  $n \in \{2,3\}$ . There exists a constant  $C = C(m, \mu, \lambda)$  such that for all t > 0 and  $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ ,

$$|\nabla_x S_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{(n+1)/2}} \exp\left\{-\frac{|x-y|^2}{Ct}\right\}.$$

*Proof.* Apparently, we only need to show the bound for  $|\nabla_x K_t(x,y)|$ . Denote  $u=e^{tb\mathcal{L}}(\phi u_0)$  and  $v=\phi^{-1}u$ , where  $u_0\in L^2$ . We need to bound the norm  $\|\phi^{-1}\nabla u(t)\|_{\infty}$ . To this end, let us first study the norm  $\|\nabla v(t)\|_{\infty}$  since

$$\phi^{-1}\nabla u(t) = \nabla v + \alpha(\nabla \psi)_{\alpha} \otimes v. \tag{4.20}$$

By the equation (4.16), we see that

$$\|\mathcal{L}v\|_{\infty} \le C(\|\partial_t v\|_{\infty} + \alpha^2 \|v\|_{\infty} + |\alpha| \|\nabla v\|_{\infty}). \tag{4.21}$$

Using Littlewood-Paley and (2.9), one can prove the interpolation inequality

$$\|\nabla v\|_{\infty} \le C\|v\|_{\infty}^{1/2}\|\mathcal{L}v\|_{\infty}^{1/2}.\tag{4.22}$$

Plugging (4.22) in (4.21), we easily get

$$\|\mathcal{L}v\|_{\infty} \le C(\|\partial_t v\|_{\infty} + \alpha^2 \|v\|_{\infty}). \tag{4.23}$$

Then combining (4.20), (4.22) and (4.23), we arrive at

$$\|\phi^{-1}\nabla u(t)\|_{\infty} \le C\left(|\alpha|\|v(t)\|_{\infty} + \|v(t)\|_{\infty}^{1/2}\|\partial_t v(t)\|_{\infty}^{1/2}\right). \tag{4.24}$$

Next, in order to bound  $\|\partial_t v(t)\|_{\infty}$ , we observe that

$$\partial_t v(t) = \phi^{-1} e^{\frac{t}{2}b\mathcal{L}} \phi [\partial_t v(t/2)].$$

So, in view of (4.17), (4.15) and (4.18), we get

$$\|\partial_t v(t)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{C}{t^{n/4}} e^{C\alpha^2 t} \|\partial_t v(t/2)\| \le \frac{C}{t^{1+n/4}} e^{C\alpha^2 t} \|v(t/4)\| \le \frac{C}{t^{1+n/2}} e^{C\alpha^2 t} \|u_0\|_1.$$
 (4.25)

Plugging the above in (4.24) and using (4.19), we have

$$\|\phi^{-1}\nabla u(t)\|_{\infty} \le C\left(\frac{|\alpha|}{t^{n/2}} + \frac{1}{t^{(n+1)/2}}\right)e^{C\alpha^2 t}\|u_0\|_1 \le \frac{C}{t^{(n+1)/2}}e^{C\alpha^2 t}\|u_0\|_1. \tag{4.26}$$

Thus,

$$|\nabla_x K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{(n+1)/2}} \exp\{C\alpha^2 t + \psi(\alpha x) - \psi(\alpha y)\}.$$

Again, we finish the proof by optimizing the bound with respect to  $\psi \in \mathcal{W}$  and then  $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ .  $\square$ 

**Remark 4.8.** From (4.25), we also see that the kernel of  $tb\mathcal{L}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  has a pointwise Gaussian upper bound. In particular,  $tb\mathcal{L}e^{tb\mathcal{L}}$  extends to a bounded operator on  $L^p$  for every t > 0.

**Lemma 4.9.** Let  $n \in \{2,3\}$ . For any  $\gamma \in (0,1)$ , there exists a constant  $C = C(m,\mu,\lambda,\gamma)$  such that for all t > 0 and  $x, y, h \in \mathbb{R}^n$ , (4.7) and (4.8) hold whenever  $2|h| \leq \sqrt{t}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $u = e^{tb\mathcal{L}}u_0$ . By Lemmas 4.1 and 4.6, we have

$$t^{n/4} \|\mathcal{L}u(t)\| + t^{n/2} \|\mathcal{L}u(t)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{C}{t} \|u_0\|_{1}.$$

For any  $\gamma \in (0,1)$ , let  $q = \frac{n}{1-\gamma}$  and  $\theta = \frac{2(1-\gamma)}{n}$ . Then we use the embedding  $\dot{W}^{1,q}(\mathbb{R}^n) \hookrightarrow \dot{C}^{\gamma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  to get

$$\|\nabla u\|_{\dot{C}^{\gamma}} \le C\|\nabla^2 u\|_q \le C\|\mathcal{L}u\|_q \le C\|\mathcal{L}u\|_2^{\theta}\|\mathcal{L}u\|_{\infty}^{1-\theta} \le \frac{C}{t^{(n+1+\gamma)/2}}\|u_0\|_1.$$

Thus, we have for any  $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$  that

$$|\nabla_x K_t(x+h,y) - \nabla_x K_t(x,y)| \le \frac{C}{t^{(n+1)/2}} \left(\frac{|h|}{\sqrt{t}}\right)^{\gamma}.$$

The exponential decay factor in (4.7) can be easily obtained by the observation that

$$|\nabla_x K_t(x+h,y) - \nabla_x K_t(x,y)|$$

$$\leq (|\nabla_x K_t(x+h,y)| + |\nabla_x K_t(x,y)|)^{1-\beta} |\nabla_x K_t(x+h,y) - \nabla_x K_t(x,y)|^{\beta}$$

for any  $\beta \in (0, 1)$ . This proves (4.7).

To prove (4.8), we write

$$\int [\nabla_x S_t(x, y + h) - \nabla_x S_t(x, y)] u_0(y) \, dy = \nabla e^{tb\mathcal{L}}(b\delta_h u_0)$$

with  $\delta_h u_0(x) = u_0(x-h) - u_0(x)$ . Using Lemma 4.7, the right side can be estimated as follows

$$\|\nabla e^{tb\mathcal{L}}(b\delta_h u_0)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{C}{\sqrt{t}} \|e^{\frac{t}{2}b\mathcal{L}}(b\delta_h u_0)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{C|h|}{t^{1+n/2}} \|u_0\|_{1}.$$

The bound in (4.8) can be shown by a similar argument as the first part of the proof. This completes the proof of the lemma.

For completeness, we conclude this section by finishing the proof of Theorem 4.3.

*Proof of Theorem 4.3.* Lemmas 4.6, 4.7 and 4.9 constitute the proof of Theorem 4.3.  $\Box$ 

# 4.3 An abstract $L^1$ theory

In this section, we are concerned with the  $L^1$ -in-time theory for the abstract Cauchy problem (4.1), where S is a composition of bounded and unbounded operator. We follow Chapter 3 closely and we do not explicitly use the theory of interpolation spaces.

Let  $(X, \|\cdot\|)$  be a Banach space. We temporarily just assume

**Assumption 4.1.**  $\mathcal{S}:D(\mathcal{S})\subset X\to X$  is an one-to-one operator that generates a bounded analytic semigroup  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}$  on X.

Given  $s \in (0, 2)$ , we define

$$||x||_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,\mathcal{S}}} := ||t^{-s/2}||t\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x|||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\frac{dt}{t})}$$

and

$$||x||_{\dot{B}_{X_1}^{-s,S}} := ||t^{s/2}||e^{tS}x|||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}.$$

In view of Lemmas 2.13 and 2.14, the above notations make sense if we pretend that  $\mathcal{S}$  is a second-order elliptic operator. For any  $x \in D(\mathcal{S})$ , since  $||t\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x|| \lesssim ||x|| \wedge ||t\mathcal{S}x||$ , we easily see that

$$||x||_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,S}} \lesssim ||x||_{D(S)} := ||x|| + ||Sx||.$$

While for  $x \in R(\mathcal{S})$ , the range of  $\mathcal{S}$ , we have

$$||x||_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}} = ||\mathcal{S}^{-1}x||_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{2-s,\mathcal{S}}} \lesssim ||x||_{R(\mathcal{S})} := ||x|| + ||\mathcal{S}^{-1}x||.$$

**Definition 4.10.** Let  $s \in (0,2)$ . Define  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,\mathcal{S}}$  as the completion of  $(D(\mathcal{S}), \|\cdot\|_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,\mathcal{S}}})$ , and  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  as the completion of  $(R(\mathcal{S}), \|\cdot\|_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}})$ .

The space  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,\mathcal{S}}$  can also be defined via interpolation (see, e.g., [35, Remark 2.4]), but we do not need this fact in this dissertation.

For notational convenience, we temporarily denote  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{\pm s,\mathcal{S}}$  by  $\dot{B}^{\pm s}$ . But we shall not use the abbreviated notations if the norms are associated with different operators.

**Lemma 4.11.** For every  $k \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and  $s \in (0, 2)$ , there exists a constant C depending on s and k such that

$$\sup_{t>0} \|(tS)^k e^{tS} x\|_{\dot{B}^s} \le C \|x\|_{\dot{B}^s}, \ \forall x \in D(S),$$
(4.27)

$$\sup_{t>0} \|(t\mathcal{S})^k e^{t\mathcal{S}} x\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}} \le C \|x\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}}, \ \forall x \in R(\mathcal{S}),$$
(4.28)

$$\|\|(t\mathcal{S})^{k+1}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\|_{\dot{B}^{s}}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\frac{dt}{t})} \le C\|x\|_{\dot{B}^{s}}, \ x \in D(\mathcal{S}), \tag{4.29}$$

and

$$\|\|(t\mathcal{S})^{k+1}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\frac{dt}{t})} \le C\|x\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}}, \ x \in R(\mathcal{S}).$$
(4.30)

*Proof.* The first two inequalities follow immediately from the definitions of the norms and the analyticity of  $e^{tS}$ .

The proofs for (4.29) and (4.30) are similar, so let us only prove (4.29). In view of (4.27), we only need to prove (4.29) for k = 0. Applying Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\tau \mathcal{S}e^{\tau \mathcal{S}}x\|_{\dot{B}^{s}} \frac{d\tau}{\tau} = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-s/2} \|\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{(t+\tau)\mathcal{S}}x\| dt d\tau 
= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\tau}^{\infty} (t-\tau)^{-s/2} \|\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\| dt d\tau 
= \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\| dt \int_{0}^{t} (t-\tau)^{-s/2} d\tau 
= \frac{2}{2-s} \int_{0}^{\infty} t^{-s/2} \|t\mathcal{S}^{2}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\| dt.$$

Finally, by the analyticity of S, we end up with

$$\|\|(t\mathcal{S})e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\|_{\dot{B}^{s}}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+},\frac{dt}{t})} \leq C\int_{0}^{\infty}t^{-s/2}\|\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\|\,dt = C\|x\|_{\dot{B}^{s}}.$$

This completes the proof.

The inequality (4.27) (with k=0) guarantees that  $e^{tS}|_{D(S)}$  extends to a bounded operator on  $\dot{B}^s$  with bounds uniform in t. Denote this extension by  $\mathcal{T}_s(t)$ . Then  $\{\mathcal{T}_s(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  is a bounded semigroup on  $\dot{B}^s$ . Similarly, (4.28) implies that  $e^{tS}$  also extrapolates to a bounded semigroup  $\{\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  on  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ . In fact, both semigroups are strongly continuous.

**Lemma 4.12.**  $\{\mathcal{T}_s(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  (resp.,  $\{\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ ) is a bounded  $C_0$  semigroup on  $\dot{B}^s$  (resp.,  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ ).

*Proof.* For  $x \in D(\mathcal{S})$ , the function  $t \mapsto \mathcal{T}_s(t)x = e^{t\mathcal{S}}x$  belongs to  $C([0,\infty);D(\mathcal{S}))$ , hence  $C([0,\infty);\dot{B}^s)$  since  $D(\mathcal{S}) \hookrightarrow \dot{B}^s$ . One can easily get the strong continuity of  $\mathcal{T}_s(t)$  on  $\dot{B}^s$  by a density argument.

The strong continuity of  $\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)$  on  $\dot{B}^{-s}$  can be proved analogously.

Let us denote by  $\mathcal{G}_s$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  the generators of  $\mathcal{T}_s(t)$  and  $\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)$ , respectively. In general, it is not easy to identify the domain of the generator of a semigroup. However, it would be easier to find a core for the generator.

**Lemma 4.13.** (i) The domain  $D(S^2)$  of  $S^2$  is a core for  $G_s$ , and it holds that  $G_s|_{D(S^2)} = S|_{D(S^2)}$ , that is,  $G_s$  is the closure of  $S:D(S^2) \subset \dot{B}^s \to \dot{B}^s$ .

(ii)  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  is the closure of  $\mathcal{S}: D(\mathcal{S}) \cap R(\mathcal{S}) \subset \dot{B}^{-s} \to \dot{B}^{-s}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $D(S^2)$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^s$  since  $D(S^2)$  is dense in D(S) and D(S) is dense in  $\dot{B}^s$ . For every  $x \in D(S^2)$ , we have

$$\frac{1}{t}(\mathcal{T}_s(t)x - x) = \frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_s(\tau) \mathcal{S}x \, d\tau.$$

Letting  $t \to 0^+$ , the right side converges to Sx in D(S), thus, in  $\dot{B}^s$ . From this, we infer that  $D(S^2) \subset D(\mathcal{G}_s)$  and  $\mathcal{G}_s|_{D(S^2)} = S|_{D(S^2)}$ . Obviously,  $D(S^2)$  is invariant under  $\mathcal{T}_s(t)$ . Thus, by Lemma 2.5,  $D(S^2)$  is a core for  $\mathcal{G}_s$ .

We prove the second part along the lines of the above proof. First,  $D(S) \cap R(S)$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^{-s}$  since  $D(S) \cap R(S)$  is dense in  $(R(S), \|\cdot\|_{R(S)})$  and R(S) is dense in  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ . Next, we can show that  $D(S) \cap R(S) \subset D(\mathcal{G}_{-s})$  and  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}|_{D(S) \cap R(S)} = S|_{D(S) \cap R(S)}$ . Moreover, since  $D(S) \cap R(S)$  is invariant under  $\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)$ , so it is a core for  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$ . This completes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**Lemma 4.14.**  $\{\mathcal{T}_s(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$  (resp.,  $\{\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)\}_{t\geq 0}$ ) is a bounded analytic semigroup on  $\dot{B}^s$  (resp.,  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ ).

*Proof.* We know from Lemma 4.13 that  $D(S^2)$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^s$ , and that  $\mathcal{G}_s\mathcal{T}_s(t)x=\mathcal{S}e^{t\mathcal{S}}x$  for  $x\in D(S^2)$ . It then follows from (4.27) that  $\|t\mathcal{G}_s\mathcal{T}_s(t)x\|_{\dot{B}^s}\leq C\|x\|_{\dot{B}^s}$  for every t>0. So  $\mathcal{T}_s(t)$  is a bounded analytic semigroup. An analogous argument gives the analyticity of  $\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)$  on  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ .

**Remark 4.15.** By Fatou's lemma, now (4.29) (resp., (4.30)) actually holds for data in  $\dot{B}^s$  (resp.,  $\dot{B}^{-s}$ ). In particular, choosing k=0, we have

$$\|\mathcal{G}_s e^{t\mathcal{G}_s} x\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+, \dot{B}^s)} \le C \|x\|_{\dot{B}^s}, \ \forall x \in \dot{B}^s$$
 (4.31)

and

$$\|\mathcal{G}_{-s}e^{t\mathcal{G}_{-s}}x\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}\dot{B}^{-s})} \le C\|x\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}}, \ \forall x \in \dot{B}^{-s}. \tag{4.32}$$

Next, we take advantage of Lemma 4.14, (4.31) and (4.32) to obtain the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the abstract Cauchy problems

$$u'(t) - \mathcal{G}_s u(t) = f(t), \ u(0) = x$$
 (4.33)

and

$$u'(t) - \mathcal{G}_{-s}u(t) = f(t), \ u(0) = x.$$
 (4.34)

**Theorem 4.16.** Assume Assumption 4.1. Let  $s \in (0,2)$  and  $T \in (0,\infty]$ . There exists a constant C = C(s) such that

(i) For any  $x \in \dot{B}^s$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T);\dot{B}^s)$ , the equation (4.33) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C([0,T);\dot{B}^s)$  satisfying

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}^s)} + ||u', \mathcal{G}_s u||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}^s)} \le C||x||_{\dot{B}^s} + C||f||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}^s)}.$$

(ii) For any  $x \in \dot{B}^{-s}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T);\dot{B}^{-s})$ , the equation (4.34) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C([0,T);\dot{B}^{-s})$  satisfying

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}^{-s})} + ||u', \mathcal{G}_{-s}u||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}^{-s})} \le C||x||_{\dot{B}^{-s}} + C||f||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}^{-s})}.$$

*Proof.* Let us only give the proof of the first part. The homogeneous part  $e^{t\mathcal{G}_s}x$  is a classical solution to the homogeneous equation, and satisfies the desired estimate by Lemma 4.14 and (4.31). Denote the inhomogeneous part by  $\mathcal{I}f(t)=\int_0^t e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}_s}f(\tau)\,d\tau$ . Then it is easy to see that  $\|\mathcal{I}f\|_{L^\infty_T(\dot{B}^s)}\lesssim \|f\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^s)}$ . Using again (4.31) and Fubini's theorem, we have

$$\|\mathcal{G}_{s}\mathcal{I}f\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}^{s})} \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \|\mathcal{G}_{s}e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}_{s}}f(\tau)\|_{\dot{B}^{s}} d\tau dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} d\tau \int_{\tau}^{T} \|\mathcal{G}_{s}e^{(t-\tau)\mathcal{G}_{s}}f(\tau)\|_{\dot{B}^{s}} dt \lesssim \|f\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}^{s})}.$$

So by Lemma 2.6,  $u = e^{t\mathcal{G}_s}x + \mathcal{I}f(t)$  is a strong solution to (4.33). The estimate for u' follows directly by the previous estimates and the equation (4.33). So the proof is completed.

Now we consider the abstract Cauchy problem (4.1) associated with a composite operator of the form  $S = \mathcal{BA}$ , where  $\mathcal{B}$  is a bounded invertible operator and  $\mathcal{A}$  is an unbounded operator. Our analysis relies on an abstract version of Theorem 3.10. Such a result has been demonstrated useful for studying density-dependent fluids.

We start with some assumptions.

**Assumption 4.2.** The linear operator  $\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{A}) \subset X \to X$  generates a bounded analytic semigroup  $e^{t\mathcal{A}}$  satisfying  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|e^{t\mathcal{A}}x\| = 0$  for every  $x \in X$ .

**Assumption 4.3.**  $\mathcal{B} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$  is invertible with an inverse  $\mathcal{B}^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(X)$ .

**Assumption 4.4.**  $S = \mathcal{BA} : D(\mathcal{A}) \subset X \to X$  generates a bounded analytic semigroup  $e^{tS}$  satisfying  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|e^{tS}x\| = 0$  for every  $x \in X$ .

**Lemma 4.17.** Under Assumptions 4.2-4.4, it holds for any  $(s,q) \in (0,1) \times [1,\infty]$  and  $x \in X$  that

$$||t^s||e^{tS}x|||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})} \simeq ||t^s||e^{tA}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x|||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+,\frac{dt}{t})}.$$
 (4.35)

Consequently, we have for any  $x \in D(A)$ ,

$$\left\|t^{-s} \left\|t \mathcal{S} e^{t \mathcal{S}} x\right\|\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, \frac{dt}{t})} \simeq \left\|t^{-s} \left\|t \mathcal{A} e^{t \mathcal{A}} x\right\|\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, \frac{dt}{t})}.$$
(4.36)

*Proof.* By Assumption 4.2, we have for any  $x \in X$  that

$$x = -\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\varepsilon}^{1/\varepsilon} \mathcal{A}e^{\tau \mathcal{A}} x \, d\tau,$$

where the limit converges in X. Replacing x by  $\mathcal{B}^{-1}x$  gives

$$\mathcal{B}^{-1}x = -\int_0^\infty \mathcal{A}e^{\tau \mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x \,d\tau.$$

Applying  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{B}$  to both sides of the above identity, we obtain

$$e^{tS}x = -\int_0^\infty e^{tS} \mathcal{B} \mathcal{A} e^{\tau \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B}^{-1} x \, d\tau.$$

We can bound the integrand in two different ways:

$$\|e^{t\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| = \|e^{t\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{S}e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| \lesssim \frac{1}{t}\|e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| \lesssim \frac{1}{t}\|e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\|,$$

or,

$$\|e^{t\mathcal{S}}\mathcal{B}\mathcal{A}e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| \lesssim \|\mathcal{A}e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| \lesssim \frac{1}{\tau}\|e^{\frac{\tau}{2}\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\|.$$

So we arrive at

$$||e^{tS}x|| \lesssim \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{t \vee \tau} ||e^{\tau A}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x|| d\tau.$$

Multiplying both sides by  $t^s$ , we get

$$t^{s} \|e^{t\mathcal{S}}x\| \lesssim \int_{0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^{s} \left(1 \wedge \frac{\tau}{t}\right) \tau^{s} \|e^{\tau\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x\| \frac{d\tau}{\tau}.$$

Since  $s \in (0, 1)$ , it is easy to verify that

$$\sup_{t>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^s \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right) \frac{d\tau}{\tau} + \sup_{\tau>0} \int_0^\infty \left(\frac{t}{\tau}\right)^s \left(\frac{\tau}{t} \wedge 1\right) \frac{dt}{t} \le C.$$

It then follows from Lemma 3.16 that

$$\left\| t^s \| e^{t\mathcal{S}} x \| \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, \frac{dt}{t})} \lesssim \left\| t^s \| e^{t\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B}^{-1} x \| \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, \frac{dt}{t})}.$$

The reverse inequality can be proved in a similar way. By Assumption 4.4, we have for any  $x \in X$  that

$$x = -\int_0^\infty \mathcal{B} \mathcal{A} e^{\tau \mathcal{S}} x \, d\tau.$$

This time we apply  $e^{tA}\mathcal{B}^{-1}$  to both sides of the above identity to get

$$e^{t\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x = -\int_0^\infty e^{t\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{A}e^{\tau\mathcal{S}}x\,d\tau.$$

So bounding the integrand in two different ways as before gives rise to

$$||e^{t\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{B}^{-1}x|| \lesssim \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{t \vee \tau} ||e^{\tau\mathcal{S}}x|| d\tau.$$

This can further imply that

$$\left\| t^s \| e^{t\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{B}^{-1} x \| \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, \frac{dt}{t})} \lesssim \left\| t^s \| e^{t\mathcal{S}} x \| \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}_+, \frac{dt}{t})}.$$

Thus, we have verified (4.35).

Finally, (4.36) follows by replacing x by Sx in (4.35).

We assume additionally that

**Assumption 4.5.**  $A: D(A) \subset X \to X$  is one-to-one.

So S satisfies Assumption 4.1. Then the equivalence of norms implies the equivalence of spaces. More precisely, we get immediately from Lemma 4.17 that

**Corollary 4.18.** Let  $s \in (0,2)$ . Under Assumptions 4.2-4.5, we have

- (i)  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,S} = \dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,A}$  with equivalent norms.
- (ii)  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,S}$  coincides with the completion of R(S) with respect to the norm  $\|\mathcal{B}^{-1}\cdot\|_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,A}}$ , where the spaces and norms associated with A are defined in an obvious way.

It turns out that the operator  $\mathcal{B}$  acting on  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}$  is meaningful. Indeed, (4.35) implies that  $\mathcal{B}|_{R(\mathcal{A})}$  extends to a continuous operator, denoted by  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$ , from  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}$  to  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$ ; and that

 $\mathcal{B}^{-1}|_{R(\mathcal{S})}$  extends to a continuous operator, denoted by  $\overline{\mathcal{B}^{-1}}$ , from  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  to  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}$ . Obviously,  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$  is invertible and  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1} = \overline{\mathcal{B}^{-1}}$ . These facts can help us identify  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  in the following

**Lemma 4.19.** Assuming Assumptions 4.2-4.5, then the operator

$$\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{A}) \cap R(\mathcal{S}) \subset \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}} \to \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}$$

is closable. Moreover, we have  $\mathcal{G}_{-s} = \overline{\mathcal{B}} \overline{\mathcal{A}}$ , where  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  is the closure of the above  $\mathcal{A}$ .

*Proof.* We see from Lemma 4.13 (ii) that  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  is the closure of

$$\mathcal{BA}: D(\mathcal{A}) \cap R(\mathcal{S}) \subset \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}} \to \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}.$$

It follows that  $\overline{\mathcal{A}} \mathrel{\mathop:}= \overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  is the closure of

$$\mathcal{A}: D(\mathcal{A}) \cap R(\mathcal{S}) \subset \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}} \to \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}.$$

This completes the proof.

We conclude this section with the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the Cauchy problem

$$\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}u'(t) - \overline{\mathcal{A}}u(t) = f(t), \ u(0) = x. \tag{4.37}$$

**Theorem 4.20.** Let  $s \in (0,2)$  and  $T \in (0,\infty]$ . Assuming Assumptions 4.2-4.5, if  $x \in \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T);\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}})$ , then (4.37) has a unique strong solution u in the class

$$u \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}), \ u' \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}), \ \overline{\mathcal{A}}u \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}).$$

Moreover, it holds that

$$\|\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}u\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}})} + \|\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}u', \overline{\mathcal{A}}u\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}})} \le C\|\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}x\|_{\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}} + C\|f\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{A}})},$$

where C depends on s,  $\|\mathcal{B}\|_{\mathscr{L}(X)}$  and  $\|\mathcal{B}^{-1}\|_{\mathscr{L}(X)}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}f \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}})$ . Thanks to the continuity of  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}$  and  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}^{-1}$ , and Lemma 4.19, then Theorem 4.20 follows by applying Theorem 4.16 (ii) to the Cauchy problem

$$u'(t) - \overline{\mathcal{B}} \overline{\mathcal{A}} u(t) = \overline{\mathcal{B}} f(t), \ u(0) = x.$$

## 4.4 Concrete examples

In this section, we apply the abstract theory to two concrete examples. The linear system to be considered reads

$$\begin{cases} \rho \partial_t u - \mathcal{A} u = f, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ u(0) = u_0, & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(4.38)

where the coefficient  $\rho$  is a time-independent function satisfying (4.3), and  $\mathcal{A}$  is either the Laplacian  $\Delta$  or the Lamé operator  $\mathcal{L}$  defined by (2.6). We denote  $b = \rho^{-1}$ . From now on, we always assume

**Assumption 4.6.**  $n \geq 2$  if  $A = \Delta$ , or  $n \in \{2, 3\}$  if  $A = \mathcal{L}$ .

We choose  $X=L^p=L^p(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$   $(1< p<\infty),\ D(\mathcal{A})=W^{2,p}=W^{2,p}(\mathbb{R}^n;\mathbb{R}^n)$ , and  $\mathcal{S}=b\mathcal{A}$ . Obviously, Assumptions 4.3 and 4.5 are satisfied. That  $\mathcal{A}$  satisfies Assumption 4.2 is a classical result (see, e.g., [6, Example 3.7.6]). That  $b\Delta:W^{2,p}\subset L^p\to L^p$  satisfies Assumption 4.4 was essentially proved in [31,46]. Analogously, we can use Lemma 4.1, Lemma 4.6 and Remark 4.8 to show that  $b\mathcal{L}$  satisfies Assumption 4.4 as well.

Let us identify the spaces  $\dot{B}^{\pm s,\mathcal{A}}_{X,1}$ . Let  $s\in(0,2)$ . We know from Lemmas 2.13 and 2.14 that the  $\dot{B}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}_{X,1}$ -norm is equivalent to the Besov  $\dot{B}^{-s}_{p,1}$ -norm. One can see from (2.8) and (2.9) that  $R(\Delta)=R(\mathcal{L})$ . It is however easy to see that  $R(\Delta)$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^{-s}_{p,1}$ . So  $\dot{B}^{-s,\mathcal{A}}_{X,1}$  is identified as  $\dot{B}^{-s}_{p,1}$  for every  $s\in(0,2)$ . To identify  $\dot{B}^{s,\mathcal{A}}_{X,1}$ , we assume additionally  $s\leq\frac{n}{p}$  so that  $\dot{B}^{s}_{p,1}$  is complete. Then applying Corollary 4.18 (i), Lemmas 2.13 and 2.14, and the obvious fact that  $D(\mathcal{A})=W^{2,p}$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^{s}_{p,1}$ , we get  $\dot{B}^{s,\mathcal{S}}_{X,1}=\dot{B}^{s}_{X,1}=\dot{B}^{s}_{p,1}$ .

We now turn to the central problem of this section, that is, the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for (4.38). In view of Theorem 4.16 (i) and Lemma 4.13 (i), the smooth solutions to (4.38) should satisfy the *a priori* estimate

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^s)} + ||u', b\mathcal{A}u||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^s)} \lesssim ||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^s} + ||bf||_{L_T^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^s)}.$$

But if  $\rho$  merely satisfies (4.3), we can not handle the inhomogeneous term, nor can we obtain the estimate for  $\|\mathcal{A}u\|_{L^1_T(\dot{B}^s_{p,1})}$ . Solving (4.38) in Besov spaces with negative regularity seems to be a more promising way to lower the regularity of the density. In fact, from Theorem 4.20, the *a priori* estimate for smooth solutions becomes

$$\|\rho u\|_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})} + \|\rho u', \mathcal{A}u\|_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})} \lesssim \|\rho u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}} + \|f\|_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})}.$$

Unfortunately, the above is not quite true if u is only a strong solution.

By Corollary 4.18 (ii), the space  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  agrees with the completion of  $(R(\mathcal{S}), \|\rho\cdot\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}})$ . Then the multiplication by  $\rho$  extends to a bounded operator, still denoted by  $\rho$ , from  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  to  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}$  with a bounded inverse that coincides with the extension of the multiplication by b. By Lemma 4.19, the operator

$$\mathcal{A}: W^{2,p} \cap b\mathcal{A}(W^{2,p}) \subset \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}} \to \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}$$

is closable, and we denote its closure by  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$ . Then One can directly interpret Theorem 4.20 as follows:

**Corollary 4.21.** Let  $s \in (0,2)$  and  $T \in (0,\infty]$ . If  $u_0 \in \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,S}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T);\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})$ , then (4.38) has a unique strong solution u in the class

$$u \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}), \ \partial_t u \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}), \ \overline{\mathcal{A}}u \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}).$$

Moreover, there exists some constant  $C=C(s,m,\mu,\nu)$  such that

$$\|\rho u\|_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})} + \|\rho u', \overline{\mathcal{A}}u\|_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})} \le C\|\rho u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}} + C\|f\|_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})}.$$

Unfortunately, it is not clear whether  $\|\nabla u\|_{\infty}$  can be bounded by  $\|\overline{\mathcal{A}}u\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}}$  for  $n . Note that an element in <math>\dot{B}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}_{X,1}$  might not even be a distribution. So Theorem 4.16 and Corollary 4.21 may be too abstract to be useful in applications if one insists to work in an  $L^1$ -in-time framework. For this, we require a little more regularity on the coefficients.

**Lemma 4.22.** (i) Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 2) \cap (0, \frac{n}{p}]$ . Assume that  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^s_{p, 1})$ . Then  $\mathcal{G}_s$  coincides with the operator

$$b\mathcal{A}: \dot{B}_{p,1}^s \cap \dot{B}_{p,1}^{2+s} \subset \dot{B}_{p,1}^s \to \dot{B}_{p,1}^s.$$
 (4.39)

(ii) Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$  and  $s \in (0, 2)$ . Assume that  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}_{p, 1}^{-s})$ . Then the space  $\dot{B}_{X, 1}^{-s, \mathcal{S}}$  coincides with  $\dot{B}_{p, 1}^{-s}$ , and the operator  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  is given by

$$\mathcal{A}: \dot{B}_{p,1}^{2-s} \cap \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s} \subset \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s} \to \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}.$$
 (4.40)

*Proof.* (i) First, along the same lines of the proof of Lemma 4.13 (i), we can show that  $G_s$  is the closure of

$$S: \{ u \in D(S) | Su \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^s \} \subset \dot{B}_{p,1}^s \to \dot{B}_{p,1}^s. \tag{4.41}$$

Since  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^s_{p,1})$ , we can identify  $\{u \in D(\mathcal{S}) | \mathcal{S}u \in \dot{B}^s_{p,1}\} = \{u \in W^{2,p} | b\mathcal{A}u \in \dot{B}^s_{p,1}\}$  as the inhomogeneous Besov space  $B^{2+s}_{p,1} = L^p \cap \dot{B}^{2+s}_{p,1}$ . On the other hand, it is easy to see that the operator  $b\mathcal{A}$  defined in (4.39) is closed and is an extension of the operator  $\mathcal{S}$  defined in (4.41). The desired result then follows from the fact that  $B^{2+s}_{p,1}$  is dense in  $\dot{B}^s_{p,1} \cap \dot{B}^{2+s}_{p,1}$ .

(ii) Let us first refine several results in Section 4.3. Using (4.35) and the fact that  $R(A) = A(W^{2,p})$  is dense in  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}$ , we can verify that  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,S}$  agrees with the completion of

$$\mathcal{D}_{-s} := \{ u \in L^p | \|\rho u\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}} < \infty \}$$

with respect to the norm  $\|\rho\cdot\|_{\dot{B}^{-s}_{p,1}}$ . Then (4.28) holds for every  $u\in\mathcal{D}_{-s}$ , so  $\mathcal{T}_{-s}(t)$  is the continuous extension of  $e^{t\mathcal{S}}|_{\mathcal{D}_{-s}}$  to  $\dot{B}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}_{X,1}$ . From this, we can follow the same lines as the proof of Lemma 4.13 (ii) to show that  $\mathcal{G}_{-s}$  is the closure of

$$b\mathcal{A}: W^{2,p}\cap \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}\subset \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}\to \dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}.$$

Now assuming  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})$ , it is easy to see that  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{-s,\mathcal{S}}$  coincides with  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}$ . So  $\rho \mathcal{G}_{-s}$  is the closure of

$$A: W^{2,p} \cap \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s} \subset \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s} \to \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}.$$

But it is not difficult to see that the closure of the above operator is the one defined by (4.40). This completes the proof.

Finally, we obtain a concrete version of maximal  $L^1$  regularity for (4.38).

**Theorem 4.23.** Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $s \in (0, 2)$  and  $T \in (0, \infty]$ . Let  $\rho$  satisfy (4.3) and  $b = \rho^{-1}$ .

(i) Assume that  $s \leq \frac{n}{p}$  and  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^s_{p,1})$ . Then for  $u_0 \in \dot{B}^s_{p,1}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}^s_{p,1})$ , the equation (4.38) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C([0,T); \dot{B}^s_{p,1})$  satisfying

$$||u||_{L_T^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{n,1}^s)} + ||\partial_t u, b\mathcal{A}u||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{n,1}^s)} \le C||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{n,1}^s} + C||bf||_{L_T^{1}(\dot{B}_{n,1}^s)}$$

for some constant C depending on  $s, m, \mu$  and  $\nu$ .

(ii) Assume  $\rho, b \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})$ . If  $u_0 \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s}$  and  $f \in L^1((0,T); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})$ , then (4.38) has a unique strong solution  $u \in C([0,T); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{-s})$  satisfying

$$\|\rho u\|_{L_{T}^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{n}^{-s})} + \|\rho \partial_{t} u, \mathcal{A} u\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{n}^{-s})} \le C \|\rho u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{n}^{-s}} + C \|f\|_{L_{T}^{1}(\dot{B}_{n}^{-s})}$$
(4.42)

for some constant C depending on  $s, m, \mu$  and  $\nu$ .

*Proof.* The first part follows from Theorem 4.16 (i), the equivalence between  $\dot{B}_{X,1}^{s,S}$  and  $\dot{B}_{p,1}^{s}$ , and Lemma 4.22 (i). The second part follows from Corollary 4.21 and Lemma 4.22 (ii).

### 4.5 An application to pressureless flows

In this section, we study the global-in-time well-posedness for the pressureless flow

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \rho(\partial_t u + u \cdot \nabla u) - \mathcal{L}u = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n, \\ (\rho, u)|_{t=0} = (\rho_0, u_0), & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^n, \end{cases}$$
(4.43)

where  $\mathcal{L}$  is the Lamé operator defined in (2.6) with coefficients satisfying (2.7). The structure of our proof is in the spirit of the one established in [20]. But the substantial progress we make is the removal of the smallness assumption on the fluctuation of the initial density.

In this section, we always assume that

**Assumption 4.7.** Let 
$$n \in \{2,3\}$$
,  $p \in (1,2n) \setminus \{n\}$ ,  $\rho_0$  satisfy (4.3),  $u_0 \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1} = (\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^n))^n$ , and  $\rho_0, \rho_0^{-1} \in \mathcal{M}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})$ .

Let us be clear about what it means by a solution to the system (4.43).

**Definition 4.24.** The unknown  $(\rho, u)$  is called a global-in-time solution to (4.43) if

$$\rho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}^{n}) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \mathscr{M}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})),$$

$$u \in C([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}), \ (\partial_{t}u, \mathcal{L}u) \in \left(L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})\right)^{2},$$

 $\rho$  is a weak solution to the continuity equation of (4.43) (see Definition 2.18),  $(\rho, u)$  satisfies the momentum equation of (4.43) for a.e.  $t \in (0, \infty)$ ,  $u(0) = u_0$ , and  $\rho(t) \stackrel{*}{\rightharpoonup} \rho_0$  in  $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$  as  $t \to 0^+$ .

The main result in the section is the following

**Theorem 4.25.** Assuming Assumption 4.7, there exists a positive constant c depending on  $m, p, n, \mu, \nu, \|\rho_0\|_{\mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1})}$  and  $\|\rho_0^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1})}$  such that if  $\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \leq c$ , then (4.43) has a unique global-in-time solution.

**Remark 4.26.** The above theorem holds without constraint on the dimensions if  $\mathcal{L}$  is replaced by  $\Delta$ .

Firstly, we shall convert (4.43) into its Lagrangian formulation. Let  $X(t,y) = X_u(t,y)$  be the trajectory of the velocity field u. Recall the notations  $A(t,y) = \left(D_y X(t,y)\right)^{-1}$ ,  $J(t,y) = \det DX(t,y)$ , and  $\mathscr{A}(t,y) = \operatorname{adj} DX(t,y)$ . Then introduce new unknowns in Lagrangian coordinates and define

$$(\boldsymbol{\rho}, \mathbf{u})(t, y) = (\rho, u)(t, X(t, y)). \tag{4.44}$$

The continuity equation in (4.43) has a unique weak solution  $\rho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n)$  such that  $J\rho \equiv \rho_0$  (see Theorem 2.19). Using (2.18), (2.19) and the chain rule, one can formally convert the system (4.43) into its Lagrangian formulation that reads

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \mu \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \mathbf{u}) - (\mu + \lambda) \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) = 0, \\ \mathbf{u}|_{t=0} = u_0, \end{cases}$$
(4.45)

where we associate  $\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{u}}$  and  $A_{\mathbf{u}}$  with the new velocity  $\mathbf{u}$ , namely,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\mathbf{u}} = \operatorname{adj} DX_{\mathbf{u}}, \text{ and } A_{\mathbf{u}} = (DX_{\mathbf{u}}(t, y))^{-1}$$

with

$$X_{\mathbf{u}}(t,y) = y + \int_0^t \mathbf{u}(\tau,y) d\tau.$$

We shall prove the well-posedness of the highly nonlinear system (4.45) using the contraction mapping theorem. In order to apply the linear theory established in Theorem 4.23, we shall

rewrite (4.45) as

$$\rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \mathcal{L} \mathbf{u} = f(\mathbf{u}),$$

where

$$f(\mathbf{u}) = \mu \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} - I_n) \nabla \mathbf{u}) + (\mu + \lambda) \{(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} - I_n) \nabla \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) + \nabla \operatorname{Tr}((A_{\mathbf{u}} - I_n) D \mathbf{u})\}.$$

To bound the above nonlinear term, we invoke (2.25) and the product laws in Besov spaces to get

$$||f(\mathbf{v})||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{v}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}^{2}$$
(4.46)

whenever v satisfies (2.24).

Again, in view of Theorem 4.23, we shall perform the contraction mapping theorem in the Banach space  $E_p$  defined as

$$E_p := \left\{ \mathbf{u} \in C_b([0, \infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}) | \partial_t \mathbf{u} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}), \mathbf{u} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p+1}) \right\}$$

endowed with the norm

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} := \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})} + \|\partial_t \mathbf{u}, \mathcal{L}\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})}.$$

Now we can prove the global-in-time well-posedness for (4.45).

**Theorem 4.27.** Assuming Assumption 4.7, there exists a positive constant c depending on  $m, p, n, \mu, \nu, \|\rho_0\|_{\mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1})}$  and  $\|\rho_0^{-1}\|_{\mathcal{M}(\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1})}$  such that if  $\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \leq c$ , then (4.45) has a unique global-in-time strong solution  $\mathbf{u} \in E_p$  satisfying  $\|\mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} \lesssim \|u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}}$ .

*Proof.* For r > 0, let  $E_p(r)$  denote the closed ball in  $E_p$  centered at u = 0 with radius r. We shall construct a contraction mapping on  $E_p(r)$  by solving the linearized system

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \mathcal{L} \mathbf{u} = f(\mathbf{v}), \\ \mathbf{u}|_{t=0} = u_0, \end{cases}$$
(4.47)

where the input  $\mathbf{v} \in E_p(r)$ . To bound the inhomogeneous term, we require r to be small so that

$$\|\nabla \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{n,1}^{n/p})} \le C\|\mathcal{L}\mathbf{v}\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{n,1}^{n/p-1})} \le C_1 r \le c_0.$$

This then implies (4.46).

Now, applying Theorem 4.23, we can solve (4.47) for a strong solution  $\mathbf{u} \in E_p$  satisfying

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} \le C\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}} + C\|f(\mathbf{v})\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})} \le C_2\|u_0\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}} + C_2r^2.$$

To ensure that the mapping  $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{u}$  is a self-map on  $E_p(r)$ , we need

$$r \le \frac{c_0}{C_1} \wedge \frac{1}{2C_2}$$

and

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1}} \le \frac{r}{2C_2}.$$

Next, we need to show the contraction property of the mapping  $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{u}$ . Given  $\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2 \in E_p(r)$ , let  $\mathbf{u}_1, \mathbf{u}_2 \in E_p(r)$  be the corresponding solutions to (4.47). As before, for two quantities  $q_1$  and  $q_2$ , we always denote by  $\delta q$  their difference  $q_1 - q_2$ . Then applying Theorem 4.23 to the system satisfied by  $\delta \mathbf{u}$ , we obtain

$$\|\delta \mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} \le C \|f(\mathbf{v}_1) - f(\mathbf{v}_2)\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{n,1}^{n/p-1})}.$$

We write

$$f(\mathbf{v}_{1}) - f(\mathbf{v}_{2}) = \mu \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{1}A_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} - I)\nabla\delta\mathbf{v}) + \mu \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{1}A_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} - \mathscr{A}_{2}A_{2}^{\mathsf{T}})\nabla\mathbf{v}_{2})$$

$$+ (\mu + \lambda)(\mathscr{A}_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} - I)\nabla\operatorname{Tr}(A_{1}D\delta\mathbf{v}) + (\mu + \lambda)(\mathscr{A}_{1}^{\mathsf{T}} - I)\nabla\operatorname{Tr}(\delta A D\mathbf{v}_{2})$$

$$+ (\mu + \lambda)(\delta\mathscr{A})^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\operatorname{Tr}(A_{2}D\mathbf{v}_{2}) + (\mu + \lambda)\nabla\operatorname{Tr}((A_{1} - I)D\delta\mathbf{v})$$

$$+ (\mu + \lambda)\nabla\operatorname{Tr}(\delta A D\mathbf{v}_{2}),$$

where  $\mathscr{A}_i = \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{v}_i}$  and  $A_i = A_{\mathbf{v}_i}$ , i = 1, 2. Applying (2.25), (2.27) and product laws in Besov spaces, we arrive at

$$||f(\mathbf{v}_1) - f(\mathbf{v}_2)||_{L^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p-1})} \le C||\nabla \mathbf{v}_1, \nabla \mathbf{v}_2||_{L^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})} ||\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}||_{L^1(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{n/p})}.$$

We thus infer

$$\|\delta \mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} \le C \|\nabla \mathbf{v}_1, \nabla \mathbf{v}_2\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{n_1}^{n/p})} \|\nabla \delta \mathbf{v}\|_{L^1(\dot{B}_{n_1}^{n/p})} \le C_3 r \|\delta \mathbf{v}\|_{E_p},$$

from which we see that  $\|\delta \mathbf{u}\|_{E_p} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\delta \mathbf{v}\|_{E_p}$  if  $r \leq \frac{1}{2C_3}$ .

Finally, we choose

$$r = \frac{c_0}{C_1} \wedge \frac{1}{2C_2} \wedge \frac{1}{2C_3}$$
 and  $c = \frac{r}{2C_2}$ .

Then the mapping  $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{u}$  is a contraction on  $E_p(r)$ , thus, admits a unique fixed point  $\mathbf{u} \in E_p(r)$ , which is a solution to (4.45) in  $E_p$ . The proof of the uniqueness of strong solutions in  $E_p$  is similar to the proof of the contraction property of the mapping  $\mathbf{v} \mapsto \mathbf{u}$ . This completes the proof of the theorem.

**Remark 4.28.** For  $n , in view of (4.42), one can prove the global well-posedness under the assumption that <math>\|\rho_0 u_0\|_{\dot{B}^{n/p-1}_{p,1}} \le c$  with c only depending on  $m, p, n, \mu, \nu$ .

Let us finish the proof of Theorem 4.25.

*Proof of Theorem 4.25.* The proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.2.

### 4.6 An application to heat-conductive compressible Navier–Stokes

In this section, we study the global well-posedness of the three-dimensional heat-conductive compressible Navier-Stokes equations

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}\rho + \operatorname{div}(\rho u) = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ \rho(\partial_{t}u + u \cdot \nabla u) - \mathcal{L}u + \nabla P = 0, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ c_{v}\rho(\partial_{t}\theta + u \cdot \nabla\theta) - \kappa\Delta\theta = \frac{\mu}{2}|\nabla u + Du|^{2} + \lambda(\operatorname{div}u)^{2} - P\operatorname{div}u, & \text{in } (0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^{3}, \\ (\rho, u, \theta)|_{t=0} = (\rho_{0}, u_{0}, \theta_{0}), & \text{on } \mathbb{R}^{3}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.48)$$

Compared with (4.43), a pressure term is added in the momentum equation of (4.48), and the temperature equation (i.e., the  $\theta$  equation) is included.  $\mathcal{L}$  is the Lamé operator defined in (2.6) with coefficients satisfying (2.7).  $c_v$  and  $\kappa$  are positive constants. For a perfect gas, a good approximation of the pressure P is provided by Boyle's law

$$P = P(\rho, \theta) = R\rho\theta,$$

where R is a constant.

There is a vast amount of literature that is devoted to the well-posedness of (4.48), but we will review a few of the results that are most relevant to ours. Note that (4.48) is invariant under the scaling

$$(\rho, u, \theta)(t, x) \leadsto (\rho, u, \theta)_{\lambda}(t, x) := (\rho, \lambda u, \lambda^2 \theta)(\lambda^2 t, \lambda x).$$

Based on this scaling-invariance, Chikami and Danchin [14] proved the local well-posedness of the full compressible Navier-Stokes equations with variable coefficients in critical Besov spaces, but the global well-posedness was not covered in their paper. Global well-posedness of strong solutions close to the equilibrium  $(\rho, u, \theta) = (1, 0, 1)$  in Sobolev spaces was first proved in [45]. This result was generalized in [38] to allow initial vacuum. The smallness assumption

on the initial data in [38] is imposed as

$$\int \left(\frac{1}{2}\rho_0|u_0|^2 + R(\rho_0\log\rho_0 - \rho_0 + 1) + c_v\rho_0(\theta_0 - \log\theta_0 - 1)\right) dx \ll 1,$$

where  $\rho_0$  and  $\theta_0$  are bounded and nonnegative functions. Note that this assumption implies that

$$\|\rho_0 - 1\|_2 + \|\theta_0 - 1\|_2 \ll 1.$$

Global well-posedness in the presence of a vacuum without smallness assumption on the fluctuation of  $\rho_0$  was recently obtained by Li [42]. For more results concerning the well-posedness of (4.48), we refer the reader to the references in [42].

The main result in this section reads

**Theorem 4.29.** Let  $p \in (1,3) \setminus \{\frac{3}{2}\}$ . Assume that  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4) and  $(\rho_0 - 1, u_0, \theta_0) \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . There exists a constant  $\varepsilon_0$  depending on  $p, m, \mu, \lambda, c_v, \kappa, R$  and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p}}$  such that if

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}} + ||\theta_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}} \le \varepsilon_0, \tag{4.49}$$

then (4.48) has a unique solution  $(\rho, u, \theta)$  satisfying

$$\rho - 1 \in C_b([0, \infty); \dot{B}_{p, 1}^{3/p}), \ u \in C_b([0, \infty); \dot{B}_{p, 1}^{3/p-1}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p, 1}^{3/p+1}),$$
$$\theta \in C_b([0, \infty); \dot{B}_{p, 1}^{3/p-2}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p, 1}^{3/p})$$

and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + ||\partial_{t}u, \Delta u||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + ||\theta||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})} + ||\partial_{t}\theta, \Delta\theta||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}$$

$$\leq C \left( ||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}} + ||\theta_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}} \right). \tag{4.50}$$

**Remark 4.30.** Compared with [42], we cannot allow an initial vacuum, but the coefficients  $\mu$  and  $\lambda$  in our result satisfies (2.7) only, while the assumption  $2\mu > \lambda$  was assumed in [42].

**Remark 4.31.** Roughly, the underlying reason why Theorem 4.29 holds is that  $(\rho, u, \theta) = (\rho_0, 0, 0)$  is an equilibrium of (4.48). So one can expect global well-posedness of (4.48) under the assumption (4.49) but without smallness assumption on the fluctuation of  $\rho_0$ . It is for the same reason that our method does not work for the barotropic compressible Navier-Stokes equations because  $(\rho, u) = (\rho_0, 0)$  is not an equilibrium.

**Remark 4.32.** If the initial data is smooth, it is quite standard to derive from (4.50) more time-independent estimates for some higher norms of the solution  $(\rho, u, \theta)$  and decay estimates for u and  $\theta$ .

Remark 4.33. It follows from (4.50) that  $\|\nabla u\|_{L^1(L^\infty)} + \|\theta\|_{L^1(L^\infty)} \ll 1$ . By the Cauchy-Lipschiz theorem, we infer that  $\frac{|X(t,y_1)-X(t,y_2)|}{|y_1-y_2|} \approx 1$  for any  $t \geq 0$  and  $y_1,y_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . So the microscopic motion of the gas particles is quite stable despite the large density oscillation. This result is in agreement with physics intuition: the motion of the gas particles is inactive in a low-temperature environment. Nevertheless, the  $L^\infty$  norm of the initial temperature can be large.

In the rest of this section, we will just outline the proof of Theorem 4.29 by following the lines of the proof of Theorem 4.25.

**Step 1. Lagrangian formulation of** (4.48). As in Section 4.5, we here introduce variables in Lagrangian coordinates:

$$(\boldsymbol{\rho}, \mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta})(t, y) = (\rho, u, \theta)(t, X(t, y)).$$

Then (4.48) can be reformulated as

$$\begin{cases} \rho_{0}\partial_{t}\mathbf{u} - \mu \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\mathbf{u}) - (\mu + \lambda)\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}}D\mathbf{u}) + R\operatorname{div}(\rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}A_{\mathbf{u}}) = 0, \\ c_{v}\rho_{0}\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\theta} - \kappa \operatorname{div}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\boldsymbol{\theta}) = \mu\operatorname{Tr}[(A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\mathbf{u} + D\mathbf{u}A_{\mathbf{u}})\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}}\nabla\mathbf{u}] \\ + \lambda\operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}}D\mathbf{u})\operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}D\mathbf{u}) - R\rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}\operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}}D\mathbf{u}), \end{cases}$$

$$(4.51)$$

$$(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta})|_{t=0} = (u_{0}, \theta_{0}).$$

We shall rewrite the above system as

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t \mathbf{u} - \mathcal{L} \mathbf{u} + \nabla (R \rho_0 \boldsymbol{\theta}) = f(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta}), \\ c_v \rho_0 \partial_t \boldsymbol{\theta} - \kappa \Delta \boldsymbol{\theta} = g(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta}), \\ (\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta})|_{t=0} = (u_0, \theta_0), \end{cases}$$

where

$$f(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \mu \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} - I_n) \nabla \mathbf{u}) + (\mu + \lambda) (\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) - \nabla \operatorname{div} \mathbf{u}) - R \operatorname{div}(\rho_0 \boldsymbol{\theta}(A_{\mathbf{u}} - I_n))$$

and

$$g(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta}) = \kappa \operatorname{div}((\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} - I_n) \nabla \boldsymbol{\theta}) + \mu \operatorname{Tr}[(A_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \mathbf{u} + D \mathbf{u} A_{\mathbf{u}}) \mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}}^{\mathsf{T}} \nabla \mathbf{u}]$$
$$+ \lambda \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) \operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{A}_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}) - R \rho_0 \boldsymbol{\theta} \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\mathbf{u}} D \mathbf{u}).$$

Step 2. Estimates for linear system. Next, we need the maximal  $L^1$  regularity for the following linear system

$$\begin{cases} \rho_0 \partial_t u - \mathcal{L}u + \nabla (R\rho_0 \theta) = f, \\ c_v \rho_0 \partial_t \theta - \kappa \Delta \theta = g, \\ (u, \theta)|_{t=0} = (u_0, \theta_0). \end{cases}$$

$$(4.52)$$

As a consequence of Theorem 4.23, we have the following

**Proposition 4.34.** Let  $p \in (1,3) \setminus \{\frac{3}{2}\}$ . Assume that  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4) and  $(\rho_0 - 1, u_0, \theta_0) \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . Then (4.52) has a unique solution  $(u,\theta)$  satisfying

$$u \in C_b([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p+1}), \ \theta \in C_b([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})$$

and

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + ||\partial_{t}u, \Delta u||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + ||\theta||_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})} + ||\partial_{t}\theta, \Delta\theta||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}$$

$$\leq C \left( ||u_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}} + ||\theta_{0}||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}} + ||f||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + ||g||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})} \right),$$

where C is a constant depending on  $p, m, \mu, \lambda, c_v, \kappa, R$  and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}^{3/p}_{p,1}}$ .

**Remark 4.35.** The assumption p < 3 guarantees that both  $\rho_0$  and  $\rho_0^{-1}$  are multipliers of  $\dot{B}^s_{p,1}(\mathbb{R}^3)$  for s = 3/p, 3/p - 1 and 3/p - 2.

**Step 3. Estimates of nonlinearities.** According to the product laws in Besov spaces and Lemma 2.25, we have

$$||f(\mathbf{u},\boldsymbol{\theta})||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{u}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})}^{2} + ||\nabla \mathbf{u}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} ||\rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})}, \tag{4.53}$$

and

$$\|g(\mathbf{u},\boldsymbol{\theta})\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})} \lesssim \|\nabla \mathbf{u}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} \left(\|\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} + \|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + \|\rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}\right),$$

$$(4.54)$$

provided that  $1 \le p < 3$  and  $\mathbf{u}$  satisfies (2.23) and (2.24) with n = 3. Let  $(\mathbf{u}_i, \boldsymbol{\theta}_i)$ , i = 1, 2, satisfy the same assumptions as  $(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$ . Then we have

$$||f(\mathbf{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}) - f(\mathbf{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2})||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} \lesssim ||\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1}, \nabla \mathbf{u}_{2}, \rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} ||\nabla \delta \mathbf{u}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} + ||\nabla \mathbf{u}_{1}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} ||\rho_{0}\delta\boldsymbol{\theta}||_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})},$$

$$(4.55)$$

and

$$\|g(\mathbf{u}_{1},\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}) - g(\mathbf{u}_{2},\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2})\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}$$

$$\lesssim \|\nabla\delta\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} \left(\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} + \|\mathbf{u}_{1},\mathbf{u}_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + \|\rho_{0}\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}\right)$$

$$+ \|\nabla\mathbf{u}_{1}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} \left(\|\delta\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})} + \|\rho_{0}\delta\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}\right).$$

$$(4.56)$$

**Step 4. Contraction mapping theorem.** In view of Proposition 4.34 and the estimates (4.53)-(4.56), one can apply the contraction mapping theorem to prove the following

**Theorem 4.36.** Let  $p \in (1,3) \setminus \{\frac{3}{2}\}$ . Assume that  $\rho_0$  satisfies (1.4) and  $(\rho_0 - 1, u_0, \theta_0) \in \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}(\mathbb{R}^3) \times \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . There exists a constant  $\varepsilon_0$  depending on  $p, m, \mu, \lambda, c_v, \kappa, R$  and  $\|\rho_0 - 1\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p}}$  such that if

$$||u_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}} + ||\theta_0||_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}} \le \varepsilon_0,$$

then (4.51) has a unique solution  $(\mathbf{u}, \boldsymbol{\theta})$  satisfying

$$\mathbf{u} \in C_b([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p+1}), \ \boldsymbol{\theta} \in C_b([0,\infty); \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}) \cap L^1(\mathbb{R}_+; \dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p})$$

and

$$\|\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + \|\partial_{t}\mathbf{u}, \Delta\mathbf{u}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1})} + \|\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{\infty}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})} + \|\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{\theta}, \Delta\boldsymbol{\theta}\|_{L^{1}(\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2})}$$

$$\leq C \left(\|u_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-1}} + \|\theta_{0}\|_{\dot{B}_{p,1}^{3/p-2}}\right).$$

**Step 5. Back to Eulerian coordinates.** Going back to the Eulerian coordinates, we finish the proof of Theorem 4.29.

#### **Bibliography**

- [1] H. Abidi, Équation de Navier-Stokes avec densité et viscosité variables dans l'espace critique, *Rev. Mat. Iberoam.* **23** (2007), no. 2, 537-586.
- [2] H. Abidi, G. Gui, P. Zhang, On the wellposedness of three-dimensional inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations in the critical spaces, *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **204** (2012), no. 1, 189-230.
- [3] H. Abidi, G. Gui, P. Zhang, Well-posedness of 3-D inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations with highly oscillatory initial velocity field, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* (9) **100** (2013), no. 2, 166-203.
- [4] H. Abidi, M. Paicu, Existence globale pour un fluide inhomogène, *Ann. Inst. Fourier* (*Grenoble*) **57** (2007), no. 3, 883-917.
- [5] L. Ambrosio, Transport equation and Cauchy problem for non-smooth vector fields, Calculus of variations and nonlinear partial differential equations, 1-41, Lecture Notes in Math., 1927, Springer, Berlin, 2008.
- [6] W. Arendt, C. J. K. Batty, M. Hieber, F. Neubrander, Vector-valued Laplace transforms and Cauchy problems, Second edition. Monographs in Mathematics, 96. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, 2011.
- [7] P. Auscher, Regularity theorems and heat kernel for elliptic operators, *J. London Math. Soc.* (2) **54** (1996), no. 2, 284-296.
- [8] P. Auscher, P. Tchamitchian, *Square root problem for divergence operators and related topics*, Astérisque No. 249 (1998).

- [9] H. Bahouri, J.-Y. Chemin, R. Danchin, *Fourier analysis and nonlinear partial differential equations*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], **343**, Springer, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [10] L. Boudin, A solution with bounded expansion rate to the model of viscous pressureless gases, *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **32** (2000), no. 1, 172-193.
- [11] H.-Q. Bui, X. T. Duong, L. Yan, Calderón reproducing formulas and new Besov spaces associated with operators, *Adv. Math.* **229** (2012), no. 4, 2449-2502.
- [12] C. Burtea, Optimal well-posedness for the inhomogeneous incompressible Navier-Stokes system with general viscosity, *Anal. PDE* **10** (2017), no. 2, 439-479.
- [13] D. Chen, Z. Zhang, W. Zhao, Fujita-Kato theorem for the 3-D inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations, *J. Differential Equations*, **261** (2016), no. 1, 738-761.
- [14] N. Chikami, R. Danchin, On the well-posedness of the full compressible Navier-Stokes system in critical Besov spaces, *J. Differential Equations*, **258** (2015), no. 10, 3435-3467.
- [15] R. Danchin, Local theory in critical spaces for compressible viscous and heat-conductive gases, *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, **26** (2001), no. 7-8, 1183-1233.
- [16] R. Danchin, Density-dependent incompressible viscous fluids in critical spaces, *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A*, **133** (2003), no. 6, 1311-1334.
- [17] R. Danchin, A Lagrangian approach for the compressible Navier-Stokes equations, *Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble)*, **64** (2014), no. 2, 753-791.
- [18] R. Danchin, M. Hieber, P. B. Mucha, P. Tolksdorf, Free boundary problems via Da Prato-Grisvard theory, arXiv:2011.07918.
- [19] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, A critical functional framework for the inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations in the half-space, *J. Funct. Anal.* **256** (2009), no. 3, 881-927.
- [20] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, A Lagrangian approach for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations with variable density, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **65** (2012), no. 10, 1458-1480.

- [21] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, Incompressible flows with piecewise constant density, *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **207** (2013), no. 3, 991-1023.
- [22] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, Critical functional framework and maximal regularity in action on systems of incompressible flows, *Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.)* no. 143 (2015), vi+151 pp.
- [23] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, The incompressible Navier-Stokes equations in vacuum, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **72** (2019), no. 7, 1351-1385.
- [24] R. Danchin, P. B. Mucha, P. Tolksdorf, Lorentz spaces in action on pressure-less systems arising from models of collective behavior, *J. Evol. Equ.* (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00028-021-00668-4
- [25] G. Da Prato, P. Grisvard, Sommes d'opérateurs linéaires et équations différentielles opérationnelles, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* **54** (1975), no. 3, 305-387.
- [26] E. B. Davies, Explicit constants for Gaussian upper bounds on heat kernels, *Amer. J. Math.* **109** (1987), no. 2, 319-333.
- [27] E. B. Davies, Uniformly elliptic operators with measurable coefficients, *J. Funct. Anal.* **132** (1995), no. 1, 141-169.
- [28] R. Denk, M. Hieber, J. Prüss, *R*-boundedness, Fourier multipliers and problems of elliptic and parabolic type, *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.* **166** (2003), no. 788, viii+144 pp.
- [29] B. Desjardins, Global existence results for the incompressible density-dependent Navier-Stokes equations in the whole space, *Differential Integral Equations*, **10** (1997), no. 3, 587-598.
- [30] G. Dore, A. Venni, On the closedness of the sum of two closed operators, *Math. Z.* **196** (1987), no. 2, 189-201.

- [31] X. T. Duong, E. M. Ouhabaz, Complex multiplicative perturbations of elliptic operators: heat kernel bounds and holomorphic functional calculus, *Differential Integral Equations*, **12** (1999), no. 3, 395-418.
- [32] K.-J. Engel, R. Nagel, *One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations*, Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 194. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2000.
- [33] I. Gallagher, D. Iftimie, F. Planchon, Non-explosion en temps grand et stabilité de solutions globales des équations de Navier-Stokes, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 334 (2002), no. 4, 289-292.
- [34] I. Gallagher, D. Iftimie, F. Planchon, Asymptotics and stability for global solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations, *Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble)*, **53** (2003), no. 5, 1387-1424.
- [35] Y. Giga, H. Sohr, Abstract  $L^p$  estimates for the Cauchy problem with applications to the Navier-Stokes equations in exterior domains, *J. Funct. Anal.*, **102** (1991), no. 1, 72-94.
- [36] A. Grigor'yan, L. Liu, Heat kernel and Lipschitz-Besov spaces, *Forum Math.* **27** (2015), no. 6, 3567-3613.
- [37] J. Huang, M. Paicu, P. Zhang, Global well-posedness of incompressible inhomogeneous fluid systems with bounded density or non-Lipschitz velocity, *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **209** (2013), no. 2, 631-682.
- [38] X. Huang, J. Li, Global classical and weak solutions to the three-dimensional full compressible Navier-Stokes system with vacuum and large oscillations, *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **227** (2018), no. 3, 995-1059.
- [39] R. Jiang, F. Lin, Riesz transform under perturbations via heat kernel regularity, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* **133** (2020), no. 9, 39-65.
- [40] A. V. Kažihov, Solvability of the initial-boundary value problem for the equations of the motion of an inhomogeneous viscous incompressible fluid, *Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR*, 216 (1974), 1008-1010.

- [41] O. A. Ladyženskaja, V. A. Solonnikov, The unique solvability of an initial-boundary value problem for viscous incompressible inhomogeneous fluids, *Zap. Naučn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI)* **52** (1975), 52-109, 218-219.
- [42] J. Li, Global small solutions of heat conductive compressible Navier-Stokes equations with vacuum: smallness on scaling invariant quantity, *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* **237** (2020), no. 2, 899-919.
- [43] P.-L. Lions, *Mathematical topics in fluid mechanics. Vol. 1. Incompressible models*, Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, 3. Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1996.
- [44] P.-L. Lions, *Mathematical topics in fluid mechanics. Vol. 2. Compressible models*, Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, 10. Oxford Science Publications. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- [45] A. Matsumura, T. Nishida, The initial value problem for the equations of motion of viscous and heat-conductive gases, *J. Math. Kyoto Univ.* **20** (1980), no. 1, 67-104.
- [46] A. McIntosh, A. Nahmod, Heat kernel estimates and functional calculi of  $-b\Delta$ , *Math. Scand.* **87** (2000), no. 2, 287-319.
- [47] E.-M. Ouhabaz, Gaussian estimates and holomorphy of semigroups, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* **123** (1995), no. 5, 1465-1474.
- [48] M. Paicu, P. Zhang, Z. Zhang, Global unique solvability of inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations with bounded density, *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, **38** (2013), no. 7, 1208-1234.
- [49] A. Pazy, Semigroups of linear operators and applications to partial differential equations, Applied Mathematical Sciences, 44. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1983.
- [50] M. Perepelitsa, Model problem for the motion of a compressible, viscous flow with the no-slip boundary condition, *Z. Angew. Math. Phys.* **61** (2010), no. 2, 267-276.

- [51] J. Prüss, Maximal regularity for evolution equations in  $L_p$ -spaces, *Conf. Semin. Mat. Univ. Bari* no. 285 (2002), 1-39 (2003).
- [52] M.-H. Ri, R. Farwig, Maximal  $L^1$ -regularity of generators for bounded analytic semi-groups in Banach spaces, arXiv:2004.12620.
- [53] J. Simon, Nonhomogeneous viscous incompressible fluids: existence of velocity, density, and pressure, *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* **21** (1990), no. 5, 1093-1117.
- [54] V. A. Solonnikov, On a nonstationary motion of an isolated mass of a viscous incompressible fluid (in Russian), *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.* **51** (1987), no. 5, 1065-1087; *translation in Math. USSR-Izv.* **31** (1988), no. 2, 381-405.
- [55] H. Triebel, *Theory of function spaces*, Monographs in Mathematics, 78. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1983. 284 pp.
- [56] H. Xu, Maximal  $L^1$  regularity for solutions to inhomogeneous incompressible Navier-Stokes equations, arXiv:2103.11513.
- [57] H. Xu, Gaussian bounds of fundamental matrix and maximal  $L^1$  regularity for Lamé system with rough coefficients, arXiv:2104.12251.
- [58] X. Zhai, Z. Yin, Global well-posedness for the 3D incompressible inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes equations and MHD equations, *J. Differential Equations* **262** (2017), no. 3, 1359-1412.
- [59] P. Zhang, Global Fujita-Kato solution of 3-D inhomogeneous incompressible Navier-Stokes system, *Adv. Math.* **363** (2020), 107007, 43 pp.